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EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

1.1 Introduction

This is the final report for Delivery Order 9 under Coopers & Lybrand Indefinite Quantity
Contract EUR-0014-C-00-1058-00.

Section 1, the executive summary, provides an overview of the work undertaken, including a
brief description of the objectives of the delivery order. A note on the current status of
privatization in Latvia and recommendations on possible further assistance conclude this section.
Section 2 provides a more detailed description of the work undertaken in the dairy sector and
a compilation of the major papers and reports prepared during the reporting period. Section 3
provides a similar description of work and a compilation of papers for the grain sector. Section
4 contains a miscellaneous paper on privatization in Latvia, and section 5 consists of the AID
monthly reports.

1.2 Overview

The agro-industry privatization project under Delivery Order 9 build on the work completed
under Delivery Order 4. Assistance to the Ministry of Agriculture under the earlier delivery
order involved advising on developing economic policies and privatization legislation. The
objectives of the new delivery order were to select enterprises and provide intensive technical
assistance to prepare the plants for privatization. Originally, assistance was to be provided in
conducting sectoral analyses and selecting two to four pilot enterprises in four sectors: meat,
dairy, grain and agricultural services. In light of the passage of legislation for the privatization
of dairy processing plants and the high priority placed on the restructuring and privatization of
the grain industry, the government of Latvia requested that the team double its efforts in the
dairy and grain sectors and postpone work on the meat and services industries. By the end of
the project the team had advised the government on developing its privatization strategies and
enabling legislation and provided intensive technical assistance to three dairy processing plants
and eight bakeries.

Changes to the original workplan reflecting increased levels of effort in the dairy and grain
industries were authorized by USAID. Because privatization legislation in the grain industry was
limited to the privatization of bakeries, this subsector of the grain industry was defined as the

target for assistance under this project.

A general analysis of the dairy industry was conducted by the team under delivery order no. 4.
Under Delivery Order 9, a dairy industry specialist surveyed a short list of ten dairy plants,
including five central plants and five smaller satellite plants, and ranked them in order of
suitability for privatization. Accounting assistance was provided to both the large and small
plants and the team worked with the economists responsible for drafting the legislation enabling
the privatization of these plants during the first stages of the project in the Fall of 1992. During




this period, informal accounting training was given to some forty dairy processing plant
accountants using the pilot privatization plants as models. A system was developed to assist the
accountants in transforming their reporting practices from the Soviet system to the new Latvian
accounting system.

The dairy processing industry privatization law eventually passed in January, 1993 provided a
detailed timetable for the privatization of dairy plants throughout 1993. The first stage involved
the privatization of the smaller satellite plants. The privatization of the larger plants would only
begin in earnest during the late summer and fall of 1993. For this reason, the team focused on
the privatization of two of the best satellite plants, Tukums and Priekule, suggested by the dairy
industry specialist. At the Ministry’s request, the team also provided legal and financial
assistance to the Bauska dairy plant which had been granted a special quasi-private status in 1991
by the government but had difficulty in conforming with the rew privatization legislation. The
assistance to the plants included transforming the accounts at the plants from the Soviet system
to one based on EC standards, writing business plans, ensuring that procedures followed by the
dairy producer’s cooperative assumning ownership of the plant followed the procedures set out
by the law and conducting environmental assessments. In the case of the Bauska plant, where
foreign investors had expressed interest, assistance was provided in doing a valuvation of the

enterprise.

The priority the government accorded to restructuring and privatizing the grain industry was a
result of a political decision to liquidate the state-owned grain concern Latvijas Labjba. The
management of the monopolistic enterprise was accused of profiteering by raising bread prices.
The decision to liquidate Latvijas Labiba on January 1, 1993 left the grain elevators, miils, feed
mixing plants and bakeries without supervision. In response to these developments, the team
provided assistance in developing a privatization strategy for the grain industry. A grain
specialist joined the team to assess the state of the grain industry and to prepare
recommendations on the privatization of the industry.

Further work in the grain sector focused on bakeries, because the Government’s priorities
provided for only the bakery subsector of the industry to begin to be privatized within the
timeframe of the project. The government had decided to pass a separate law covering the
privatization of bakeries based on the meat processing plant privatization legislation passed in
May, 1993. The law was based on the meat processing plant privatization legislation passed a
few weeks earlier. The team transformed the accounts of eight bakeries, identified potential
legal issues facing each plant with respect to the privatization process, and analyzed privatization
proposals the government was evaluating. A bakery industry specialist joined the team to assist
in preparing a brief offering memorandum on each of the bakeries. A privatization plan was
also prepared.

By the end of the project, 76 of 156 state-owned dairy processing plants had been privatized.
Fifteen of the larger dairy plants are in the process of being privatized; two of these, Liepaja
and Valmiera, have issued shares and are in the process of being transformed into privately-
owned joint stock companies. Four of the bakeries worked on by the team, Baltmaiznieks,
Abra, Jelgava and Druva, are in the process of being privatized, with remaining four bakeries
to be privatized soon thereafter.




1.3 Current Status of Privatization

The government of Latvia started privatizing larger enterprises in 1992. Some 500 enterprises
were included on a list published by the government. These enterprises are to be sold by
various methods, including local or hard currency, open tender, lease to own arrangements, or
in most cases, allocating shares to Latvian citizens who have been granted privatization

vouchers. :

Although the privatization of these enterprises has begun, it has proved to be a slow and
cumbersome process. This has been caused by both claims on state assets resulting from the
restitution process and a lack of legislation defining the responsibilities of ministries and
privatization commissions when enterprises are sold. Also the government does not have the
technical or financial resources to restructure enterprises to make them more attractive to buyers
prior to sale, or to properly market the enterprises to the investment community. The sales that
have occurred have therefore generally not been via an open and fair tender process.

Separate specific legislation has been passed covering the privatization of enterprises in the
dairy, meat, and grain processing industries. These laws usually provide for a significant
portion of the shares to go to farmers or farmer cooperatives. These groups are generally poorly
organized and do not have the technical, marketing, and financial skills necessary to make the
privatized companies viable in the longer term. Moreover, the legislation normally provides for
the enterprises to be sold at a specified price, thereby limiting the ability of the government to
obtain the best terms and conditions for the assets they are selling.

In response to these problems, the newly elected government has passed legislation providing
for the establishment of a central Privatization Agency and a State Property Fund. The State
Property Fund has been commissioned to manage state-owned assets and will give the
Privatization Agency state-owned enterprises to sell by means of a tender process. Although
these institutions have been formally established, the fund has only recently begun identifying
the assets of enterprises and the Privatization Agency is to become functional only in Spring or
Summer of 1994. In the meantime, individual ministries are endeavoring to continue the
privatization process, usually in a passive way, reviewing proposals received rather than actively
seeking out investors.




1.4 Opportunities for Further Assistance

The Central Privatization Agency

Although the Central Privatization Agency has been established by law, it has yet to acquire staff
and develop operating procedures. There is almost certainly going to be a shortage of suitably

qualified and experienced staff to manage the agency. Assistance could be provided with
staffing the agency and developing operating procedures.

Grain Sector

The EC will be providing assistance with the privatization of the grain sector. However, there
is still an opportunity to provide assistance to Labiba Birojs, the agency that has the mandate to
regulate the grain industry. This assistance could cover the development of an appropriate grain
grading system, statistic collection services, and crop forecasting services.

Accounting Training

Latvia has recently adopted Western style accounting standards; however, few Latvian
accountants are familiar with them. Assistance could be provided with training accountants.
In the short-term, this could be done through special training courses. Longer term assistance
could focus on helping universities develop suitable courses.

Capital Market Development

Latvia has only very rudimentary capital markets. The banking sector is developing quickly,
but some necessary regulatory legislation has stiil not been developed. As of now, there is no
stock or bond market. Assistance could be provided to complete the development of legislation
covering the banking sector, and to develop legislation to allow for the development and
regulation of stock and bond markets. The development of commodity markets could also be

considered.
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THE DAIRY SECTOR
OVERVIEW OF ACTIVITIES

Under Delivery Order 9, work in the dairy sector began in August 1992. The project team
included Conrad Fritsch, financial planner, and Nils Melngailis, economist. As a result of the
Delivery Order 4 sector screening project, it was decided that privatization work on the dairy
sector should be the first task under the new delivery order. The decision was based on a
request from the Government of Latvia (GOL) and the likelihood that legislation enabling
privatization in the dairy sector would be developed first.

Under this Delivery Order, approximately 35 dairy processing plants were surveyed. The
survey included assessments of past and current performances, financial position, management
quality, and future viability. The results showed

many plants had lost their former markets in Russia;

purchasing power and demand in the local market had declined;
management had difficulty in negotiating prices with farmers for milk;
plants needed investment in new machinery.

As a result of the loss of markets, all processing plants were heavily indebted to farmers. Many
managers also had difficulty coping with their new role as "marketers" as opposed to simply
fuifilling centrally planned production quotas. The results of the work are detailed in section
2.2.

Of the 35 plants visited, Joe Kagan, the dairy specialist, chose ten for further analysis and then
ranked the plants in order of suitability for pilot privatization. Because the industry is divided
into two broad categories - large central plants and smaller satellite plants, the dairy specialist
visited five of each category to evaluate the technical capacities and operations of each. Tukums
was chosen as the best satellite plant and Valmiera as the large plant most suitable for
privatization. The results of this study can be found in section 2.2.

While the sector screening proceeded throughout the fall of 1992, the team also provided
assistance to the government of Latvia in developing the necessary legislation for privatization
of dairy processing plants (section 2.3 and 2.4). The Latvian Parliament adopted a law
providing for a two-stage process in which smaller dairy plants would be privatized in the first
stage during the spring of 1993. The team developed an implementation plan to ease the
privatization process for plant managers and dairy producers cooperatives (section 2.4). In
addition, Benita Pulins, CPA joint the team to help the plants restate their financial statements
in accordance with the new Latvian accounting law based on the fourth directive of the EC.
Assistance was provided to the central plant in Valmiera and its eleven satellites.

Given the timeframe, the dairy specialist’s recommendations, and requests from the GOL, the
team decided to concentrate its efforts on assisting with the privatization of three large and
relatively viable satellite plants. Consequently, intensive technical assistance was provided to




the diary processing plants in Bauska, Tukums, and Priekule. Bruce Carrie, financial planner
and privatization specialist, joined the team in January 1993, along with attorney Raymond
Slaidins. Legal analyses were completed on the three plants in an effort to ease any legal
constraints on privatization.

The legal work included assistance in developing cooperative charters and in complying with the
provisions in the privatization legislation. In the case of the Bauska plant, where foreign
investors had expressed an interest, a valuation of the plant was performed. For Tukums and
Prickule, business plans were written to facilitate their viability after privatization. Laura
Krastins, accountant and Ken Eisen, financial planner and valuation specialist, joined the team
to assist in completing these tasks. To assist the managers in making investment decisions,
cnvironmental assessments of the plants were performed by Jack Faulk. The reports are
included in sections 2.5-2.7.
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SECTION 1
EXECUTIVE SUMMARY AND RECOMMENDATIONS

Joseph Kagan'

A. Study Purpose and Objective

Pilot privatization of one or two Latvian dairy processing plants is a major objective
of the Coopers and Lybrand/Chemonics Agribusiness Privatization Project. Privatization
involves transferring the assets and management of a business enterprise from the public to
the private sector.

The objective of the current analysis is to select one central and one regional/local
plant for consideration by the Ministry of Agriculture and by USAID and Project
management officials as candidates for the targeted pilot privatization. The consultant was
engaged by Project officials to rank order nine plants that were shortlisted by Project
technical staff for selection as models for privatization. He was on-site in Latvia from
September 17, 1992 through October 4, 1992 and made field visits to all nine plants. The
purpose of the visits was to subjectively analyze the plants and recominend which ones
should be selected to be privatized first. Plants were ranked on their perceived capability to
perform effectively as private sector enterprises.

During the actual privatization process the Coopers and Lybrand/Chemonics team will
provide technical assistance to: 1) conduct a formal business review of the plant(s) selected
for model privatization, 2) convert existing accounting systems to a western model, 3)

introduce and conduct market based asset valuation techniques, 4) prepare a business plan,

and 5) prepare documents necessary to implement asset transfer. Latvian technicians will be

trained by Project staff in all of these activities.

' Former President, Dannon Milk Products Inc. and currently President, Dinast Associates, Management
Consultants




B. Findings and Conclusions

The dairy industry is very important to the economy of Latvia. Before independence
from the Soviet Union in 1991 it was the country’s major agricultural export industry. At
that time, up to forty percent of the Latvian production of dairy products was exported to the
various republics making up the Soviet Union.

In September 1992, the dairy industry still remains important to the Latvian economy.
Latvia has a population of about 2.8 million people and has about 500,000 dairy cows. This
works out to be about one dairy cow for every 5.6 individuals.

The cow population and associated milk production has declined since the peak
production years of the late 1980s. The rate of decline in cow numbers has increased since
1991 because of three factors. First, the breakup of collective and state farms into smaller
private farms resulted in forced sales of dairy cattle for slaughter. Second, an incurable viral
disease (found mostly on former collective farms) is causing the forced slaughter of many
dairy cattle. Third, a severe summer drought in 1992 reduced feed grain yields and will
force additional reductions in dairy cow numbers in the coming winter. Even though the
cow population is declining, the current number of cows still produces more milk and milk
products than can be consumed by the domestic population.

Nearly all dairy processing plants are state owned. Government has targeted more
than 150 local, regional and central plants for eventual privatization. Under existing
legislation farmers, organized into producers associations, are to receive the majority of
assets of these dairy processing plants through the privatization process. Local and smaller
regional plants may be owned directly by these producer cooperatives. Larger regional and
central plants are likely to be reorganized into joint stock companies with producers
associations, employees and other domestic investors receiving the majority of asset shares.
Producer associations and employees may be able to purchase shares at a discount from par
value.

The cost structure facing Latvian dairy processing plants differs considerably from the

typical cost structure in the United States. For enterprises contacted, the cost of raw milk

purchased from farmers accounts for 85 to 92 percent of total processing costs. Labor costs




range from 1.5 to 3 percent. In the U.S., raw milk usually accounts for less than half of

total processing costs with labor costs making up from 15 to 20 percent.

To summarize, the Latvian dairy industry is faced with the following problems:
declining production of milk;
declining markets in which to sell dairy products;
high cost of fexd needed to produce milk;

lack of purchasing power in Latvia leading to a drop in consumption;

lack of cash flow -- no working capital;

lack of capital to develop new products and new packaging and to acquire new
technology.

Recommendations

The smaller regional/local processing plants are recommended for privatization in the

following order:
1.

2.
3.
4

Tukums
Priekule
Talsi

Kalsnava

Tukums is recommended as the first choice because management staff and employees

are judged to be highly capable of carrying out a privatization plan. It’s product line,

namely fluid milk, kefir, sour cream and cottage cheese are consumer oriented. These

products have future profitable growth potential. The plant is located near Riga which is a

large potential market for its products. Its location also makes it accessible for supervising

during the pilot privatization plan stage.

In the group of large (central) plants the following privatization ranking is

recommended:

1.

Valmiera
Rezekne
Aizpute




Preili

Cesvaine

Valmiera was selected because it has a good management team, the plant is
technically well equipped, and it produces a variety of products for which there is good
domestic and potential foreign demand.

An additional consideration for selecting Valmiera as a pilot privatization site is that it
also has a geographically central location. This is important as the pilot plant(s) will also be
used to provide training to Latvian technicians.

Based on the economic criteria used to rank order the plants, either of the first two
plants in each group would probably provide a suitable pilot privatization project.

Regardless of the plants finally selected for pilot privatization it is, in the opinion of
the consultant, important to carefully supervise the implementation of the pilot plant business

plan in addition to the training to be provided during the technical restructuring activities.

Privatization involves new ways of managing and assessing business performance. The

majority of assets transferred during the planned privatizations will be to rural Latvians. At
best, most have only limited experience operating in a market driven economy. As a result,
follow-up business management technical assistance may still be required for some time after

assets are actually transferred to the new owners.




SECTION 11

METHODOLOGY

The Coopers and Lybrand/Chemonics country team shortlisted nine dairy processing
sites for further analysis by the consultant. For the regional/local plant the primary
selection criteria was the potential to survive and grow as a private sector plant under
economic conditions now existing in Latvia. For the central plant, the potential for utilizing
foreign investment was a second selection criteria.

A subjective, rapid appraisal survey technique was adopted using the questionnaire
included as Appendix D of this report. Judgements made by the consultant using the
questionnaire were supplemented by additional discussion of other issues of importance to
plant managers, other employees, government officials and farmers with whom interviews
were held. Recommendations made by the consultant are based on over 40 years of
experience as a manager and President of a major U.S. specialized dairy processing
company.

Each shortlisted plant was evaluated on: 1) availability of a guaranteed source of milk
supply from farmers, 2) existence of producer cooperatives with interest and ability to
assume asset ownership and work constructively with plant managers, 3) effectiveness of
plant management and non management staff, 4) amount and efficiency of plant equipment,
5) type, quality and quantity of products produced, 6) overall efficiency of plant operations,

and 7) current and future domestic and foreign demand for products produced.



SECTION I

INDIVIDUAL PLANT EVALUATIONS

Central Processing Plants

1. Aizpute

This is a large dairy manufacturing plant devoted mainly to the manufacture of milk
powder and butter. The milk powder is made from both whole milk and skim milk.

The plant director, Laimonis Zarins, has an engineering background. He has been
director since the plant opened in 1974. He is very energetic and knowledgeable.

Plant equipment looks good. The two driers were made in Czechoslovakia and the
continucus butter churn was made in the former GDR.

Production figures are available in Appendices A and B1. A brochure showing some
photos of the plant is in Appendix El.

The plant makes powdered ice cream mix which is used to make ice cream for Penguin
stores in Riga. Thz plant has equipment on hand that will be installed soon to make casein.

Mr. Zarins said that the quantity of milk received at the plant depends on the price paid
to producers. The recent price increases to farmers brought a "flood" of milk to the plant from
the former collective farms.

Aizpute sells milk powder for about US$.54 per pound. This is very low compared to
prevailing world price levels.

The Ministry of Agriculture considers this to be a strategic plant as it can sell it’s milk

powder for hard currency. It also has production capacity to handle surplus milk and cream

from other plants. Milk received from farmers is highest in August and drops to less than half
that amount in January.

Mr. Zarins believes that privatization can be successful if carried out the way it is now
being done in Germany. With successful privatization he believes that the work attitudes of

employees will improve along with product quality.




2. Cesvaine Butter and Cheese Making Factory

This plant collects most of its milk from private and former collective farms in the
Madona region. It produces several varieties of butter, a variety of cheese called Holland, and a
large quantity of dried whey.

Butter is packaged in 200gr packages and in boxes containing 20kgs. Holland cheese is
ripened and packaged in film bags containing 5 to 15 kgs.

The plant has a condensing unit to concentrate the whey and two drum driers for drying.
Dried whey is packed in 30 kg bags and is sold in Latvia.

Productien figures for the plant are available in Appendices A and B2. A brochure
published by the plant in 1988 describing the activities of the plant is available as Appendix E2.

The plant seems to be well managed and well equipped to process the milk that it
receives. This is a plant well skilled in receiving and processing all the milk it receives into
excellent dairy products. Moreover, the plant is located in a good area for the production of
milk and its volume of milk has declined less than in other areas.

The production manager was impressive with her knowledge of the business. The
director was not present during the visit to the plant.

The feeling in this plant is that privatization should be based on economic principles.
They expect privatization to help but do not know how it will work.

Privatization, which involves removal of an organization from public ownership, will help

here only if a strong marketing group can be established to help sell, at a profit, the products

produced. The task is to change 50 years of a planned economy to that of a market driven

economy.

3. Preili Cheese Making Plant

This plant collects most of its milk from private and former collective farms within a 50
kilometer radius of Preili and produces cheddar cheese, butter, kefir, and lactose as it’s principal
products.

Production figures for this plant are provided in Appendix A and B3. The equipment is
relatively modemn. For cheddar cheese "state of the art" equipment bought from the United
States in 1986 is used.




The plant has a small hog farm. Hogs are fed with waste dairy products supplemented
with dry mixed grain products. Flowers and vegetables are also grown in a greenhouse. There
is a well stocked leisure reading library for the employees. An American and Latvian energy
review team recently completed a survey of energy use of the plant and made several
recommendations of ways to use energy more efficiently.

The director, Victor Solovyov, secms to be very capable. He understands that the piant
must become more market oriented and less production oriented. He is looking forward to
developing new markets in Eastern Europe and new products like processed cheese. He has
good relations with his producers. Producer prices paid for raw milk products are set at meeting

held twice a month. Participants at these meeting include farmer representatives, a

representative from district government and the plant director or his representative.

Mr. Solovyov also reported that the community needs better roads and better cooling
equipment is needed on farms. His plant also needs more detergents for cleaning equipment.
He believes that privatization is the way to go, but that it must be done gradually.

The problems facing the plant are as follows:

1. declining milk supply -- off 27 percent from 1988

2. declining demand for products produced.

Efforts must be made to increase demand which will lead to an increase in supply.

When Preili becomes a free enterprise it will be able to conduct business without direct
government interference operating primarily according to the laws of supply and demand and the
use of risk capital for the purpose of making a profit. The plant manager reported that he

already enjoys considerable autonomy in managing his plant.

4. Rezekne Condensed Milk Plant

The Rezekne Condensed Milk Plant produces, in a fairly modern plant, sweetened and
plain condensed milk. These products are packaged in 3402r cans and are distributed to Latvia,
Estonia, Cuba, Russia, Holland, and other countries of the former Soviet Union. Condensed

milk exported to Holland is also reexported to Asia including Bangladesh a:.d possibly India.




Milk received in this plant has declined greatly over the past few years as can be seen in
Appendix Table B.4. Appendix table A compares 1991 production with that of other plants
included on the survey. A map of the production area served by the Rezekne plant is included
in Appendix E3.

Labor costs are very low, accounting for only 3 percent of the total cost. Sugar for the
sweetened condensed milk has been available, in the past, from Cuba. A recent shipment of
sugar was received for milk exported to Cuba last February,

In addition to processing milk, the plant operates a metal can producing facility to make
the 340gr cans used to package the product.

The director, Peter Upnieks, is a very energetic man. He believes that privatization is the
only way to 2o and that it will provide healthy competition.

Competition produces rivalry in the market place. Goods and services will be bought
from those who, in tl : view of the buyers, provide "the most for the money". Competition will
tend to reward the more efficient producers and so lead the economy toward the efficient use of
resources.

The director sees that the future is in developing new products, new markets and new
technology.

Condensed milk is less of a commodity than is butter and cheese and it does not require
refrigerated storage. It lends
itself better to marketing opportunities in more parts of the world than does butter and cheese.

In 1930, Latvian Butter was exported in great quantities to other parts of Europe. It
enjoyed a very high reputation for quality. The marketing of Latvian condensed milk in the
1990s offers a similar opportunity.

Advertising, which is persuasive and informational and is designed to influence the

purchasing behavior and thought patterns can be useful in promoting Latvian Condensed Milk.

5. Valmiera
Of the nine plants visited this one is by far the best and most modern. The director is
Karlis Skobe, the chief economist is Janis Snikers. Both men seem to know the business well.

Production data for this plant is available in Appendices A and BS. Appendix E4 includes a
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brochure describing products made in the plant and in other plants associated with the Valmiera

plant.

The following products are made at the plant:

1. fluid milk in 1/2 liter bottles:
2.5 percent butterfat and skim milk are made. Skim milk is purchased by
consumers because it is cheaper than milk containing butterfat. Because of low
purchasing power consumers buy the cheapest products available to them.

2. Butter containing 25 percent moisture
Butter is now packaged in 200gr paper wrap. 100gr paper wrap packages will be
available soon.

3. Holland cheese:
This cheese contains 45 percent butterfat on a dry basis and 1.5 to 2 percent salt.
The cheese is packed in 4 to 5 kg film bags and ripened for 50 to 60 days.

4, Kefir:
This product contains 1 percent fat and is packaged in 1/2 liter glass bottles and 1
liter paper cartons.

5. Cottage Cheese:
This product is made with 2 percent fat and with no fat. It is packaged in 200gr
and 1/2 liter portions.

All the above products are made using relatively modem equipment. The paper carton
packaging equipment is "state of the art".

From 50 to 60 percent of the production from this plant is sold in Latvia. The balance
is sold in Russia and other republics of the former USSR. Presently surplus butter is
accumulating in cold storage warehouses because Latvian prices are above those prevailing in the
Russian market and consumers in this market have also lost purchasing power.

At the time the plant was visited (September 30) farmers had not been paid for three
weeks.

The plant director feels that privatization will improve plar:t productivity but believes that

the major problem is to develop additional markets in Latvia and in other countries.
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B.  Regional Plants

1. Kalsnava Cheese Making Plant

This is a small country type cheese making plant. It is located on a former large country
estate. About 30 people are employed and it is managed by a hard working woman with a good
knowledge of dairy product processing activities. The plant is relatively simple and the

equipment is old but serviceable. The plant also has a master cheese maker who has been

employed for many years. All marketing and financial accounts are maintained at the Cesvaine

regional plant with which Kalsnava is associated. Appendices A and B6 provide additional
production information for the plant.

The Kalsnava plant makes Kostomas cheese which contains 45 percent fat (based on dry
matter) and is ripened for 45 days. After ripening, the cheese is coated with paraffin and is then
ready for shipping to the market. The process for making Kostomas cheese was developed in
Russia. Surplus whey from the production of cheese is fed to pigs.

Currently, the plant seems to have an inventory of finished cheese that cannot be shipped
for lack of a market. Cheese production seems to have been stable for the past two years but
has increased slightly from 1988 levels. However, plant management expressed concerns that
milk deliveries during the coming winter may be much lower than in the past because of the
sharply reduced production from former collective farms.

Mr. Janis Silins was present for the plant tour and participated in the discussions with the
consultant. He is president of a new producers cooperative association which is claiming
property rights to the plant. The claim is being made in the name of the renewed producer
association which had existed in 1940 when the plant was illegally nationalized. He wants the
association to operate the plant as it did in 1940. The renewed association has 12 founding
members and expects to have some 200 additional members by October 1992. Members of the
new association are expected to own some 1000-1200 producing dairy cows.

In the opinion of the consultant, the plant can be economically successful only if it is
associated with a larger plant that can provide marketing and accounting services. Marketing
includes the processes and activities associated with promoting goods and services for sale.
Accounting is the system that provides quantitative information about the finances of the business

entity.




2, Priekule

This is a small but very compact butter and cheese plant. The director, Eriks Piesins and
the chief engineer, Janis Jakobsons both seem to be very capable. The chief economist, Anna
Kikane also seems to be very knowledgeable especially in the area of privatization. Production
figures for this plant are available in Appendices A and B7.

Plant equipment is old but serviceable. They produce Russian cheese called Krievijas.
This cheese is ripened for 60 days and contains 50 percent fat (on a dry basis). The taste is very
good. Mostly cheese is sold in the local market but about 20 percent is shipped to Russia and
Poland.

Butter produced contains 72 percent fat and has a good flavor and color. Butter is made
without adding salt or color. It is sold locally but also sent to Russia as barter for wooden
boxes.

The director estimated that 1992 milk production from farmers will decline by 20 percent
from 1991 totals. He feels that quantities available in 1993 will depend on government policies
and milk prices.

The cost of milk is the main cost component in the production of butter and cheese. The
cost of energy is also rising very rapidly. As in other plants visited, the cost of labor is a very
small (less than 2 percent of total direct costs).

The plant management believes that more technical input is required in the discussions
about dairy plant privatizations. They indicated that the April 15th decree which is the guiding
document for privatizing dairy plants is confusing and should be further reviewed. They also
believe that additional open discussions should be held on the question of privatization, and that
future documents guiding the process should be written by experienced technical professionals.
They believe that privatization has both political and economic considerations. Whenever

possible the economic ones should prevail.

3. Talsi
This is a small very old plant. Production data are included in Appendices A and B8.
Milk is received and separated into cream and skim milk. The skim milk is made into cottage

cheese and the cream is sent to the Okte plant (which is associated with the Talsi plant) for
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churning into butter. The cottage cheese is made without the addition of cream and is sold for
both human and animal consumption. Cottage cheese for human consumption is shipped out in
small milk cans and that for animal consumption is packaged in plastic bags.

Tke old plant is very crowded with equipment and a new section has been built and partly
equipped. Work is not progressing on the new building because certain parts to complete
installation are not available. Coal and wood are burmned at this plant to make hot water and
steam. A modern ice skating rink adjacent to the plant is part of the assets owned by the plant.

The plant has 400 tons of butter stored in a private cold storage warehouse. They are
looking for a market for this butter. As a result, they are short of money to pay farmers for
their milk.

The drop in consumer purchasing power has led to a drop in the sale of dairy products.
Whey from the manufacture of cottage cheese is given to farmers as feed for livestock.

The plant director, Stanislavs Marzeckis, seems to be very capable and is interested in
finding new markets for his products. He feels that government policies are not doing enough to
support agriculture and there is no confidence in the ability of the government to provide much
direction.

A cash flow problem exists here because it takes a long time to clear account transfers
between banks. Consequently, payment for products sold is delayed for up to a month or more.
Since the banking system does not allow individuals or businesses to write checks to pay their
accounts there is no easy solution to this problem. It is also present in other plants as well.

Milk received at the plant dropped 18 percent between 1988 and 1991. In addition, the
total amount received in 1992 has dropped by 23 percent from the previous year. This is due in
part to the fact that the number of cows is declining as the collective farms are breaking up.

Four creameries are included in the Talsi group. They are:

Okte - butter manufacturing

Nurmuiza - skim milk cheese

Dundaga - casein manufacturing

Talss - cottage cheese
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4, Tukums

The plant is located in the town of Tukums, which has a population of about 16,000
people. The interview was conducted with the production manager Raitis Purmalis, the
economist Astrida Grinberga and the director of commercial development Ingrida Belinska. The
plant is well laid out and has equipment that is adequate for its requirements.

Production data for the plant is available in Appendices A and B9. a small brochure
describing the plant is in Appendix ES.

The plant preduces the following products:

1. Fluid milk:

This product is packaged in 1/2 liter glass bottles and in 35 liter cans. It contains 2.5

percent butterfat and is not homogenized because of high energy costs. All is sold on the

Latvian market. Milk sales have dropped by 50 percent recently because of the high cost

of milk relative to consumers purchasing power.

2. Kefir:

This product is sold in 1/2 liter bottles and is made from 2.5 percent milk. Kefir sells at

a ratio of 1 to 3 with whole milk.

3. Cottage Cheese:

Cottage cheese is made with no butterfat and with 2 and 5 percent butterfat, It is

packaged in 200gr portions and in bulk cans.

4, Butter:

This preduct is made with 25 percent moisture and is packed in 200gr and 20 kg

packages. The plant has impressive product quality testing facilities. Some work is

needed on the waste water and sewage disposal system. Milk received at the plant in

1992 has declined about 20 percent from the previous year. About 40 percent is received
from private farmers. This percentage is growing while the percentage received from

joint stock companies is declining. Labor cost in this plant, as in others visited makes up
a small fraction of total costs -- about 3 percent. The cost of raw milk supplies makes up
about 86 percent of total costs. The managers reported that cow health in this area is not
good. However, most cow health problems are on joint stock company farms rather than

on private farms. It is felt that health problems will become less serious when more milk
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is produced by private farmers. The plant management felt that the business can improve

if new markets and new products can be created by people skilled in the area of
marketing and sales.




APPENDIX A. COMPARISON OF DAIRY PROCESSING PLANT CHARACTERISTICS, 1991

Central Plants
| Characteristic Aizpute Cesvaine*

Preifi__Rezekne Vamiera

MILK PROCESSED 36380 85153
{long fons}

CREAM PROCESSED
(fong tons)

PRODUCTS PRODUCED
(long tons)

Butter

Ice Cream

Cheese

Dry Mik Products

Whole milk Products
Lactose

Casein

Skimmed Milk
Condensed Milk

PRODUCTION CAPACITY
(fong tons)

Butter

lce Cream

Casein

Cheese

Condensed milk

Whole Milk Production
Dy Milk Products

EMPLOYLZS (number)
OPERATIONAL AREAS

Milkeries 0 0
Creameries 2 10
5

83148

77000 67150

2766

0
5
10

RLegional Plants

Kalsnava Prickule

Talsi*

Tukums*

5117

250

66757

1163

2538

1198

43281

65980

Collecting Stations )} 7
Eootnotes:

* Represents production and capacities for the entire region associated with the central plant




APPENDIX B.1 SELECTED CHARACTERISTICS FOR AIZPUTE PROCESSING PLANT*

Characteristic 1988 1988 1890 1991 % Change
1988 — 1991

MILK PROCESSED** 42082 40137 40080 36380 -13.5
(long tons)

PRODUCTS PRODUCED
(long tons)

Butter

Ice cream*™*

Cheese

Dry Milk Products

Whole Mik Products
Lactose

Casein

Skimmed Mitk
Condensed Milk

PRODUCTION CAPACITY
(long tons)

Butter

Cheese

Casein

Condensed Milk

Whole Milk Products

Dry Milk Products

EMPLOYEES (number)
OPERATIONAL AREAS
Milkeries

Creameries
[Collecting Stations 15

* Data includes production and capacities for Aizpute plant only.
** Excludes raw cream receipts
*** Change calculated from 1991




APPENDIX B.2. SELECTED CHARACTERISTICS FOR CESVAINE PROCESSING PLANT*

1988 1989 1990 1991 % Change
1988 — 1991

MILK PROCESSED 94180 95475 90238 85153 -9.6

(long tons)
PRODUCTS PRODUCED

Condensed Milk

PRODUCTION CAPACITY

Condensed Milk

Whole Mik Products
Dry Milk Products
EMPLOYEES (number)

OPERATIONAL AREAS

* Data represents production and capacities for the entire region




AIrPENDIX B.3. SELECTED CHARACTERISTICS FOR PREILI PROCESSING PLANT*

Characteristic 1988 1989 1930 1991 % Change
1988 - 1991

MILK PROCESSED 113518 117989 97661 83148 ~26.8
(fong tons)

PRODUCTS PRODUCED

(fong tons)

Butter 2945 3029 2635 2585 -12.2
Ilce cream

Cheese 5256 4691 4559 3556 -32.3
Dry Milk Products

Whole Mik Products

Lactose 892 876 784 665 -25.4
Casein

Skimmed Milk

Condensed Milk

PRODUCTION CAPACITY

(long tons)

Butter 12 12 12 12 0.0
Cheese 7.3 7.3 7.3 7.3 0.0
Casein

Condensed Milk

Whole Milk Products

Dry Milk Products 1.6 1.6 1.6 1.6 0.0

EMPLOYEES (number) 445 445 440 420 -5.6
OPERATIONAL AREAS
Milkeries

Creameries
1 Collecting Stations 7 2 2

—

| b

* Dataincludes production and capacities for central plant only




APPENDIX B.4. SELECTED CHARACTERISTICS FOR REZEKNE PROCESSING PLANT"

Characteristic 1988 1989 1980 1991 % Change
1988 — 1991

MILK PROCESSED 895800 97300 95400 77000 -19.6

(long tons)
PRODUCTS PRODUCED

(long tons)

Butter 6.2
Ice cream 164
Cheese

Dry Milk Products

Whole Mik Products

Lactose

Casein

Skimmed Milk

Condensed Milk

PRODUCTION CAPACITY
(fong tons)

Butter

Ice Cream

Cheese

Casein

Condensed Milk

Whole Milk Products

Dry Milk Products

EMPLOYEES (number)
OPERATIONAL AREAS
Milkeries

Creameries
Collecting Stations

* Dataincludes production and capacities for Rezekne central plant only




APPENDIX B.5. SELECTED CHARACTERISTICS FOR VALMIERA PROCESSING PLANT*

Characteristic 1988 1988 1990 1991 % Change
1988 — 1991

MiLK.PROCESSED 81490 80185 77350 67150 -17.6
(long:tons)

CREAM PROCESSED 4005 3149 3064 2766 -30.9
(long tons)

PRODUCTS PRODUCED

(long tons)

Butter

Ice-cream

Cheese

Dry Mitk Products

Whole Milk Products

Lactase

Casein

Skimmed Milk

Condensed Milk

PRODWCTION CAPACITY
(long tons)

Butter

Chesse

Caseih

Ceondensed Milk

Wnale Mik Products

Dsy Milk Products

EMPLOYEES (number)
OPERATIONAL AREAS
Mikeries

Creameries
Collecting Stations

* Data includes production and capacities for the central Valmiera plant only




APPENDIX B.6. SELECTED CHARACTERISTICS FOR KALSNAVA PROCESSING PLANT*

Characteristic 1988 1989 1990 1991 % Change
1988 — 1991

MILK PROCESSED 5600 5540 5300 5117 -8.6
(fong tons) :

PRODUCTS PRODUCED

(fong tons)

Butter

ice cream

Cheese o 220 218 252 250 13.6
Dry Milk Products R

Whole Mikk Products

Lactose

Casein

Skimmed Milk

Condensed Milk

PRODUCTION CAPACITY

(long tons)

Butter ¥ ~

Cheese c.4 0.4 0.4 0.4 0.0
Casein ' -
Condensed Milk
Whole Milk Products
Dry Milk Products

EMPLOYEES (number) 32 31 30 30 -6.3 B A K
OPERATIONAL AREAS 4

Milkeries
Creameries

Collecting Stations

a

* Data includes production and capacities for Kalsnava plant only




APPENDIX B.7. SELECTED CHARACTERISTICS FOR PRIEKULE PROCESSING PLANT*

Characteristic 1988 1989 1930 1991 % Change
1988 — 1991

MILK PROCESSED 78203 76641 74760 64927 -17.0
(long; tons) _

CREAM PROCESSED 1306 1382 1315 1163 -10.9
(lamg tons)

PRODUCTS PRODUCED

(ong tons)

Butter

lee:cream

Chesese

Dy Miik Products

Whale Mik Products

Lactose

Casein

Skimmed Milk

Condensed Milk

PRODUCTION CAPACITY
(ong tons)

Butter

Cheese

Casein

Cendensed Milk

Whole Milk Products

Dry; Milk Products

ERMPLOYEES (number)
OPERATIONAL AREAS
Milkeries

Creameries 1 1 1 1
Callecting Stations 15 14 13 13

* Data includes cream receipts from two plants (Saldus and Kuldiga) and
production and capacities from one creamery (Dunikas) in addition to production
and capacities at Prie.tule.




APPENDIX B.8. SELECTED CHARACTERISTICS FOR TALSI PROCESSING PLANT*

Characteristic 1988 1989 1980 1991 % Change
1988 — 1991

MILK PROCESSED** 60167 57250 56594 49281 -18.1
(long tons)

PRODUCTS PRODUCED
(long tons)

Buter

Iice cream

Cheese

Cottage cheese

Dry Milk Products

Whoie Mik Products
Lactose

Casein

Skimmed Milk
Condensed Milk

PRODUCTION CAPACITY
(long tons)

Butter

Cheese

Casein

Condensed Milk

Whole Milkk Products

Dry Mitk Products

EMPLOYEES (number)
OPERATIONAL AREAS
Milkeries

Creameries
Collecting Stations

* Dataincludes production and capacities for three creameries (Okte, Nurmuiza and
Dundaga in addition to production and capacities at the Talsi plant
** Excludes raw cream veceipts




APPENDIX B.9. SELECTED CHARACTERISTICS FOR TUKUMS PROCESSING PLANT*

Characteristic 1988 1989 1990 1991 % Change
1988 — 1991

MILK PROCESSED 80483 78274 72980 65980 -18.0
(fong tons)

PRODUCTS PRODUCED
(long tons)

Butter

Ice cream

Cheese

Dry Milk Products

Whole Mik Products
Lactose

Casein

Skimmed Milk
Condensed Milk

PRODUCTION CAPACITY
(long tons)

Butter

Cheese

Casein

Condensed Milk

Whoie Milk Products

Dry Milk Products

EMPLOYEES (number)
OPERATIONAL AREAS
Milkeries 2 2 2 2

Creameries
Collecting Stations 25 24 24 24

* * Dataincludes production and capacities for two milkeries (Jaunpils and Kandava)
in addition to production and capacities at Tukums




NAME

1. Adelman, Carol

2. Belinska, Ingrida
3. Brainich, Eric

4, Brooks, Mike

5. Davis. Robert

6. De Marcken, Baudouin
7. Fritsch, Conrad

8. Grinberga, Astrida
9. Hamilton, Gerry
10.  Jakobsons, Janis
11.  Jakobsons, Aivars
12.  Jansone, Ageta
13.  Jansone, Edite

14.  Kikane, Annra

15.  Kveps, Alvars

16.  Marchie, Gordon
17.  Marzeckis, Stanislavs
18.  Matchfried, Bob
19.  Melngailis, Nils
20.  Piesins, Eriks

21.  Purmailis, Raitis
22.  Sesks, Martins

23.  Silins, Janis

24.  Simsons, Valdis
25.  Skobe, Karlis

26.  Snikers, Janis

27.  Solovyov, Victor
28.  Sysmanski, Damon
29.  Upnieks, Peter
30.  Zarins, Laimonis

APPENDIX C

INDIVIDUALS CONTACTED

AFFILIATION

USAID, Washington

Com. Dir., Tukums Processing Plant
VOCA, Riga

USAID, Washington

VOCA, Cabot Dairies

USAID, Riga

Agribusiness Privatization Project
Economist, Tukums Processing Plant
US State Dept., Washington

Chief Eng., Priekule Processing Plant
Dairy Specialist, Min. of Agriculture
Privatization Coordinator, MOA.
Director, LATA

Economist, Priekule Processing Plant
Dir. Dept. of Agr., Madona Region
USAID, Washington ‘
Director, Talsi Processing Plant
USAID, Washington

Agribusiness Privatization Project
Director, Priekule Processing Plant
Prod. Mgr., Tukums Processing Plant
Latvian Dairy Committee

President, Madona Producers Assoc.
Director, Vandzene Agrofirma
Director, Valmiera Processing Plant
Economist, Valmiera Processing Plant
Director, Preili Processing Plant
VOCA, cooperative development
Director, Rezekne Processing Plant
Director, Aizpute Processing Plant
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APPENDIX D
LATVIAN DAIRY PROCESSING PLANT QUESTIONNAIRE
What products do make here? and how much of each?

fluid milk

butter

cheese

ice cream

dry milk

condensed milk

casein

yogurt

kefir

other

How are they packaged?

How are they distributed?

To whom are they distributed?

Do you compete with others?

Do you have a brand name?

Do your products have any special reputation for quality? for price? for service?

What is your milk supply?
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How much milk do you receive each day?
What percentage is from private farmers?
What perceatage is from joint stock companies?

How much milk did you receive in 19917

What do you expect in 19927

In 19937

Is the quality of milk good?

Do you have an adequate supply of milk?

Is there seasonal variation in milk supply?

Do you have surplus milk at times?

Is your equipment adequate for your needs?

What can you do to lower costs?

What do you do with the milk products that are not sold? Do you take back returns?

Is your sewage disposal system adequate? Is sewage treated?

Do you have enough people to do all the jobs in the dairy? Do you have too many?

What is the work day and what is the pay?

Is the management staff efficient?

Do you have a system of quality control testing?
Are the cows healthy?

Do you reject bad milk?

Do you work seven Days a week?

Do you have adequate refrigeration?




27.

28.

31.

32.

33.

34.

35.

37.

38.

39.

Why is consumption of milk declining?

What do you pay for milk in rubles per liter?

What do you sell milk for per liter?

to stores?

to consumers?

Are there any problems with farmers?

How often does the price of milk change?

Are milk by-products like yogurt, sour cream, cheese, more or less profitable for you?
Privatization is the process of making state businesses private.
What is your opinion of privatization?

Will it benefit you?

Would you like to be private?

Could you manage it?

What are your annual sales in rubles?

What was it in 19917

What do you expect it to be in 1992?

What is your annual profit?

In 19917

Estimate for 19927

What improvements would you make under privatization?

How would you pay for them?
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Under privatization would you have:

Lower costs?

Better relations with farmers?

More or fewer employees?

Retter paid workers?

Happier workers?

Who should own the coiﬁbany under privatization?

A cooperative is an organization for the production or marketing of goods which is
jointly owned by members who share in the benefits. Farmers cooperatives may become

the new owners of Latvian dairy processing enterprises. Is this a good idea?

.. ."If you were given a free hand to do what you wish to make this business better, what
would you do?

What are the strong points of your business?

What are the weak points?




Draft: CF:4/2/93%
Topics Requiring Attention in Developing Cooperative
Charters , By-laws and Contracts

Commodity patronage commitment

The extent of expected patronage commitment from farmers
delivering agricultural commodities to a cooperative needs to be
specified in the charter. There are three main options:

a. full production
b. defined volume
c. set acreage

The competitive and/or profit position of the cooperative or
plant may be directly affected by the decision made. Formal
agreements with producers are needed.

2. Decision making roles
a. cooperative members

b. board of directors
C. plant management

Ideally this should be included in the charter. The most
important issue in Latvian dairy processing plants will be to

ensure that managers have day to day control over coperational and
staffing decisions

3. Voting rights of members organized as corporations or other
cooperatives.

The major issue is whether the cne member one vcte rule should
be modified for corporations and cooperative asscciations. If so
what rules will apply?

4. Equity redemption

Rules need to be developed regarding the amount, timing and
procedures for equity redemption in the case where a member
withdraws from cooperative membership.

5. Stock holding

Dairy cooperative members will all hold stock. Procedures for
allocating initial and additional stock are needed. Procedures for
allccating patronage earnings in addition tc or in lieu of stock
are needed. If stocks are held, official stock ownership documents
are needed.




6. Patronage retains

Dairy cooperatives will need to retain a percentage of the
vailue of milk delivered by members to provide all or a part of
gither working or long term capital needs. Procedures will have to
be developed.

7- Non-patronage income or commodity deliveries

Procedures for handling non msmber shipment of milk to a
cooperative plant or for purchase of farmer supplies will be
needed. Should conditions be neutral or should they be set to
encourage cooperative membership?

8. Handling of patronage losses

When a cooperative loses money procedures for charging losses
against patronage &ssetsS are necessary. ccounting procedures for
declaring the losses on balance sheets and/or for profit tax
purposes are needed.

9. Dissolution of the cooperative

Procedures for distributing asset claims to members,based on
patronage should ke specified.

10. Marketing agreements with producers

This relates to patronage commitments by producers.
Agreements need to be written with producers depending on the
marketing strategy of the cooperative. For most dairy cooperatives
in Latvia the cooperative will probably agree to take all the milk
from the producer and the producer must agree to send all his milk
to the cooperative. Pricing procedures need to be determined eg.
pooling or grade based approaches. Enforcement mechanisms may be
necessary tc keep farmers from switching dairies indiscriminately.

11. Membership renewal

Language is needed to provide automatic rollover of annual
membership unless action to terminate is taken.

12. Forfeiture of membership

Procedures under which members lose their rights to membership
are needed.

15. Right to amend by-laws

Procedures to amend by-laws (Charter?) are needed.




14. Entire agreement provision

language requiring that only written documents qualify as
operational agreements between producer and the dairy may be used
to forestall problems with managers or board members making verbal
agreements with producers or with each other.
15. Membership applications

Standard membership application forms are required.
16. Purchase and sale of additional assets

Under the dairy processing plant privatization law charters
must include provisions under which shares not sold at the initial

two offerings (which are retained by the state)} can be acquired by
private sector owners.

"~



Implementation of the Law on Privatizing State Dairy Processing Enterprises

Page 1

~.

Action

Elapsed Time

1. Law comes into effect

. Identify enterprises serving as
state reserve enterprises

. Prepare a list of enterprises to
be privatized

. Ensure nomination of pagast
representatives to enterprise
Privatization Commissions

. Determine asset share retained
by legal persons having received
assets prior to April 15 RLSC
Resolution

. Justify need to retain state
assets in enterprises to be

privatized

. Formation and approval of
Privatization Commission

8. Valuate unit to be privatized

Start of process

Two weeks

Two weeks

Fifteen days

One month

One month

One month

Two and a half
months

Actual Date Responsible Operational

o Agent Clause
Feb 1, 1993 - RLSC
Resolution
Feb 14, 1993 Council of Article 1
Ministers
Feb 14, 1993 MOA RLSC
Resolution
Feb. 15, 1993 Pagast govt. Article 8
MOA Article 5
March 1, 1993 MOA Article 7
Article 17
March 1, 1993 MOA Article 7
March 1, 1993 MOA Article 3
Article 5
April 14 PC Article 3
Anticle 6

.Comments

Enterprises designatad as state reserves
are not subject to this law

The list should be updated regulalry

. Not less than 6 representatives are to be
‘ elected by producers or producer associations

: Refers to individuals or groups receiving assets
prior to April 15 in the enterprises affected by
this law and the April 15 resclution.

MOA appoints chairman. Other members
include manager and chief accountant of unit
being privatized, a non—~management

| representative, a local government represent—
j ative, and not less than 6 preducer represent—
{ atives. Subcommissions may be formed.

: Experts, having advisory rights, may be

' involved.
i

'g Adjusted depreciated book value of fixed

: assets plus cash flow funds. Fixed assets

- purchased prior to 1991 are expanded by a
.factor of 10; those purchased in 1991 by a

- factor of 3: others are taken at actual value.

Prepared by USAID Latvian Agribusiness Privatization Project

9/2/93




implementation of the Law on Privatizing State Dairy Processing Enterprises (continued)

Page 2

Action

" Elapsed Time

Actual Date Responsible Operational | Comments

9. Final date to establish
pagast level milk producer
associations

10. Prepare or conduct competition
to prepare privatization scheme

10aMilk producers & milk product
suppliers can purchase at least
70% of assets being privatized
in an eligible unit; employees
— — no more than 10%; others
—— no more than 20 %.

10bDiscounts from stated selling
prices are available to oroducers,
milk suppliers and employees

11. Approve privatization scheme

12. Prepare founding prospectus
for company and announce
date for "signing of assets®, eg
transfering ownership

13. Inform stakeholders of asset
shares to be assigned to each

Two months

Three months

Four months

Four and a haif
months

Four and a half
months

Agent Clause

April 1, 1993 Pagast & Article 3
Farmers Aricle 8

May 1, 1993 PC Article 6
Article 3

- - Article 17

—-— -— Article 20

June 1, 1993 MOA Article 3
Article 7

June 14, 1993 PC Article 3
Article 6

Article 21

June 14, 1993 PC Article 6

After deadline passes, cooperatives with rights
to receive free assets under the April 15
resolution lose these rights

Article 3 requires scheme to be prepared withinL
the stated time frame. Article 6 also permits
use of the time to "organize a competition" if
approval is secured from the MOA

Producers not having access to "free” assets
under the April 15 resolution can purchase
assets at 75% discount from selling price;
other praducers at 50% discount; employees
at 25% discount; others at no discount.
Buyers have up to five years to pay for assets.

MOA determines conformity of privatization
schemes with the law and informs PC about
violations

Article 3 and 6 are silent regarding asset
signing date. Article 21 indicates
announcernent occurs at the same as
preparation of the prospectus

Potential stakeholders include statf of
enterprise being privatized, pagast milk

I producer associations and others

s

o’




Implementation of the Law on Privatizing State Dairy Processing Enterprises (continued) Page 3

Action Elapsed?ﬁme Actual Date ﬁesponsible?perational Comments
Agent Clause

14. Organize asset signing and Five and a half July 14, 1993 PC Article 3 Assets allocated to a particular group (farmers,
transfer assets to new owners months (1st phase) Artticle 6 employees etc.) which are not taken in the first
Six and a halt August 14, 1993 Article 21 offering are allocated to the same group in the
months (2nd phase} second offering. Assets remaining to be sold
after the second offering are handled according
to the new company charter.

15. Prepare company charter Six months August 1, 1993 Article 3
and other documents Article 6

16. Completion date for asset Six months August 1, 1993  Not stated Atticle 1 This deadline Is activated if deadline under9 *
transfer from units subject to above is met.
provisions of April 15
resolution

17. Open bank account for capital Atticle 6
deposits and organize procedure
for payment of assets purchased

18. Call foundation meetiny of new Seven months Sept 1, 1993 pPC Article 3
cocperative (or company)

19. Register the company Not specified Article 3

20. Transfer all documents Two weeks after Not specified Article 3
Sign transfer act registration Article 4
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10.

11.

12.

STATEMENT CF LIMITING CONDITIONS

Nothing has come to our attention to cause us to believe that
the facts and data set forth in this report are not correct.

Neither Coopers & Lybrand nor any of its employees or
contractors has a financial interest in the property
appraised.

The fee for this report is not contingent upon values
reported.

No investigation of the title of the property has been made,
and owner’s claim to the property has been assumed to be
valid. No consideration has been given to 1liens or
encumbrances which may be against the property except as
specifically stated in the report.

Information furnished by others was assumed to be reliable.
No responsibility is assumed for matters of a legal nature.

This report is for the purposes stated and should not be used
for any other purpose.

Neither all nor part of the contents of this report shall be
disseminated to the public through advertising, public
relations, news, sales or any other public media without prior
approval of Coopers & Lybrand.

In the course of our analysis, we were provided with both
written and verbal information, including financial and
operating data, which we accepted as accurate without
verification.

We have used certain forecasted data supplied by management in
our valuation. We have not examined the forecasted data or
the assumptions underlying the forecasted data and do not
express an opinion or any other form of assurance on the
forecasted data and related assumptions.

The estimates of future operations herein are sclely for use
in the valuation and are not intended for use as forecasts or
projections of future operations. In addition, there will
usually be differences between estimated and actual results
because events and circumstances frequently do not occur as
expected and those differences may be material.

We have no responsibility to update this report for events and
circumstances occurring after the date of valuation.




1.0

1.1

2.0

2.1

OBJECTIVES

Purpose of Valuation

The purpose of this valuation is to determine the fair market
value of Bauska Piens ("Bauska", the "Enterprise" or
"Company"). We define fair market value as the price at which
the property would change hands between a willing buyer and a
willing seller, neither being under any compulsion to buy or
sell and both having reasonable knowledge of relevant facts

S8cope

The scope of our valuation included, but was not limited to,
consideration of:

A. The nature of the business, including its history since
organization;

B. The political and economic outlook for Latvia in general
and for the dairy industry at the date of valuation;

c. Non-operating asset values;

D. Earning capacity;

E. Dividends and dividend-paying capacity;

F. The existence or lack of intangible value;

G. Sales of the stock and the size of the block to be
valued;

Conclusion of Value

Based on our analysis, the assumptions and the methodology

described in this report, we have determined the fair market

value of Bauska to be in the range of 90 to 110 million

Latvian Rubles (LVR) with no tax holiday for the aquirer, and

100 to 120 million LVR with a two year tax holiday for the
aquirer.

COUNTRY OVERVIEW

Country Background

The Republic of Latvia is situated on the eastern shore of the
Baltic Sea, bounded by Estonia to the north, Lithuania to the
south, and Russia and Belarus to the east. Riga is the capital.




Latvia has a population of 2.7 million people, with approximately
1 million in Riga. After the Soviet Union occupied Latvia after
World War II, migration from the Soviet Union was encouraged As
a result, approx1mately 50 percent of the population is non-
Latvian, w1th Russians comprising 70 percent of the non-Latvian
total. The remainder are primarily from the Ukraine or Belarus.

For a summary of statistics on population, gross domestic product
("GDP") and industry output, see Exhibit 1.

Due to a comparatively well-developed infrastructure and skilled
work force, the Soviets established a number of relatively well
developed industries including machine building, chemlcals,
electronics, wood, and food products. Latvia became a major
exporter of meat, dalry, and fish products to the republics of the
Soviet Union.

The collapse of the Soviet Union prompted Latvia to declare
independence in September, 1991. However, due to the inefficient
economic policies implemented by the Soviets, Latvia also suffered
as evidenced by declining GDP estimated at negative 3.5 and 8.3
percent in 1990 and 1991 respectively.

2.2 Recent Economic Developments

Beginning in the late 1980s, Latvia began withdrawing subsidies and
freeing prices. As a result, subsidies to GDP dropped from a 13.7
percent in 1990 to 1.3 percent in 1991. This was accompanied by
large price increases with retail prices 1ncrea51ng approximately
172 percent in 1991, and as much as 1,000 in 1992 before levelling
off to a current rate estimated at 3 percent per month.

The reduction in inflation is partially due to tight monetary
polices. However, it has been accompanied by a real drop in GDP of
as much as 30 percent in 1992. This contraction of output was
primarily caused by the collapse of trade relations with the former
Soviet republics (imported 1nputs were down from 46.8 percent of
GDP in 1990 to 21.4 percent in 1991). Agriculture was the sector
most affected.

Latvia is currently attempting to conclude trade agreements with
Russia and the former republlcs. Such resumptlon of trade appears
crucial for the food processing sector since without such trade,
there will be a severe overcapacity of food production and
processing capacity.

o~
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3.0 THE INDUSTRY

3.1 The Agriculture Sector

The Latvian agriculture sector comprises 20 percent of GDP and 16
percent of the labor force. In 1990, Latvia exported 22 percent of
its dairy production to the Soviet Union. In return, it received
all of its fuel and agricultural machinery from the former USSR.

With the dissolution of the Soviet Union, the entire production and
distribution system was disrupted. The Latvian government’s
current policy is to restructure and privatize statz and collective
farms. Concurrently, the country is facing the challenge of
providing support services for agriculture including financing,
repair and construction, food processing and marketing.

As shown in Exhibit 2, Latvian agriculture is not as productive as
that of Western countries, although more productive than other
countries of the former Soviet Union.

Recent developments have included instituting land reforms to

enable full private ownership of land. Restitution provisions
provide for pre-1940 owners to receive previously owned parcels of
land, equivalent ones, or compensation. However, there remains

uncertainty about legal title. Successful privatization of state
owned enterprises depends on these ownership issues being promptly
resolved.

Prices have also been liberalized but not entirely freed. For
example, food processors are free to sell products to whomever they
choose and can also freely negotiate prices with suppliers.
However, for some products, they are currently subject to a profit
markup of no more than 15 percent of total production costs.

3.2 The Dairy Processing Sector

Information is generally not available on the market share of the
various entities making up the dairy industry. However, a
breakdown by share of milk purchased is provided in Exhibit 3. As
indicated, Bauska was responsible for approximately 5.35 percent of
total milk purchases in 1992. The largest purchases were made by
Valmieras, with a 19 percent share, Rezeknes, with 15.95 percent,
and Liepajas with 11.14 percent of total purchases.

Consistent with the collapse of former Soviet markets beginning in
1991, total purchases in tons decreased approximately 30 percent
between 1991 and 1992. Bauska had a similar drop of 28 percent in
milk purchases. In addition to the decreasing market, the breakup
of collective state farms also disrupted availability of milk
supplies.




4.0 COMPANY DESCRIPTION

Bauska consists of three milk products processing plants. They are
known as the Bauska dairy processing plant ("Bauska plant"), the
Iecava dairy processing plant ("Iecava"), and the Stelpe dairy
processing plant ("Stelpe"). There are approximately 330 employees
divided between the three plants and general administration.

4.1 The Bauska Plant

The Bauska plant specializes in whole milk products. Originally
constructed in 1923, it was subsequently renovated in 1967. A new
plant adjacent tc the existing plant is partially constructed.
Originally planned for additional production of cottage cheese, the
decline in demand for cottage cheese caused construction to be
suspended. Approximately 54.4 percent of milk produced in the
Bauska district is received by the Bauska plant.

4.2 The Iecava Plant

The Iecava plant specializes in soft cheese. Built in 1939, it is
in poor condition and undertakes limited production at this time.
Approximately 15.7 percent of milk from Bauska district goes to the
Iecava plant for processing.

4.3 The Stelpe Plant

The Stelpe plant specializes in butter production. It was built in
1939 and renovated in 1969. The enterprise considers this plant to
be the most efficient of the three production facilities. The
remaining 29.9 percent of milk produced in Bauska region is
acquired by this plant.

In addition, management reports that the Iecava and Bauska plants
have supplied sweet cream to Stelpe. As a result, approximately 85
percent of the milk produced in Bauska region is wused to
manufacture butter.

4.4 Organization Structure

The three plants were combined into the present structure in 1962.
Until 1987, Bauska was a state-owned enterprise. In 1987, its
assets was transferred to a collective farm or "Uzvara". However
this arrangement proved to be unsatisfactory due to dominance by
one farm.

In 1990, the dairy farmers and collection farms founded the current
Bauska as an association of dairy producers. Based on a government
decree dated May 23, 1990, the Bauska Dairy Kombinat was given by
the state to the association free of charge. 1In 1991, Bauska was
then registered as a limited liability company with 70 percent of
capital going to milk producers, 20 percent to employees, and the
remaining 10 percent to other service organizations.




Subsequent to the May 23, 1990 decree, the government reversed its
prior policy and decided it should receive compensation from the
dairy producers for assets of the enterprise in place prior to
1991. The enterprise is currently in negotiations regarding the

amount of this payment. For further discussion of this subject,
see the Valuation Theory and Methodology section 8.0 of this
report.

5.0 FINANCIAL ANALYSIS
5.1 Basis of Financial Statements

Bauska maintains its books and records according to Latvian
accounting principles. There are significant differences between
Latvian standards and either U.S. Generally Accepted Accounting
Principles ("us GAAP") or Western European Standards
("International Accounting Standards"). The primary record
prepared is a balance sheet with accompanying notes that include
limited information on gross profits, net profits, and the
allocation of those profits.

The balance sheet and income statement for Bauska, transformed into
a Western format, is provided in Exhibit 4. The notes to these
statements are appended to the statements.

The financial statements between 1990 and 1992 are not comparable
from year to year. Between 1990 and 1991, there were changes
adopted in accounting format. Between 1991 and 1992, there was a
period of hyperinflation which resulted in state enterprises
revaluing fixed assets according to revaluation coefficients
ranging from 2.0 to 5.0. A similar revaluation occurred on January
1, 1993 and was reported to require revaluation coefficients as
high as 10.0

As a result, our analysis is limited to review of 1992 financial
statements.

5.2 Balance Sheet

After restatement into a Western format, Bauska has total assets of
131 million Latvian rubles ("LVR") compared to 31 miilion LVR in
liabilities and 100 million LVR in owners’ equity. There is no
bank credit outstanding.

Balance sheet assets include 86 million in current assets and 35
million in fixed assets. While 1993 financial information is not
available, it appears that fixed asset balances will increase
substantially after application of 1993 revaluation coefficients.

5.3 Income Statement

Bauska recorded 1992 Gross Profit of 76 million LVR and a Pre-tax
Profit of 94 million LVR after inclusion of Other Income itens.




Income taxes of 361 thousand LVR are reported. However, there are
additional taxes levied against sales, payroll and other items
included in cost of goods sold.

The net profit fiqure represents 15.7 percent of net sales. This
compares with a 8.4 percent figure recorded in 1991. However, the
1992 figure appears to be overstated for several reasons. For
example, employee bonuses are paid from profits but are better
classified as expenses. In addition, the hyperinflation occurring
during the period caused a lag in cost increases thereby producing
nonrecurring inventory holding gains. In addition, because
depreciation is based on historical rather than current costs
(except for revaluations), this item does not correctly correspond
to the depreciation reserves required to provide for future
replacement of fixed assets.

The current statutory income tax rate is reported to be 35 percent.
The government is reported to be offering a 2 year tax holiday to
foreign investors acquiring a minimum 30 percent of the enterprise.
This could enhance the value of the enterprise to foreign
investors.

6.0 FUTURE PROSPECTS
6.1 Overview

Our general conclusions for Bauska’s prospects in the next several
years are as follows:

- Bauska faces considerable uncertainties in the domestic
economy during the next one to two years. The economy
has experienced a substantial decline in 1992 and the
timing and extent of any recovery is unclear. As a
result, Bauska'’s sales levels when adjusted for inflation
could remain below 1990 and 1991 levels for the next
several years.

- The disintegration of traditional state owned milk
suppliers and distributors add uncertainty to Bauska’s
prospects in domestic markets.

- Management is hoping to expand exports to former Soviet
republics. However, these republics lack hard currency
with which to pay for imported products.

- The Company’s ideas of exporting to Western Europe are
hampered by tariffs and quotas. 1In addition, most of
Bauska’s products currently do not comply with
international product and sanitation standards.




- The Company faces the entry of Western food processing
companies into Latvia and the Eastern European market.
This includes Kellogg'’s recent arrival in Latvia. Bauska
could benefit by forming an alliance with a Western
investor or manufacturer.

- Bauska must be flexible and entrepreneurial enough to
exploit new market opportunities and adapt to changing
market conditions.

In the following paragraphs, we discuss the prospects for Bauska in
its domestic market, exports to the former Soviet republics, and
also exports to Western markets.

6.2 Domestic Markets

The Company’s unit sales volume for 1993 is projected to decline
over 20 percent from 1992 levels. In particular, Bauska is
expected to experience a large decrease in tonnage of butter and
cheese shipped during 1993.

Collapse in domestic demand resulted partially from consumers
finding substitutes for the Company’s products while also
dramatically reducing consumption as they experience massive
declines in purchasing power. Due to large stockpiles of butter,
consumers have even begun buying imported products due to the fear
that the domestic product is not fresh.

Future sales and profitability from Bauska’s current business
activities in Latvia may recover and ultimately exceed prior
levels. As standards of 1living rise, consumers are 1likely to
increase both the amount and quality of food items bought.

Foreign companies are now entering Eastern European markets
including Latvia. Armed with greater financial resources and
marketing advantages than Bauska, they could undermine Bauska’s
position.

As Western firms acquire existing companies in Eastern Europe, it
will become increasingly important for enterprises like Bauska to
form strategic alliances with foreign companies. Such alliances
may include joint ventures and marketing agreements. Bauska may
also gain a long term advantage through ultimately merging or being
acquired by a Western food company.

6.3 Eastern Bloc
Bauska’s markets in Eastern Europe are experiencing radical social

and political change which could significantly affect the level and
profitability of Bauska’s future activities in these markets.

In the event Latvia successfully negotiates trade agreements with
former Soviet republics, Bauska could benefit by exporting food




products to the former Soviet Union. However, there are major
uncertainties and we do not anticipate the former Soviet republics
being a major source of revenues for Bauska during the next two to
three years.

6.4 Western Markets

Bauska may find additional markets for certain products from
Western nations such as Sweden and Finland. Reduced production by
these countries and the availability of product from Latvia could
offer opportunities to sell to such markets.

However, sales may be hampered by trade barriers and, importantly,
by quality control and sanitation standards.

Market expansion is dependant on Bauska’s improving sanitation to
international standards and mounting a substantial promotion
campaign. This requires both technical expertise and substantial
amounts of capital. For example, product packaging would need to
be greatly improved or products sold to Western companies that
package the product for their own countries.

7.0 RISK FACTORS

7.1 General Economic Factors

The performance of the Company may be affected by the performance
of the Latvian economy. The economy has not been strong in recent
years and it suffers from negative growth in GDP, a declining
standard of living and at least the threat of renewed inflation.

7.2 Problems of Transition

The transition to a more market-orientated economy may be
difficult. Managers and workers face a new and, for them, untried
environment. There will inevitably be problems of adjustment,
compounded by years of under-investment. Many businesses may not
be able to adapt to the demands of a market economy.

7.3 Currency Risk

The Lati is only partially convertible into other currencies and is
not internationally traded. While the currency has been relatively
stable in recent months, the currency could depreciate due to
inflationary policies by the government such as supporting
financially ailing enterprises or reinstating price supports.

7.4 Illiquidity of Investments

There is to date no Latvian stock exchange in operation. Although
it is the intention that the majority of large enterprises should
eventually be listed on such an exchange, there can be no guarantee




of any significant liquidity. The high degree of liquidity seen on
some Western stock exchanges may never develop.

7.5 Business Faiiures

Latvian enterprises are only beginning to be allowed to go into
liguidation due to insolvency or bankruptcy. The full effects of
this change remain to be seen.

7.6 Latvian Accounting Standards

Accounting standards and the role of accounts in Latvia are
different from those of the West. Although Latvia has now adopted
principles more clczely resembling International Accounting
Standards ("IAS") or US GAAP, there is no history of auditing
enterprises to such standards.

7.7 Enforcement of Rights

It may be difficult for the Company to obtain effective enforcement
of its rights by legal or arbitration proceedings in Latvia.

8.0 VALUATION THEORY AND METHODOLOGY

€.1 Premise of Value

Our valuation is based on the premise of fair market value. Fair
market value is defined as the amount for which property would
exchange between a willing buyer and willing seller, each having
knowledge of the company, and each acting in their own self-
interest without undue compulsion or pressure.

For purposes of this valuati m, we assume that the business will
continue operation as a going concern. This is in contrast +*o
liquidation value where it is assumed that the sum of the proceeds
from sale of assets exceeds the value of the company based on its
profitability as a going concern.

Due to current economic conditions in Latvia and a severe
overcapacity of dairy production, the demand for available property
and equipment appears limited. Moreover, the cash proceeds likely
to be realized by such sales would be limited by selling
commissions, transportation costs, and the time required to find
a suitable buyer.

Furthermore, in conducting our valuation, we determined wvalues
based both on the assumption of minority and controlling interests.
A minority interest represents an investor acquiring shares in the
enterprise (e.g. a minority interest) similar to buying shares on
the stock market, but without guarantee of liquidit; to seil tle
shares.

In comparison, a controlling interest is generally d&efined as
ownership of over 51 percent of the out.'anding voting shares. A




controlling interest is considered more valuable than a minority
interes*. This is Gue to th. acquirer’s ability to determine the
enterprise’s strategy, products, marketing, financing, compensation
and dividend policies.

In this regard, in the U.S., acquirers of food and beverage
manufacturing companies have been paying an average of 59 percent
over prior market prices of publicly traded shares of the acquired
company.

The following definitions are relevant for valuation purposes:
8.2 Definitions
1. Fair Market Value

Fair market value is defined as the amount for which
property would exchange between a willing buyer and a
willing seller, each having a knowledge of the company,
and each acting in their own self-interest without undue
compulsion or pressure.

2. Replacement Cost New

Replacement Cost New ("RCN") is the cost of construction
or acquisition at current prices of an asset having
similar utility as the property being appraised. RCN is
the upper limit of value, that is, what the property
would be worth to a prudent investor in a new and unused
condition.

3. Depreciated Replacement Cost

Depreciated Replacement Cost New ("DRC") is the cost of
replacement, less an allowance for deterioration due to
physical deterioration. This value does not explicitly
consider reductions in value due to either technological
obsolescence or economic obsolescence due to permanent
reductions in market demand.

4. Orderly Liguidation Value

Orderly Liquidation Value is defined as the amount of
cash proceeds which could be expected from a sale of the
subjzct property given a reasonable time in which to find
a purchaser and complete the transaction.

5. Forced Liguidation Value

Forced Liquidation Value represents the estimated cash

'scurce: "Controi Premiums by Industry - Trailing 12 Months’,
Houlihan, Lokey, Howark, and Zukin,3rd Quarter 1992.




proceeds which could be typically realized at a properly
advertised and conducted public auction held under forced
sale condition, under present day economic conditions.
The period allowed for the sale is generally shorter than
for orderly liquidation value, say, 60 days.

8.3 Valuation Methodology .

There are three basic approaches to valuing any enterprise. They
are the cost, market and income or discounted cash flow approaches.
The best one to use depends on a number of factors as described
below.

8.3.1 The Cost Approach

The Cost Approach is utilized through application of the Adjusted
Net Assets Method. In the Adjusted Net Assets Method, an analysis
of the fixed acsets, investments, and financial assets is conducted
to arrive at a fair market value for the total assets of the firm
as a going concern. This value is then netted against the fair
market value of all the liabilities of the firm, resulting in an
indicated net value attributable to the Enterprise’s stock. For
application of this method to Bauska, see Exhibit 5.

8.3.1.1 valuation of Current Assets

A verification and appraisal of current assets is beyond the scope
of this business valuation. We consider the cash balances on the
financial statements to be representative of their market values.

For accounts receivable, we do not have reliable information on the
aging and condition of the balances due from customers. However,
due to current economic conditions in Latvia and the problems of
the dairy industry, we deduct 10 percent of the balance of the
receivables as a reserve against possible credit losses (see
Exhibit 5).

The enterprise’s inventory is largely comprised of butter stored in
warehouses in Riga. The advantage of butter is that it can be
stored almost indefinitely if kept sufficiently cold. However, the
local market for butter is limited and consumers are reported to be
somewhat wary of the freshness of local products.

In addition, the enterprise has ' 1dicated that it is currently
selling butter for between 170 and ..0 LVR per kilogram. This is
down from a peak of 280 to 300 LVR in March, 1992. The enterprise
is now considering lowering prices to approximately 150 LVR per
kilo compared to a cost of production of about 190 LVR.
Concurrently, they plan to lower the price they will pay suppliers
for raw wmilk. As a result, certain of the enterprise’s inventory
may be unsalable or saleable at prices below carrying costs.
Therefore, we assume an additional reserve against inventory loss
equal to 20 percent of the value of inventory shown on the balance
sheet.




8.3.1.2 Valuation of Fixed Assets

Under a going concern assumption, the cost approach applicable to
valuing fixed assets is known as Depreciated Replacement Cost
("DRC"). As shown in Exhibit 6, DRC arrives at fair market value
by determining the cost of replacing the property new, then
depreciating it for physical deterioration.

Under this methodology, the original cost of each major asset is
translated into its Replacement Cost-New ("RCN"). For this
purpose, we translated the original cost of enterprise assets into
current prices utilizing consumer price indexes for Latvia as
published by the World Bank.? For more recent data, we utilized
inflation indices provided by the Statistical Commission of Latvia.

Once RCN was determined, economic 1lives for the assets were
assigned. For this purpose, we utilized ranges for asset
categories published by Marshall Valuation Services.

Based on these lives, and assuming limited residual values at the
end of the life (e.g. 8 percent and 20 percent for equipment and
buildings respectively), we assigned depreciation factors to these
major assets. Finally, the DRC for each major asset is calculated
by subtracting the depreciation from the RCN.

Note that this approach applies penalties for physical
deterioration of the property, but does not explicitly consider
such factors as technological, functional, or economic
obsolescence. For example, advances in technology may enable
replacement of an asset with one of similar utility at lower price,
or similar price but with enhanced performance.

For the subject enterprises, additional reductions in value were
necessary based on under-utilization of the assets (functional
obsolescence), and because loss of key markets (e.g. former Soviet
Union) 1limit market values of the productive assets (economic
obsolescence) .

As a result, we have deducted a total of 30 percent from the value
of fixed assets determined by the DRC approach. Fifteen percent
represents a penalty due to the poor technolo:ical condition of
much of the subject property and equipment. We have deducted an
additional 15 percent due to the under-utilization of the equipment
due to the loss of key markets. We recommend these deductions be
reviewed in light of subsequent changes in both technology and
market conditions.

As shown in Exhibit 7, the valuation of fixed assets comprised
assets totalling approximately 69 percent of original cost. For
the remaining items not reviewed, we utilized the remaining net

? Latvia: The Transition to a Market Economy, The World Bank,
Washington D.C. 1993.




book value and applied an appropriate revaluation multiple based
on the relationship between the enterprise’s average value costs
shown both before and after the 1993 revaluation. As a result, the
final value assigned to fixed assets equals approximately 60
million LVR.

Due to uncertainties with title and the limited market tc date, we
have assigned no value to the land underlying the enterprise’s
facilities. Depending on the final legal status of Bauska, this
assumption should be reviewed.

8.3.1.3 gtatus of Bauska Residences

The privatization of Bauska will probably exclude worker
residences, currently carried on the enterprise’s financial
statements. As shown on Exhibit 6, we have separated those
residential properties. However, due to their current inclusion in
the financial statements, we have included them in the valuation of
Bauska.

8.3.2 The Market Approach

The market approach estimates value by determining selling prices
of comparable properties or enterprises. A group of comparable
firms are selected and data on market price versus various
financial measures are developed.

The earnings (profits) multiple method of valuation is most
commonly used and involves applying a suitable multiple (price
earnings or "P/E" ratio) to maintainable earnings (profits).
Maintainable earnings are the post-tax profits which would occur in
the normal course of business.

Bauska is currently not projected to have a profit in 1993. Due to
this lack of current profitability as well as lack of comparable
enterprises that have been sold with market data available, this
method is not applicable.

8.3.3 The Income or Cash Flow Approach

In valuing an enterprise as a going concern, the approach most
widely accepted is generally an income or discounted cash flow
("DCF") approach. The DCF approach values the company based on
estimating future operating cash flows. These cash flows are then
discounted to a present value by applying a required rate of return
which reflects the risks applicable' to the business as well as the
availability of alternative investments.

In this instance, the required return for an investor includes
business risk, financial risk, political risk and economic risk.
The greater the degree of risk, the higher the return required by
the investor.



The forecasts of future cash flows exclude the impact of future
expected inflation. That is, projections of sales were made using
current 1993 prices. We utilized this approach due to the high
degree of uncertainty regarding future price levels.

For valuation purposes:
Debt-Free Cash Flow is defined as:
Earnings before interest and taxes ("EBIT")
- Income taxes at expected rate

Debt-free earnings

Depreciation and other non-cash charges

Additions to working capital

2dditions to plant and equipment

Debt-~free available cash flow
We add back depreciation to earnings in arriving at cash flow since
this is an accounting entry and does not involve the use of cash.
Similarly, because they represent actual cash outlays, we deduct
additional working capital and plant and equipment required to
support projected sales.
8.3.3.1 selection of Discount Rate
In selecting a discount rate, we utilized a weighted average cost
of capital ("WACC"). The WACC is divided between required returns
on debt and equity. The "real" cost of debt (without the effects
of inflation) was utilized based on "real" rates earned by U.S.
banks (approximately 5 percent) as a base rate. The "real" rate
of return was then increased due to the additional risk of the
Latvian economy. The cost of debt rate was then reduced by an

amount resulting from the deductibility of interest payments for
Latvian tax purposes.

The cost of equity was based on application of the Capital Asset
Pricing Model ("“CAPM"). CAPM is a widely accepted method for
valuing equity capital as developed at the University of Chicago.
CAPM begins with identifying the return on a risk free investment,
such as a U.S. Treasury bond. The model then incorporates the
additional return received by investors from investing in stocks in
the U.S.




Finally, an additional premium is added reflecting the higher
returns traditionally earned by investments in smaller stocks
( i.e. companies with sales less than $100 million).

To make this return consistent with our assumption of no inflation,
we deducted the expected U.S. inflation rate of approximately 4
percent.

We utilized this U.S. investment rate as a base rate for required
returns in Latvia. This is known as a Build-Up Method. This
method lists each component of risk and assigns an amount of return
to compensate for each risk component.

For Latvia, an additional return is required by an investor due to
the greater political and economic risks in Latvia. This risk
makes investment more comparable in risk of a U.S. venture capital
financing for a company with a limited track record. Comparable
companies may have experienced some commercial success, but can not
go to a conventional bank for all of their financing needs.

The higher required return in Latvia than in the U.S. also reflects
the uncertainties associated with management’s projections for
enterprises in Latvia than for projections made in the more stable
U.S. environment.

As similar firms in the U.S. would have a financial structure
including both debt and equity, the discount rate was adjusted to
reflect the fact that Bauska is currently financed 100% through
equity.

Based on the application of the above methodology, we determined a
discount rate of approximately 24 percent.

8.3.3.2 Application of Discounted Cash Flow Methodoloqy

As shown in Exhibit 8, the future available cash flow and required
rate of return are integrated via a formula that calculates the
present value of future cash flows. Specifically, we utilize a
five year forecast with a stabilized sixth year representing years
six through infinity. We estimate this latter terminal value using
an algebraic equation known as the Gordon growth model.

As presented in Exhibit 8, the resultant value represents the value
of all invested capital of the business. However, invested capital
is comprised of both owners’ equity and interest bearing debt.
Therefore, to determine the market value of the enterprise equity,
we deduct the value of the interest bearing debt.

Finally, a premium for control is added to reflecc the market value
applicable to an investor acquiring over 50 percent of the shares
of the enterprise. 1In the U.S. aquirers of food manufacturing
companies have paid an average premium of 59 percent over the
market valuaz. This is the figure that has been used in the




calculations in Exhibits 8 and 9. However, depending on the actual
investment, technical and marketing skills or other benefits that
a new owner may bring, a range of 30-60 percent would be reasonable
for Bauska. This would give a range of values of 85.5 to 105.0
million LVR with no tax holiday, and 97.0 to 119.0 million LVR with
a two year tax holiday. Note that the Cost Approach assumes an
investor has the authority to acquire or dispose of individual
assets, making it represent a controlling interest valuation.

8.3.4 Reliance on Management Proijections

In making our assessment of future cash flow, we have relied on
projections provided by management and analysis of historical
financial statements. The projections were based on the
assumptions listed in the attached exhibits.

There will generally be differences between forecasted and actual
results, because events and circumstances frequently do not occur
as expected, and those differences may be material. Therefore, we
recommend that these assumptions be reviewed on a periodic basis as
new information becomes available.

8.3.5 Allocation Between State and ILimited Liability Company

As previously discussed, a portion of the value of the Bauska
enterprise involves paying the state compensation for value of the
enterprise related to the period prior to formation of the limited
liability company in 1990.

Enterprise management has indicated that it has negotiated with
state authorities to pay 5.6 million LVR for assets purchased from
the enterprise. This is not considered to be a true market value
but rather the book value of the subject assets prior to the fixed
asset revaluations occurring in 1992 and 1993.

8.4 Comparison of Adjusted Cost and DCF Valuation Methods

Our valuation under the adjusted cost approach indicates a value of
123.8 million LVR for the entire enterprise. The DCF approach
estimates a value for Bauska in the range of 85.5 to 105.0 million
without a tax holiday, and 97.0 to 119.0 million LVR with a two
year tax holiday.

The DCF method is theoretically most sound. However, during this
transition period in the economy, there is great uncertainty about
future results of all enterprises including Bauska.

The Adjusted Cost Approach has the limitation that it does not
consider the profitability of the subject assets in use. In the
event the enterprise cannot be made profitable under a market
economy, the value of the assets would be limited to the cash
generated from asset sales. However, due to the marginal condition
of the plant and equipment, and the difficulty in transporting it




to a new location, it is unlikely there would be much value
received from sale of individual assets.

As shown in Exhibit 10, we have selected a final value range of 90
to 110 million LVR without a tax holiday and 100 to 120 million LVR
with a two year tax holiday. This is based on giving some weight
to the adjusted market value of the balance sheet method, but
predominant emphasis to the discounted cash flow approach.




EXHIBIT 1

COUNTRY DATA - LATVIA
GNP per capita in USD in 1991

General
Area (square km)
Population, 1990 mid-year (thousands)
Growth rate, 1980-90 (percent)
Density, 1990 (per square km)

Social Indicators
Population characteristics
Crude birth rate, 1990 (per 1,000))
Crude death rate, 1990 (per 1,000)
Health
Infant mortality rate, 1990 (per 1,000 live)
Life expectancy at birth, 1990

Gross Domestic Product

3410

64,600
2,670
0.6

40

14.2
13.0

10.8
70.5

Real Growth Rates
(annual % change)

Current Prices
(million rubles)

1990 1991 1990 1991

GDP at market prices 12,201.0 28,6650 -35 -8.3
Total consumption 8,226.0 16,198.0 N.A. N.A.
Private consumption 6,888.5 13,2496 N.A. N.A.
Government consumption 1,337.5 29484 N.A. N.A.
Gross domestic investment 4,057.0 9.669.5 N.A. N.A.
Fixed investment 3,337.9 N.A. N.A. N.A.
Change in stocks 719.1 N.A. - -
Net Exports -82.0 2,797.5 -- --

Output, Employment and Preductivity
GDP in 1991 Employment in 1991 GDP per worker

‘},-:/ min RUR % of total thousands % of total  rubles % of average
1 Agriculture 5,739.0 20.0) 226.6 162 23,326 123.4
Industry 13,907.0 48.5 433.6 31.0 32,073 156.3
Services 9,019.0) 1S 736.3 52.8 12,244 59.7
Total/Average  28,665.0 100.0 1,396.8 100.0 20,522 100.0

Source: Latvia: Transition to a Market Economy. The World Bank, 1993




EXHIBIT 2

Productivity Comparison, 1989

Democratic Republic

Commodity Finland Latvia USSR of Germany
Grain (quintals/ha) 29.3 23.5 19.0 44.0
Potatoes (quintals/ha) 219.0 155.0 20.0 233.6
Sugar Beet (quintals/ha) 320.3 294.0 249.0 302.3
Milk (kg/cow) 5,246.0 3,636.0 2,600.0 3,821.0
Eggs (units/hen) N.A. 219.0 N.A. 220.0
Feed conversion (pigs) 3.2 9.8 N.A. N.A.
Inputs
Labor/1(X) hectares 19 11.4 N.A. 8.2
N/ha 100.0 91.5 N.A. 141.3
P/ha 30.0 71.4 N.A. 56.4°
K/ha 56.0 1238 N.A. 94 .4

N.A. = not available
Note: N =nitrogen; P = phosphorus; K = potassium

Source: Latvia: Transition to a Market Economy, The World Bank, 1993




EXHIBIT 3

PRIVATIZATION OF BAUSKA
PERCENTAGES OF MILK PURCHASES

BY "KOMBINAT" DAIRY COOPERATIVES

{in metric tons)

% Change Tons % Tons %
Name of Enterprise 1992-1991 1991 Total 1992 Total
Riga -31.84% 122599 8.07% 83563 7.86%
Valmiera -30.21% 289334 19.05% 201927 14.00%
Liepaju -15.68% 140399 9.25% 118388 11.14%
Rézekne -36.04% 264892 17.44% 169427 15.95%
Daugavpils -40.53% 67948 4.47% 40407 3.80%
Jelgava -23.42% 146615 9.66% 112266 10.57%
Tukums -21.72% 65983 4.35% 51654 4.86%
Jekabpils -37.42% 60437 3.98% 37821 3.56%
Bauskas -28.09% 79058 5.21% 56852 5.35%
Ventspils -32.46% 28703 1.89% 19387 1.82%
Agrofinma "Koknese" -36.36% 50152 3.30% 31918 3.00%
Kraslava -34.63% 60051 3.95% 39255 3.69%
Aizpute -35.76% 36380 2.40% 23369 2.20%
Preili -30.26% 50580 3.33% 35277 3.32%
Saldus -25.94% 55363 3.65% 41001 3.86%
TOTAL -30.03% 1518494 100.00% 1062512 100.00%

Source: The Ministry of Agriculture of the Republic of Latvia




EXHIBIT 4
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AND

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

General Notes & Enterprise Specific




UNAUDITED

BAUSKA DAIRY ENTERPRISE
Balance Sheet
Balances at December 31st
(LVR in thousands)

1992 1991
ASSETS
Current Assets
Cash 22,825 989
Short term investments C 0
Accounts receivable 43,001 7,804 |
Inventory 19,852 3,192 :
Other 26 8 '
Total Current Assets 85,704 11,933
- Fixed Assets 25,149 2,367
. Assets under construction 20,169 1,698
e Other Long tr .n Assets 0 0
TOTAL ASSETS 131,022 16,058
LIABLITIES AND EQUITY
Current Liablities
Accounts payable 25,042 4,928
Other short term payables 0 0
Other 5,518 1,880
Total Current Liabilities 30,560 6,808 -
Long Term Debt 0 0 7 |
Total Liabilities 30,560 6,808 '
Equity
Capital & retained earnings 95,904 9,250
1992 Revaluation reserve 4,558 0
Total Equity 100,462 9,250
TOTAL LIABILITIES & EQUITY 131,022 16,058

The accompanying notes to the financial statements are an integral part of this document.




BAUSKAS DAIRY ENTERPRISE

) For year ended December 31st_'

Sales

Less: Turnover Tax
Net sales
Less: Cost of Goods Sold
Gross profit
Other Income

Less: Other Expenses
Net Other Income
PROFIT (LOSS)

Taxes

NET FROFIT

Income Statement

(LVR in thousands)

UNAUDITED

1992 1991
661,741 74,171
2,096 0
509,645 74,171
523,854 67,972
75791 6,199
18,688 97
104 17
18,584 80
94,375 6,279
361 33
6,246

94,014

The accompanying notes to the firancial statements are an integral part of this document.




. UNAUDITED

BAUSKA DAIRY ENTERPRISE

Balance She=t (Bilance) 31 Dec 1991 31 Dec 1992 1 Jan 1992
Line
Nos. Asseis (Aktivs)
|
010 Fixed Assets 5,586 32,776 14,272 | |
020 Intangible Assets
030 Assets under construction 1,337 17,737
035 Assets notready for use 361 2,432
046 Long termn investments
G50 Current year profit/offset £°9 or 510 6,279 94,375
065 Amounts cue from membars 86

070 Other receivables
080 Current year loss/offset 500 or 510
090 Total — check 15,649 147,320

100 Raw Materials and consumables 2,722 15,554
110 Work in progress
129 Work in progress
130 Prepaid expenses : 4 26
140 Finished goods 711 4,630
150 Finished goods
160 O’her inventory

170 Teial 3,437 20,210

171 Goods in transit | |
200 Cash on hand 101

210 Cash in bank 973 4,899

220 Hard currency accounts 17,825

230 Other bank accounts 16

240 Other bank accounts
250 Short term investments
270 Bank loan monies rec'd
300 Trade accts receivable . 6,585 42,572
310 Bills of exchange

320 Payments in advance
325 Tax overpayments rer;’ble

330 Other debtors 463 429
340 Empleoyee loans 4

350 Social welfare expenses **Cr 450

360 Other receivables 670

370 Total — check 8711 65,826
390 Total — check 25,797 233,356

The accomyanying notes to the financial statements are an integral part of this document.



L

BAUSKA DAIRY ENTERPRISE
Line
Nos. Liabilities (Pasivs)

40C Statutory fund
410 Accum depreciation

420 Depreciation consumables
430 investment financing

440 Other payables

445 Obligations to members
450 Financing reserve

460 Vaccation accrual

470 Amortization & Repairs **
480 rayments received in advance
490 Unreaiised profit on sales
500 or 510 Profit

520 Total - check

600 Short term payables
610 Medium term payables
620 Longterm payables
630 Overdue loans!

640 Short term loans

650 Long term loans

660 Total — check

700 Accts payable — goods
710 Bills of exchange

720 Payments received in advance
730 Taxes payable

735 Privatization ::xpenses
740 Social pension tax

SG Accured salaries

760 Other payables

765 Employee loans

770 Other

780 Total — check

800 Total — check

Fixed asset movement
Accumiulated Dep
Difference Net Assets
Statutory Fund movement

UNAUDITED

31 Dec 1991 31 Dec 1992 1 Jan 1992

280 280 280

3,219 7,627 7,347
241 332
1,698 0
795 4,951

7,272 100,182 11,830

33
894

6,279 94 375
20,711 207,747
0 ]
4,591 19,940
62 2,072
42 389
233 2,641
158 567
5,086 25,609
25,797 233,356

Calculation

8,686

4,128

4,558

4,558

The accompanying notes to the financial statements are an integral part of this document




BAUSKA DAIRY ENTERPRISE

Income Statement (Finansu Rezultanti)

Line
Nos.

010
020
030
040
050
060
070
071
080
090

100
101

200
210
220
221
230
240
250
260

200
210
220
230
240
250
260
270

Revenue from goods sold
Tumover tax

Sales less tax — check
Product and period costs
Profit — check

Other sades results
Non—sales operations
Investment income

Profit and loss totals

Net profit — check

Non taxable income
Value of stock sold

Use of Profits Statement 1992
(Peinas Izlietosana)

Income tax expense

To reserves

To capital funds

To the investmemt fund
To dividends

To previous year's losses
Donations

Other

Uses of profits — check

Use of Profits Statement 1991
(Pelnas lzlietosana)

Income tax expense

To reserves

Production Development
Sacial development
Employee bonus/inceniives
Donations

Other

Other

Uses of profits — check

UNAUDITED

33
413
3,938
428
672

795

6,279

The accompanying notes to the financial statements are an integral part of this document,

1992 1992 1991 1991
Revenues Costs Revenues Costs
601,741 74,171
2,096
599,645 74,171
523,854 | 67,972]
75,791 6,199
1,655 86
17,033 104 11 17
94,479 104 6,296 7
94,375 6,279
16,929 6,279
1992
361
88,415
77,915 221 is subset of 220
4,951
100
548
94375




FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SUMMARY

The financial statements of the enterprise have been reformatted
into a standard western format. The scope of this project did not
include the restatement of the accounts in accordance with
International Accounting Standards (IAS). As such, no adjustments
to management's representation of financial information have been
made. Nor has this compilation of financial information included
any audit or due diligence efforts that in any way expresses an
opinion on the financial information presented.

This effort has:

1) reformatted the enterprise's existing accounts into asset,
liability, equity, revenue and expense categories;
eliminated entries which represent double counting of
accounts;
compiled balance sheets and income statements, based on the
existing Latvian accounts and management representacions, as
of and for the year ending December 31, 1992, and, when
possible, for the year ending December 31, 1991, (the 1990
financial statements have not been included in this report);
included interviews of the enterprise's management and
accounting staff, which, along with the Latvian financial
statements, are the basis of the notes to the financial
statements for individual enterprises;
included interviews of Ministry of Agriculture personnel and
management personnel from other Latvian dairy and bakery
enterprises, which are the basis of the general notes to and
background on Latvian accounting practices and financial
statements included in this dccument; and

6) not added accounts omitted from the Latvian financial records
which represent balance sheet and income statement entries
necessary to meet IAS principles and more fairly present the
financial position of the enterprise;

The financial information presented contains many limitations and
issues which impact the content of the information, its
comparability to other enterprises and other time periods, and the
interpretative and analytical value. The major constraints and
issues impacting the enterprise's financial statements are
highlighted in the notes (general and enterprise-specific) to the
financial statements, which are considered an integral part of this
document.




NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
GENERAL

(Also See Enterprise Specific Notes)

LATVIAN ACCOUNTING PRACTICE

The following analysis sets out the basis on which the
enterprises' financial statements are prepared and highlights the
differences between Latvian and international standard accounting
practice.

The analysis has been based on interviews with the accounting staff
at the enterprises and The Ministry of Agriculture.

The laws on "Accounting" and "On Annual Reports" govern accounting
practices in Latvia as of January 1, 1993. They are based largely
on priciples set out by the Fourth Directive of the EC and the
Danish accounting law in particular.

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The preparation of financial statements in Latvia is not in
accordance with International Accounting Standards (IAS). The
fundamental accounting concepts are only partially observed:

® Going concern - all enterprises are correctly assumed to
be going concerns and are accounted for on the basis that
they will continue to trade with the current scale of
operations.

° Consistency - books and records are kept using accounts
which record the enterprise's activities and transactions
which form categories of assets and 1liabilities.

g klthough accounting policies are applied consistently
during a given year, the past three years have been
characterized by changes in government policy and
directives as to form and content of financial reporting
and accounting treatment of transactions.

In particular, the accounting formats changed between
1950 when they were prepared under the Soviet system, and
1991 when statements which were prepared under the
Latvian system. The format was changed once more in
1992, although not as significantly. No analysis is
provided in the accounts to show the effects of these
changes. The 1993 accounts and financial statements have
also changed significantly from 1992, in an effort to
more closely adapt to IAS.

L Accruals - accrual accounting was only introduced for the
year ended December, 1992. Prior to this the basis used

(\()




was similar to a double entry form of cash accounting
with some adjustments for prepayments. The changes
initiated in 1992 do not reflect a full accrual basis,
some aspects may still be considered a modified cash
basis of accounting.

o Prudence - the financial statements do not reflect a
conservative view of the affairs of the enterprise. No
provisions are made to reflect irrecoverability of debt
or other reductions in the value of assets.

The profit and loss information provided does not fully reflect the
profit or loss generated or the amount transferred to reserves.
The net profit figure does not take account of items such as
interest paid, employee bonuses, and depreciation of certain asset
categories and thus overstates the profit. Detailed expense
information, ie analyzing expense categories included in cost of
goods sold, is not included in the Latvian financial statements and
therefore excluded from the reformatted financial statements.

Many different funds and reserves are maintained for a variety of
purposes with the 1result that almost all transactions require
transfers to be made to or from reserves in a manner which is not
consistent with IAS.

As noted above, the financial statements are not comparable as a
result of changes in format, asset revaluations which have been
made, and the rapid inflation during the period.

As a result, it is difficult to assess a Latvian enterprise based
on its financial statements. The only review of books carried out
is one by tax authorities to ensure the compliance and accuracy of
tax computations.

The financial statements provide evidence that books have been R
maintained. They do not necessarily reflect a true and fair view R
of the financial position of all of the enterprise's assets and
liabilities, or that the revenue and expenses represent
maintainable earnings.

The significant divergences from international accounting practice
would make it difficult for an unqualified audit opinion to be
rendered for the periods represented, if such an audit of the
financial statements was attempted.

ACCOUNTING POLICIES

We set out below details of accounting policies for significant
classes of asset and liability.




Fixed Assets

All state enterprises revalued their fixed assets at 1 January
1992, in accordance with Government regulations. The different
categories of asset were revalued according to published
revaluation coefficients to reflect the deterioration in value
caused by high rates of inflation.

The following coefficients were generally used for classes of
assets purchased prior to 1989 for the 1 January 1992 revaluation:

Motor vehicles .
Instruments .
Machinery .
Imported Machinery .

Additional revaluations took place at 1 January 1993. The following
coefficients were determined by government regulation:

Assets purchased prior to 1990 10.0
Assets purchased during 1991 3.0
Assets purchased during 1992 -

Accumulated depreciation was adjusted in proportion to the change
in fixed asset values. The revaluation surplus was credited to the
statutory fund rather than being maintained in a separate reserve.

The method adopted for revaluations does not reflect the IAS
practice on revaluation of assets, although in some way it reflects
the change in value caused by inflation. No account is taken of
the replacement cost of the assets, of their physical condition nor
of any changes in the remaining useful life of the asset.

Depreciation

Depreciation rates are on average lower than those used in Western
Europe and the US. Many items which would be considered small
replacements or consumables are included as assets and depreciated
over 1 or 2 years. Examples of the depreciation rates used are as
follows:

Asset Asset Life Annual Rate of
# of years Depreciation

Buildings 84 to 100 1%
Trucks 7-14 7-14%
Computers 14 7%
Machinery
- city use 10 10%
- country use 12 8%




Office furniture with a value of less than 5,000 Latvian
Rubles (LVR) are included as fixed assets, but not
depreciated.

Depreciation is calculated monthly on a straight line basis
commencing in the month of acquisition.

The definition of a capital asset is any item exceeding a specified
cost. This threshold can be very low,for example 5,000 LVR for
dairies. As a result, there a large number of very low value items
being included as assets rather than being expensed. These items
are usually included as part of inventory. 50% of their value is
written of when used, while the remaining 50% is written off on
disposal. Assets under construction are recorded separately and
are not depreciated until completed and put into operation.

Accounts Receivable

Accounts receivable are generally overstated. Amounts owed to the
enterprise are included at full value with no adjustment made for
bad or doubtful accounts. Until recently, the incidence of bad
debts was so low that such provisions were not required. Detailed
debtor ledgers are '\aintained and usually updated monthly, however
no credit control 5 exercised.

With the privatization of some entities, former state debts are

dismissed, leaving the enterprises to deal with government rather
than the original debtor entity.

Inventory

Stocks are valucd at cost with no provision for diminution in value
or obsolescence. Many stock levels will be significantly
overstated in the accounts. Stock levels are further misstated
when consumables or small replacements are included in the asset
line.

Reserves

The statutory fund and other reserve funds are used to reflect a
variety of transactions. There are frequent transfers bicween
funds which would not be possible under IAS. Thus for example, the
purchase of a fixed asset requires the transfer of appropriated
funds from a fixed asset fund to the statutory fund. There is no
equity or share capital on the Latvian financial statements. For
purposes of this analysis, the reserves which appear equivalent to
equity have been classified as such on the reformatted financial
statements.




Subsidies

Subsidies received from the state are not reflected in the income
or profit/loss of the enterprise. The accounting %“reatment used
results in an increase in reserves reflecting the amount of
subsidies received even though the subsidies are for operating
costs. Under IAS such amounts would be treated as income.

Liabilities

The principal categories of liabilities included in balance sheets
are taxation and accounts payable. Liabilities for bank loans or
other long term loans essentially did not exist.

Accounts payable balances are principally for suppliers. As with
accounts receivables, any evaluation of the likelihood of payment
or the period in arrears was not made.

Financial Planning

There are currently no financial forecasts or budgets prepared by
the enterprises. This is partly because of the difficulty of
forecasting in such a rapidly changing economy and partly because
plans are considered to be a feature of the old regime and
therefore no longer required. There is little understanding of the
importance of budgeting for the overall financial control of an
enterprise. Previously, all planning was centrally performed and
given to the enterprises.

Enterprises currently are in the process of preparing privatization
plans, and are preparing plans and future strategies for the first
time. Some enterprises are in the preliminary stages of such
planning, while others are more advanced and are being valued, and
are near submission of these plans to the Ministry of Agriculture.

Internal and Accounting Controils

A review of internal and accounting controls was not within the
scope of this review. All amounts presented are management
representations.

Other Information

As previously stated, the enterprises have been operating in
rapidly changing market and economic cenditions. Extreme
inflationary conditions began in 1991 and continued through 1992.
Monthly inflation rates, based on the retail price index, were as
high as 56.4% in January of 1992, the 1991 annual rate was 262%.
In May of 1992, the inflation rate compared to May of 1991 was
639%. Inflation had diminished by December of 1992.




Similarly, currency values have also been fluctuating. Comparisons
to the US dollar from the Bank of Latvia are presented below.

USS expressed as LVR

Annual Rate 1991 0.05821
December 199i 103.5 Buy 120.55 S=11
.October 1992 180 Buy 191 Sell

v




Note

Notes to Financial Statements - Enterprise Specific
Bauska Piens

1 - Significant Accounting Principles

Note

As stated in more detail in the general notes and summary,
Bauska Piens (Bauska), like other Latvian enterprises, during
1992 managed its accounts and financial reporting according to
Republic regulations and guidelines. As such, Bauska did not
employ a full accrual basis in recording assets and
liabilities or in the recognition of income or realization of
expenses during 1992 or 1991. The handling of accounts may be
considered a modified cash basis with some accrual accounting
in accordance with Latvian accounting practices and
regulations in effect during the periods presented.

Fixed Assets are carried at historical cost and depreciated
over the useful life (as prescribed by Latvian regulations)
using the straight line method. However, fixed assets were
revalued according to Latvian regulations on both January 1st
of 1992 and 1993. The basis and coefficients employed in
revaluation are discussed in more detail in the general notes
to the financial statements.

Land (property) values were not recorded on enterprise
financial statements in Latvia during any of the years
presented.

A cash flow statement is not included in the financial
statements presented, as the 1992 and 1991 Latvian accounts
were not conducive to its preparation. Cash is held in
Latvian currency (LVR), hard currencies (e.g. DM, US$), and
other currencies (e.g. Russian, Georgian), exchange gains and
losses are included in Bauska's net income.

2 - Accounts Receivable

Accounts Receivable for Bauska includes the following in
thousands of LVR at December 31st:

Type of Accounts Receivable 1992 1991

Trade Accounts Receivable 42,572 6,585

Amounts Due from Members 0 86

Other Receivables 429 1,133

TOTAL 43,001 7,804

Bauska did not record any allowance for bad debts to reduce



Note

Note

the amount of the reported accounts receivable. According to
management at Bauska they have only one overdue receivable of
1.0 miliion LVR which they have sued for and feel is
recoverable. They have represented that all other receivables
are current, and are paid within 30 days, and do not represent
amounts owed by Russian enterprises or governments. Under new
regulations, Latvian enterprises are allowed to collect fines
from debtors for late payments.

3 ~ Inventories

Inventories appear to be accounted for on a first in first out
(FIFO) basis. An allowance for loss or spoilage is not
recorded by the enterprise, nor does the carrying amount of
inventory necessarily reflect the net realizable value of the
inventory, primarily butter. Management is considering in
second quarter of 1993 the sale of butter inventory at
approximately 25% less than the cost of production, an
allowance for this or any reduction in n2t realizable value
has not been included in the inventory value as presented on
the financial statements.

4 - Fixed Assets

Fixed assets are generally carried at historical cost, as
previously noted, except for the revaluations which have
occurred in 1992 and 1993. Bauska management represented that
they did not broadly apply the 1993 revaluation regulation, as
they felt that to do so would materially overstate the value
of assets which are in use but well beyond their useful lives.
Depreciation is expensed and accumulated on a straight line
basis using the following asset category useful lives:

Asset Type Useful Life

Buildings 84 years

Machinery/Equipment 10~-12 years

Apartment Houses 100 years

Cooling Facilities 15 years

Automobiles 7-14 years

Computers 14 years

Office Furniture (>5,000 LVR, Capitalized, not

depreciated)

Typically, the useful of an asset, under Latvian
regulations, is significantly longer than that considered

appropriate by Western standards.

The following table displays the gross book value of fixad

assets,
December 31,
December 31,

1991,

accumulated depreciation,
after revaluation at January 1,
1922, and after revaluation at January 1,

and net book value at
1992, at
1993.




Amounts are expressed as thousands of LVRs.

o0 |

12/31/91 | 1/1/92 | 12/31/92 | 1/1/93

Fixed Asset - Gross 5,586 14,272 32,776 n/a

& Less: Accumulated

B Depreciation 3,219 7,347 7,627 n/a
Net Fixed Assets 2,367 6,925 25,149 | 60,160

In the fixed asset category as presented on the financial
statements, apartment buildings are included. Undar the
privatization law, such buildings will be removed from the
assets of the enterprise and privatized separately.
Consequently, the net book value of assets presented in these
financial statements may overstate the net book value of the
assets the actually to be privatized as the dairy enterprise.
Bauska does own dwellings and apartment buildings which would
apply to this category.

Also see Note 8 regarding restitution claims.

Note 5 ~ Taxes

Bauska is subject to various taxes as an enterprise under o
Latvian regulations. The major taxes and the basis of the :
taxes assessed are outlined below.

Type of Tax Tax_ Base Percent of Base
Turnover Tax Sales 6
Income Tax Profit * None
Property Tax Property ** Not Available
¥ Social Tax Payroll 37
” * (According to Bauska, they are exempt as an agricultural

entity for income tax2s, this may be due to their current
limited liability status)
*% (For 1992, Bauska paid 361,000 LVR in property taxes)

Note 6 - Credit Disclosures

. Bauska's financial statements include only current types of

. payables, including taxes payable, trade ©payables to
suppliers, accrued salaries, and other rents, etc. They do
not represent to have any bank loans or long term debt, which
is consistent with other Latvian enterprises, due to the
banking system which currently does not extend such types of
credit.

Note 7 ~ Fguity Disclosures




Bauska is currently not a state enterprise, and operates as a
limited liability company. Equity on the balance sheet has
been segregated to show separately the amount of equity which
is the result of increases realized due to fixed asset
revaluation at January 1, 1992, and the total amount of equity
associated with paid in capital, retained earnings, and
perhaps previous revaluations.

8 - Contingent Liabilities

As is the case with all Latvian enterprises involved in
privatization, potential claims may exist in regard to
restitution to the pre-i941 1land or building owners.
According to Bauska they have not yet received any claims, but
neither have they had the Archives searched to determine if
the land was previously privately owned or government owned.
No liability reserves for potential future claims have been
included in the financial statements.

9 - _Other Notes

As stated in the general notes to the financial statements,
Latvia has been in a transitional environment. Bauska's
operations and financial statements have been impacted by such
pressures as periods of high inflation, significant demand
shifts due to price liberalization and lifting of subsidies,
dramatic policy and regulation changes involved in the shift
from socialism to capitalism, and the appreciation of the
Latvian Ruble against currencies of other former Soviet
republics. As such, the financial statements presented have
significant limitations as to analytical value in comparing
between time periods and between enterprises. The notes have
merely presented and outlined the major factors and conditions
underlying the financial statements which would influence
their wutility for users in making assessments of the
enterprise's financial condition.




EXHIBIT 5

PRIVATIZATION OF BAUSKA
Valuation Based on Market Value of Balance Sheet
(in 000's Latvian Rubies)

Adjusted
Balance
Sheet

ASSETS

Current Assets
Cash
Short term investments
Accounts receivable
Inventory
Other
Total Current Asseis

Fixed Assets
Assets under coustruction
Other Long term Assets

TOTAL ASSETS

LIABLITIES AND EQUITY

Current Liablities
Accounts payable 25,042
Other short term payables 0
Other 5,518
Total Current Liabilities 30,560

Long Term Debt 0
Total Liabilities 30,560
Equity
Capital & retained earnings 119,188
1992 Revaluation reserve 4,558
Total Equity 123,746
TOTAL LIABILITIES & EQUITY 154,306
Collectibility of A/R 90.00%
Realizable value of inventory 80.00%

Value in USS @ 130 $951,888

See footnotes on following page.




BAUSKA
NOTES TO ADJUSTED MARKET
VALUE OF BALANCE SHEET

For purposes of this analysis, the values of cash and financial assets
reported on the financial statements dated 12/31/92 are considered to be
a reasonable approximation of market value.

Receivables considered to be collectible except for a ten percent reserve
established for possible future credit losses.

Value of inventory from financial statements reduced by ten percent
considered to be an accurate representation of market value.

Due to uncertaimties about title, no value has been assigned to land. However,
management reperts that the Bauska plant is located on ten hectares of land,
Stelpe on seven hectares, and Iecava on one hectare.

Assets under construction primarily represent a new structure partially completed
at Bauska location. Due to its incomplete state, the balance sheet is assumed to
be a fair representation of its market value. However, this value has not been
subject to revaluation. As a result, the status should be reviewed once
construction is complete.




EXHIBIT 6

PRIVATIZATION OF BAUSKA
Valuation of Fixed Assets

Summary of Values
(in 000's Latvian Rubles)

Category

Equipment (1)
Buildings except residences (1)
Residences (1) ‘

Value of large fixed asset items using
Depreciated Replacement Cost Methodology

Value of remaining fixed assets based on estimated
Net Book Value (2)

GROSS ADJUSTED MARKET VALUE

Discount due to technological obsolescence
Discount due te economic obsolescence

NET ADJUSTED MARKET VALUE

inSUS @ 130

24,301

56,703

$623,108

See foomotes on following page.




BAUSKA
NOTES TO SUMMARY OF FIXED ASSETS

For breakdown of equipment, production buildings, and residential
housing see Exhibit 7.

The value of smaller fixed assets was determined by estimating net book
value of those assets after completion of 1993 revaluation.

Fixed asset values were reduced by a discount for technological
obsolescence and economic utilization.

Assets under construction are not shown here but rather on Exhibits 5
(financial statements) and 6 (adjusted balance sheet).




EXHIBIT 7.1

PRIVATIZATION OF BAUSKA
VALUATION OF FIXED ASSETS

DEPRECIATED REPLACEMENT COST METHODOLOGY
(in Latvian Rubles)

Equipment
BAUSKA Category - Equipment
Life 12
Index 1993 2855.5 Depreciated Depreciated
Year Percentage Replacement  Replacement
Description Acquired Age Cost  Index Multiplier RC-New Depreciation Depreciation Cost Costin $

Compressor for cooling 1987 10,727 64.6 44.203 474,161 67.23% 318,782 155,379 $1,195
Compressor for cooling 1984 12,518 67.6 42.241 528,772 84.92% 449,049 79,722 613
Sewage system 1982 12,133 59.7 47.831 580,328 90.82% 527,057 53,271 410
Yogurt packaging equipment 1992 7.357.863 25935 1.101 8,101,007 14.15% 1,146,604 6,954,403 53,495
Pasteurizing equipment 1992 245,000 25935 1.101 269,745 14.15% 38,179 231,566 1,781
Fluid milk filling system 1989 11,713 78.4 36.422 426,611  49.54% 211,337 215,274 1,656
Cottage cheese packing machine 1987 7,178 64.6 44203 317,286 67.23% 213,314 103,972 800
Pasteurizing equipment 1983 10,677 65.2 43796 * 467,608 88.46% 413,653 53,955 415
Aluminum milk storge tank 1983 5,752 65.2 43.796 251913 88.46% 222,846 29,067 224
Ice cream equipment 1992 2,119,831 25935 1.101 2,333,934 14.15% 330,341 2,003,593 15.412
Corttage cheese equipment 1992 291,947  2593.5 1.101 321,434  14.15% 45,495 275,938 2,123
Furnace 1992 2,000,000 2593.5 1.101 2,202,000 14.15% 311,668 1,890,332 14,541

12,085,339 16,274,799 4,228,326 12,046,473 $92,665




Description

1993

Yr Acquired  Age

Cost Index Multiplier RC-New

Depreciated

Percentage Replacement
Depreciation Depreciation Cost

Depreciated

Replacement
Costin $

Butter equipment
Butter equpment

1978 15
1990 3

347,630 100.0  28.555

461,141

113,511 439 65045  7.383.348

9,926,524

17,309,872

92.00%
38.92%

590.668
6,062,815

6.792.681
3,863,708

$4.544
46,637

10,656,389 6,653,483

$51,181

Description

1993

Yr Acquired Age

Cost  Index Multiplier RC-New

Depreciated
Percentage Replacement
Depreciation Depreciation Cost

Depreciated
Replacement
Costin $

Cheese mixer
Separator

Casein press

Milk counter
Pasterurizing equipment
Tank

Boiler

Compressor

1987
1976
1992
1985
1978
1992
1986
1981

—

—

6
7
1
8
5
1
7
2

—

317,469

2,229 64.6  44.203 98.528
8.078 439  65.045 525,435
261,781 25935 1.101 288,221
5,751 740  38.588 221,918
6.836 439  65.045 444,649
22,050 25935 1.101 24,277
6,333 676 42241 267,512
4411 50.3 56.769 250,408

72,120,948

67.23% 66,241 32,287
92.00% 483,400 42,035
14.15% 40,794 247,427
80.21% 177,989 43,928
92.00% 409,077 35,572
14.15% 3,436 20,841
74.31% 198,782 68.730
92.00% 230.376 20,033

$248
323
1,903
338
274
160
529
154

1,610,096 510,852

3,930

Total Equipment

12,863,949

35,705,618

16,494,810 19,210,808

$147,775




EXHIBIT 7.2

PRIVATIZATION OF BAUSKA
VALUATION OF FIXED ASSETS

DEPRECIATED REPLACEMENT COST METHODOLOGY
(in Latvian Rubles)

Buildings Excluding Residences

BAUSKA Category - Buildings
Life 30
Index 1993 2855.5 Depreciated Depreciated
Replacement Replacement

Description Yr Acquired Age Cost Index Multiplier RC-New Depreciation Depreciation Cost Costin $

Building 1936 57 10,547 439 65.045 686,032  84.00% 576,267 109,765 $844
Main building 1966 27 420,564 439 65.045 27,355,680 79.18% 21,660,992 5,694,688 43,805

431,111 28,041,712 22,237,259 5,804,453 $44,650

STELPE 130
1993 2855.5 Depreciated Depreciated

Percentage Replacement Replacement
Description Yr Acquired Age Cost Index Multiplier RC-New Depreciation Depreciation Cost Costin $

Production building 1940 53 400,909 43.9 65.045 26,077,188  84.00% 21,904,838 4,172,350 $32,095

400,909 26,077,188 21,904,838 4,172,350 32,095




Description

1993

Yr Acquired Age

2855.5
Percentage
Cost Index Multiplier RC-New Depreciation Depreciation

Depreciated
Replacement
Cost

Depreciated
Replacement
Costin §

Building

1928

65

119,582 439 65045 7,778,238  84.00% 6.533,720

1,244,518

$9,573

119,582 7,778,238 6,533,720

1,244,518

$9,573

951,602 61,897,137 50,675,816

————————

11,221,32%

85,318

~




EXHIBIT 7.3

PRIVATIZATION OF BAUSKA
VALUATION OF FIXED ASSETS
DEPRECIATED REPLACEMENT COST METHODOLOGY

(in Latvian Rubles)

Residential buildings not being privatized

Category - Buildings
Life 30
Index 1993 2855.5 Depreciated Depreciated
Percentage Replacement Replacement
Description Yr Acquired Age Cost Index Multiplier RC-New Depreciation Depreciation Cost Costin $

Dwellings 1959 34 39,992 439 65.045 2,601,289  80.90% 2,104,526 496,762 $3,821
Dwellings 1957 36 14,930 43.9 65.045 971,125 81.25% 789,013 182,112 1,401
Dwellings 1963 30 37,368 439 65.045 2,430,610 80.22% 1,949,715 480,895 3.699
Dwellings 1966 27 64,487 439 65.045 4,194,571  79.18% 3.321.379 873,192 6,717
Dwellings 1971 22 131,365 439 65.045 8,544,666 74.02% 6,324,890 2,219,776 17,075
Dwellings 1977 16 164,888 43.9 65.045. 10,725,177 61.94% 6,642,690 4,082,487 31,404
Dwellings 1987 6 173,378 64.6 44.203 7,663,751  28.39% 2,175,517 5,488,235 42,217

626,408 37,131,189 23,307,730 13,823,459 $106,334




Description

1993

Yr Acquired Age

Index
2855.5

Cost  Index Multiplier RC-New

Percentage

Depreciation Depreciation

Depreciated
Replacement
Cost

Depreciated
Replacement
Costin$

Dwellings
Dwellings
Dwelling house

1969
1979
1970

24
14
23

266,071

523,783

91.743
163,969

43.9
439
439

65.045
65.045
65.045

5,967,444
10,795,491

17,306,657

34,069,592

76.60%
56.60%
75.40%

4,371,190
6.110,480
13,048,847

1,396,254
4,685,011
4,257,810

$10,740
36.039
32,752

23,730,518

10,339,074

$79,531

Description

1993

Yr Acquired Age

Index
2855.5

Cost Index Muitiplier RC-New

Percentage

Depreciation Depreciation

Depreciated
Replacement
Cost

Depreciated
Replacement
Costin $

Dwellings

1962

31

39,200

39,200 439 65.045 2,549,773

2,549,773

80.39% 2,049,688

500,084

$3,847

2,049,688

500,084

$3,847

TOTAL

1,189,391

773,750,554

49,087,936

24,662,617

$189,712

GRAND TOTAL ALL ASSETS

15,004,942

171,353,310

116,258,563

55,094,746




BAUSKA
NOTES TO FIXED ASSETS
UTILIZING DEPRECIATED REPLACEMENT
COST METHODOLOGY

Buildings, plant and equipment were valued based on the Depreciated
Replacement Cost (DRC) approach. DRC arrives at fair market value by
determining the cost of replacing the property new, then depreciating it by
applying penalties for deterioration. We then deduct discounts of 15
percent due to technological obsolescence, and 15 percent for economic
underutilization. For underlying calculations, see Exhibits 6 and 7.

Original cost of each category of assets is translated into current
replacement cost using price indices published by the World Bank for
Latvia and the Latvian Government.

Depreciation factors were assigned based on the sum of the years digits
method.

Economic lives of 12 and 30 years were assigned to equipment and
buildings respectively. Salvage values of 8% and 16% were assigned for
these property classes at the end of their economic lives, based on
published sources including Market Valuation Services recommended asset
life ranges and salvage values.

Assets are broken down between equipment, buildings for production, and
residential apartments and related facilities.




EXHIBIT 8.1

PRIVATIZATION OF BAUSKA DAIRY
VALUATION OF PROJECTED DEBT FREE CASH FLOW

Assumes No Tax Holiday
in (060's Latvian Rubles)

1998
Category 1993 1994 1995 1996 1997 and beyond

Total Revenues 493,000 493,000 503,000 513,000 524,000 534,000

Operating Expenses 493,000 478,200 477,900 472,000 482,100 491,300

Operating Income 25,100 41,000 41,900

Income Taxes 8,800 14,400 14,700

Debt Free Net Income 16,300 26,600 27,200

Add: Depreciation 2,700 2,700 2,800

Gross Cash Flow 2,600 12,200 19,000 29,300 30,000
Deduct:

Additions to Working Capital
Additions to Fixed Assets

Net Debt-Free Cash Flow
Terminal value multiple

Terminal value 102,198

Present value factor . , 0.4747 0.3837 0.3837

Present Value Cash Flows 10,100 8.300 39,212
Total Present Value Cash Flows

Less:
Interest bearing debt

Value of owners' equity, minority interest

Plus:
Premium for Controlling Interest

Value ef equity after controlling interest

In equivalent US dollars @ 130 $803,714

See Tootnotes Tollowing exiubit




EXHIBIT 8.2

PRIVATIZATION OF BAUSKA DAIRY
VALUATION OF PROJECTED DEBT FREE CASH FLOW
Assumes No Tax Hollday

in (000's Latvian Rubles)

Hreakdown of lotal Kevenoces

Buller
Nember of tons sold
Urowth yrio yr
Aversge 1993 sclling price per ton
fotal revenoes - balier

Cheese
Nember ol tohe sold

Aversge 1993 selling pnoe per ton
lotal revenues - cheese

Whote malk
Number of tons sold

Avecrege 1993 selling pnce per ton
total revenoces - whole melk

Skoim metk
Nomber ol ons sold

Aversge 1993 sclling pnice per ton
lotal revenues - skum tralk

dour cream
Number ol tons so'd

Aversge 1993 selling price per ton
lotal revenues - soor cream

Cottage choese
Nsmber ol tons sold

Avernge 1993 selting pnce per ton
lolal revenues - cotlage cheese

Bultermulk
Number o1 tons sold

Avcrage 1944 sclling pnioe per ton
lotal revenues - buticr meik

SULAL dALLES
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Depreastion
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Capilal expenditures
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Proporuon debt
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EXBIBIT 9.1 .

PRIVATIZATION OF BAUSKA DAIRY
VALUATION OF PROJECTED DEBT FREE CASH FLOW

Assumes Two Year Tax Holiday
in (890's Latvian Rubles)

1998
Category 1993 1994 1995 1996 1997 and beyond

TotaF Revenues 493,000 493,000 503,000 513,000 524,000 534,000

Opesating Expenses 478,200 477,900 472,000 482,100 491,300

Operating Income 14800 25,100 41,000 42,700

Income Taxes 14400
Debe Free Net Income m—mn
Add: Depreciation

Gross Cash Flow

Deduct:

Additiens to Working Capital
Addisions to Fixed Assets

Net Debt-Free Cash Flow
Terminal value multiple

Terminal value

Present value factor ) . 0.4747  0.3837
Present Value Cash Flows

Total Present Value Cash Flows

Less:
Interest bearing debt

Valse of owners' equity, minority interest

Plus:
Premium for Controlling Interest € 59.00% 44,021

Valee of equity after controlling interest

In equivalent US dollars @ 130 $912,567




EXBIBITS.2

PRIVATIZATION OF BAUSKA DAIRY

VALUATICN OF PROJECTED DEBT FREE CASH FLOW

Assumes Two Year lI'ax Holiday
in (000's Latvian Rubles)

Breakdows of Total Reveowes

1992 1993

Bitey

Nember of tons s0ld

Urowh yrio yr

Aversge 1993 mlling price per oo
‘Total revenwes - buiter

Cheese
Nember of tom sold

Aversge 1993 selliog price per ton
Total savenwes - choese

Whole milk
Numibes of tons sold

Average 1993 weiling price per ton
‘Jotal sevenrees - whole milk

Summilk
Number of wons mid

Average 1993 sething pnice per ton
lotal revenwes - skim milk

Soor coesn
Nsrobes of ions sold

Average 1993 mibng pnce per lon
‘Iotal revenves - sowr cream

Uottage checse
Nuember of toms sold

Aversge 1993 selling price per ton
lotal rzvenwcs - coluge chocse

Huattermilk
Number of toas sold

Average 1993 selhing pnce per ton
‘Tota) revenves - butier milk

TUVAL SALEN

Change in sales period to penod
‘Terminsl growth rate

Uperating expense ratio

Corporsic tax rake

Uepreciscon me
Ueprecistion

Increase of sales between period

WU requirements as % of sales
Heginning working capital

Required working capital

Add reserve for inventory + receivables
Additional required working capital

Uspital expenditures a3 % sales
Capital expenditures

Counter

Cost of equity
Proportion of equity
Cost of deln
#roporbou debt

tax rate

Weighicd Aversge tostl of Capital
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BAUSKA
NOTES TO VALUATION BASED ON DISCOUNTED
FUTURE CASH FLOW

Sales are based on management’s projections of future sales in metric tons
or applicable units, multiplied by the current selling prices. Current
selling prices were used in order to exclude the effects of inflation.

Operating expenses are based on management information indicating the
breakdown of expenses in the current year. Subsequent years trend up to
eight percent, the pre-tax profit margin projected by the Value Line
Investment Survey for the average of American food processing
companies.

Income tax rate based on reported statutory rate of 35%. Granting of a
tax holiday to a foreign investor (minimum two years of profits)
significantly boosts the value of the enterprise under the discounted cash
flow model.

Depreciation rate based on average depreciation life assigned for fixed
assets of 21 years (5%).

Gross cash flow equals debt-free net income plus depreciation.

Working capital is defined as total current assets less current liabilities.
Working capital, primarily inventory and accounts receivable, represents
the financial resources required to support selling activities.

Beginning working capital was obtained from the enterprise’s financial
statements dated 12/31/92. The required percentage is based on current
levels of working capital as a percentage of sales.

Capital expenditures are based on Robert Morris Associates’ average
depreciation rate for U.S. dairy processers. The assumption is that this
represents a reasonable surrogate for current cost fixed asset expenditures
required.

Net debt-free cash flow is equal to gross cash flow less additions to
working capital and capital expenditures.

Cost of equity, adjusted to exclude inflation, is assume to equal 30%,




based on U.S. venture capital rates for return provided in "Investment

Rates of Return”, Appendix to Valuation of Intellectual Property and
Intangible Assets.

The cost of debt in real terms is assumed to be 15%, based the U. S. base
rate of 5 percent (net of inflation) increased for additional business risk in
Latvia.

The discount rate is 23.72% and a mid-year convention for discounting cash
flows is used. The discount rate reflects the fact that Bauska has no long-term
debt, whereas the capital structure for U.S. food processing companies, as
reported by Value Line, consists of 69 percent equity and 31 percent debt.

The terminal value multiple is based on the Gordon growth model 1/(K-G)
with K the discount rate equal to 23.72 percent, and the terminal growth
rate G after the five year forecast assumed to equal 2 percent real growth.

Since this valuation assumes a controlling interest, for illustrative
purposes, we assign a 59 percent premium being the average amount over
market value paid by acquirers in the U.S. to buy food manufacturing
companies. A range of 30-60 percent is probably appropriate for Bauska.

Conversion to US dollars for illustrative purposes only and is assumed to
equal 130 Latvian rubles to one dollar.




EXHIBIT 10

PRIVATIZATION OF BAUSKA
SUMMARY OF VALUES - CONTROLLING INTEREST

(millions LVR)

Value based on Discounted Cash Flow
with no tax holiday

with two year tax holiday

Value based on Adjusted Market Value of Balance Sheet

Final Values
with no tax holiday

with two year tax holiday

Equivalent in U.S. dollars (000’s) at 130

with no tax holiday

with two year tax holiday

See notes on following page

85.5 - 105.0

97.0 - 119.0

123.8

690 - 850

770 - 920




BAUSKA
NOTES TO SUMMARY OF VALUES

The market value assigned to the enterprise is based on a review of values
obtained from the discounted cash flow (DCF) and on the adjusted market
value of the balance sheet using depreciated replacement costs (DRC).

Depreciated replacement cost (DRC) is primarily used for insurance
purposes. A discount to DRC value is applied due to consideration of
both technological obsolescence and economic obsolescence (impaired
demand-supply relationships).

Because the value of an enterprise is a function of earnings and cash flow,
the final value is primarily based on the discounted cash flow model. The
value derived from the adjusted market value of the balance sheet is also
considered under the assumption that, after making changes to the
enterprise, it will be capable of generating a fair return on those assets.

The value result is based on an investor acquiring a majority interest in
the enterprise.

Conversion of total equity into US dollars is for illustrative purposes only
and is assumed to be 130 Latvian Rubles to one U.S. dollar.




Environmental Assessment of Bauska Dairy
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1.0 SUMMARY OF ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION IN THE REPUBLIC OF LATVIA

This chapter summarizes the current environmental protection
laws and practices in the Republic of Latvia based on reading of
Latvia: A Transition to a Market Economy, A World Bank country
Study, The International Bank for Reconstruction and Development,
1993 and discussions with personnel from seven dairies in the
country, three Environmental Protection Committee (EPC) personnel
in Headquarters, three Regional EPC personnel, and two local
municipal treatment plant personnel.

The majority of the comments made in this entire report are
based on translations (from both Latvian and Russian) of either
written or oral comments. Because of the potential disparity in
interpretation of questions and answers through the translation
process, the discussion that follows should be read with that in
mind.

1.1 Environmental Institutions

The Environmental Protection Committee (EPC) was created by
the Latvian Supreme Council on June 2, 1990 (after the self-
declaration of independence). The Supreme Council both appoints
the Chairman of and elects members of the EPC. At present, the
Chairman is Indulis Emsis. The EPC was placed outside of the
Council of Ministers structure (but at the same 1level); the
rationale being that the importance of the environment should not
be lost amid economic priorities. The EPC will be incorporated
into the parliament shortly after the June 1993 elections,
including the selection of a minister to head the ministry. As
such, the future of the EPC is difficult to predict. It is
expected that few if any of the top officials in the EPC will
remain in their existing positions. It is 1likely, however, that
staff level employees, especially in regional offices, will
maintain similar responsibilities. Nonetheless, the discussion
which follows describes the environmental laws, EPC policy, and
general environmental protection attitudes. The reader is warned
that significant changes may occur upon entrance of the EPC into
parliament.

The EPC is divided into technical and enforcement
subdivisions. The technical section is headed by the first vice
chairman and sets policy and standards while 'the enforcement
section is headed by the chief inspector and implements the legal
mandates in the field, including levying penalties and taxes. Nine
regional committees and other state institutions assist with the
implementation of these requirements.

Environmental organizations who assist the EPC to develop,
implement, and enforce the regulations include; the Research
Center, the Analytic and Information Center, the Forest and Hunting
Inspection Committee, the Water Resource Use and Inspectorate, the




Water Reservoirs and Mineral Resources Inspectorate, and several
nature reserves. The Hydrogeological and Meteorological Institute,
a Soviet designed group with the best monitoring capabilities in
Latvia, performs independent monitoring and maintains a database.
The EPC coordinates many activities with this group, but has no
administrative control over it.

The nine regional EPCs are responsible for issuing permits for
projects, enforcing regulations, and providing public information
services. Latvia has 26 local government administrative units, so
each regional committee has about 3 local government units. Each
regional committee has 5 subdivisions: (1) an inspectorate (the
largest group); (2) a sampling and testing laboratory; (3) an
expert group for performing environmental impact assessments
prepatory to the issuance of permits for new or expanded
facilities; (4) a cadastre that catalogs statistics on emissions,
natural resource use, volumes, etc., and (5) support services.

The regional EPCs are primarily geared towards determining the
pollution charge 1level, to inspect for compliance, to impose
penalties for exceeding limitations, and to negotiate a compliance
schedule to achieve the necessary reductions in emissions. The
ultimate sanction, closing down an enterprise, has not yet been
exercised.

1.2 Environmental Laws

Since 1990, the Supreme Council of the Republic of Latvia has
enacted several laws governing envirocnmental protection:

° The Law on the Environmental Protection Committee (June
1990) establishes the Environmental Protection Committee
(EPC) as the executive and oversight authority for all
environmental protection and natural resource use in
Latvia and is accountable of and subordinate to the
Supreme Council. The EPC thereby formulates, implements,
and oversees unified policy for environmental protection
and natural resource use. This law also grants the EPC
authority to monitor without hinderance to assess
compliance with environmental laws. Finally, this law
sets out the requirement that the EPC must prepare an
account of its activities at least annually and submit
this report to the Supreme Council.

The Law on State Environmental Impact Assessments
(October 1990) establishes and regulates the
environmental impact process in Latvia. Environmental
Impact Assessments are a prerequisite for the financing
of any state industrial project. If the assessment
determines that the project directly or indirectly
impacts, or in the future, may impact the surrounding
environment, public health, or living conditions, state




institutions of authority and administration will
determine the fate of the facility.

The Environmental Protection Committee Inspectorate
Regulation (October 1990) vests authority in EPC
inspectors to verify, without impediment, the observation
of the environmental protection law, for Dboth
environmental protection and natural resource use, and
provides enforcement powers in these inspectors to halt
activities that violate the law and to punish violators.

The Law on Natural Resource and Pollution Charges
(December 1990) establishes charges for the use of
natural resources and the release of effluent within
standards and enforces sanctions against those who exceed
permitted limitations or whose releases exceed the
standards. Funds collected from these taxes and fines,
of which 25 percent goes to the Republic of Latvia
national budget and 75 percent goes to the local
municipal government budget, must be used for activities
related to environmental protection.

The Law of Environmental Protection (August 1991)
delegates primary responsibility to the EPC regarding
environmental protection, natural resource use,
environmental impact assessment procedures, standards,
permits, and public information and sets out goals for
the protection of the environment and the rational use of
natural resources.

At this time, these regulations identify overall goals rather
than specific operative limitations and requirements. The EPC and
the Supreme Council are considering new laws to improve
implementability of the requirements and to make the laws more
technically defensible. For example, a new hazardous waste law was
recently enacted, setting out specific requirements for wastes
exhibiting corrosive, reactive, ignitable, or toxic properties.

Latvia has also instituted specific regulations for water use,
water use permits, wastewater discharge permits, and wastewater
discharge standards which were confirmed with the Latvia EPC
Council on November 29, 1991 (Resolution Number 3). These
regulations, which were implemented starting in 1992, limit the use
of water and set maximum allowable discharge standards to Latvian
waters (i.e., water quality standards).

Regardless of the quality of the existing regulations, changes
to all environmental laws will occur, if nothing else than to
revise the administrative procedurss of the law (i.e., now being
within the parliament).

Unfortunately, at this time, prlvatlzatlon efforts have paid
little or no attention to environmental issues that may be of
concern at these enterprises. Similarly, the EPC, aware of the




economic hardship, has been willing to forego strict enforcement of
environmental standards. The EPC waives fines at enterprises on a
regular basis as long as the enterprise is aware of the
environmental problems at its plant and is willing to do "whatever
it takes" to improve its situation with the exception of making a
capital investment. Enterprises that do not appear to care about
the future of the environment typically are required to pay fines,
hopefully to instill a sense of urgency in the protection of the
environment.

1.3 Environmental Standards

Latvia uses the water standards of the former Soviet Union and
has added a limited number of its own national standards. The
Soviet standards are more stringent than European Community or
United States standards; however, enforcement of these standards
was minimal in the Soviet Union. The setting of unrealistic
limitations led to general disregard for environmental laws and
regulations. Over 2,000 water quality indicators were applied in
the old Soviet system. Individual industrial effluent limitations
are to be based on manual calculations taking into account the
characteristics of the receiving stream. Discussions with dairy
personnel indicate that in most cases, rather than setting site-
specific limitations, the EPC uses a National set of effluent
limitations, per the EPC Council Resolution Number 3 (November 29,
1991). These effluent limitations for pollutants associated with
dairies, along with National water quality criteria applicable in
the receiving waters, are provided in Table 1.1. These limits were
developed by the EPC using both the eld Soviet standards and more
recent European Community (EC) standards as a basis.

Table 1.1. Pollutant Limitations and Water Quality
Criteria Applicable to Dairies
WATER QUALITY EFFLUENT
CRITERIA LIMITATION

NO. | PARAMETER , (mg/1) (mg/1)

1 Suspended Solids - 15

2 Chlorides 300 300

3 Sulfates 100 ' 500

4 Biochemical Oxygen Demand -3 12

5 | Chemical Oxygen Demand 15 90

6 Nitrate Nitrogen 9.1 25

7 | Nitrite Nitrogen 0.02 0.15

g8 | Ammonia Nitrogen 0.39 8




Phosphates

Anionic Surfactants

Nonionic Surfactants
Fats
0il Products

Similarly, air standards were adopted from old Soviet
regulations and apply to over 500 pollutants. For dairies,
enission monitoring is not routinely performed, but dairies are
required to pay taxes for air pollution from boilers, furnaces, and
ammonia refrigeration systems based on the quantity of chemicals
used or oils burned. Limitations on the quantity of pollutants
that can be emitted are contained in air permits. These quantities
are based on the chemicals used or burned rather than on actual
emission monitoring results.

1.4 Enforcement

As identified in Section 1.1, permits are issued by regional
EPCs. The permits stipulate effluent limits for major pollutants
and are subject to revision every year. When a facility does not
have control equipment to meet emission standards, temporary limits
are established through negotiations on the basis of the best
possible utilization of the technology currently in place at the
plant.

Natural resource and pollution taxes and fines were introduced
in the Law on Natural Resource and Pollution Charges. The taxes
are based on the use of natural resources (e.g., surface water and
groundwater) and the pollution of air and water according to the
guantity used or discharged. As of June 1993, the specific tax
rates for natural resource use are provided in Table 1.1. Tax
rates for pollution are provided in Table 1.2. Note that rates for
natural resource use and pollution emission are subject to change.
For example, the rates provided in Tables 1.1 and 1.2 denote a ten-
fold increase effective January 1, 1993.

Fines have to paid by enterprises if permit 1limits are
exceeded and amount to three times the fees and. are paid to the
State Environmental Protection Fund from after tax profit. Seventy
percent of the fines go to the regional EPC and thirty percent go
to the National EPC. In 1991, about 6 million Russian Rubles
accrued to the fund.

At present, there is no National requirement for industries in
Latvia to perform independent sampling and analysis of emissions.
This work 1is performed by the EPC, and its subordinate
organizations, and the Hydrogeological and Meteorological Agency.




There are, however, some Regional EPCs that have required
industrial facilities to monitor wastewater discharges and report
results to the Regional EPC. Latvia does not have National
sampling and analysis protocols that must be followed. Rather, the
EPC will occasionally compare its laboratory results with
enterprise analytical results and if large discrepancies are noted,
the EPC will try to determine the cause of these problems. Quite
often, the problem is traced to the analytical procedures, however,
again it should be noted, that with the poor state of the economy,
laboratory reagents are difficult to purchase, making laboratory
work less reliable.

Dairies that discharge wastewater to a municipal (e.g., City)
treatment plant are subject to the requirements of the treatment
plant personnel rather than the EPC personnel. In these cases, the
City staff issues a permit to the dairy that identifies the volume
of wastewater permitted to be discharged and the allowable nature
and concentration of the wastewater. Sampling may be conducted by
the EPC and/or the City and may also require self-monitoring on the

part of the dairy. Specific requirements for industries
discharging to municipal treatment plants are not set out in the
environmental regulations, rather, city personnel develop

limitations based on the amount of water and pollutants that its
treatment plant can accept and still meet its wastewater permit
limitations.

Table 1.1. Tax Rates for Natural Resource Use

TAX RATES FOR WATER USE

TYPE OF WATER USE TAX RATE (LVR/M)

1 Ground water 1.0
2 Surface water 0.2
3 Medicinal mineral water 5.0
4 Table mineral water 20.0

TAX RATES FOR NATURAL RESOURCE ACQUISITION

NO RESOURCE TYPE TAX RATE (LVR/M?)

Ground soil

1 l.b
2 Sand 2.5
3 Sand and gravel mixture 8.0
4 Gravel 6.0
5 Clay 3.0




Dolomite

Limestone

Gypsum
Peat

Sapropel

Medicinal mud

Table 1.2. Tax Rates for Pollution

TAX RATE FOR POLLUTION WITHIN NORMATIVES, WASTE DISPOSAL

WASTE CLASSIFICATION TAX RATE (LVR/M?)

Non-toxic wastes

Toxic wastes

Extremely toxic wastes

TAX RATES FOR AIR POLLUTION
POLLUTION CLASSIFICATION® TAX RATE (LVR/TON)

Non-toxic emissions 200

Medium hazard emissions - 300

Hazardous emissions 650

Very hazardous emissions 650,000

TAX RATES FOR WATER POLLUTION
POLLUTION CLASSIFICATION’ TAX RATE (LVR/TON)

Non-toxic substances 200

Medium hazard substances 2,000

Hazardous substances 500,000

Very hazardous substances 3,000,000

The separation of polluting substances according to hazard
level is done according to classifications set by the Republic
of Latvia Environmental Protection Committee.

POLLUTION CLASSIFICATION ACCORDING TO HAZARD LEVEL
(Air and Water Pollution)




Non-toxic Dust, suspended materials, sulfate,
alkaline metal chloride.

Medium hazard Carbon dioxide, phosphorus, nitrate,
nitrite, iron compounds, biodegradable
organic compounds, fats, surface active
substancszs.

Hazardous Sulfur and nitrogen oxides, oil products,
phenol, alcohol.

Very Hazardous Aromatic hydrocarbons, cyanide and its
derivatives, heavy metals, and
pesticides.

1.5 Environmental Audits

Industrial environmental audits can be valuable in guiding
programs for remedial development and prioritization of activities.
One of the most important benefits of plant-wide environmental
audits is to identify processes and operational practices that are
large pollution generation sources. This can assist plants in
making changes that reduce pollution rather than focusing on
control, which can be costly and, often, ineffective. Process
changes can provide other benefits as well, such as reducing
operating costs, and maximizing plant efficiency. It is also
important to instill environmental auditing as an in-house plant
management activity that keeps up with the dynamic workings of all
types of manufacturing operations, due to process and product
changes, technology changes, utility pricing, and market changes.

The highest priority for dairies should be given to the protection
of surface waters. Problems are emerging, both at the industrial
and municipal level, with the opera*‘>»n of wastewater treatment
units because of the shortage of repl: ament units and spare parts
from the old Soviet Union and the higher costs of this equipment
from westernized countries.

1.6 Conclusions

Technical solutions are available for most of the
environmental problems caused by industry. Key measures for
control should include the expanded use of modern equipment for
industrial pollution control, waste utilization, and environmental
monitoring. Substantial investments may be necessary to meet
environmental goals, but care must be taken to invest in pollution
controls for industries that will remain economically viable for a
period of time and are not likely to close down soon. Investments
should be cost effective and should provide the only alternative to
achieve the pollution reduction goals.




2.0 BAUSKA DAIRY

“Bauska Piens" (Bauska Dairy) is organized as a limited
liability company and was formed to replace the former dairy
producers association. The dairy consists of three plants, one in
the City of Bauska, one in Stelpe, and one in Iecava. The primary
focus of the report is on the Bauska plant, but an overview of
environmentil issues at Stelpe and Iecava are also discussed.

2.1 Introduction

Bauska receives approximately 80 t (all references are to
metric tonnes) of raw milk operating one shift daily. The
facility’s major products include butter, sour cream, cheese,
cottage cheese, and other whole milk products (e.g., kefir). The
plant recently began manufacturing yogurt and will start making ice
cream in the two weeks, but as of yet, plans for the production of
these two products are on a small scale.

The plant manufactures about 10 t of various milk products a
day. The plant processed 40,283 t of milk in 1991, 30,985 t of
milk in 1992 and probably about 25,000 t or 1less this year.
Production of whole milk products has dropped considerably in the
past 4-5 years from 10 t a day to less than 2 t a day now. Kefir
has also dropped from about 4 t a day to less than one-half t a day
now. Cream has dropped from 5 t a day to about 1 t a day. Bauska
sends 4-6 t a day of cream to Stelpe for butter making. The plant
has 60 employees working in the milk production area.

Whey is currently sold to farmers with a small amount going to
wastewater treatment when the market is not available for whey.
Additionally, the plant occasional applies the whey to farm land
when too much is available.

The plant does have an environmental coordinator who oversees
wastewater treatment and all other environmental issues at the
plant. This person is also responsible for environmental issues at
the Stelpe and Iecava plants, although, responsibility is more
limited at those two plants.

2.2 Water Use

Bauska pays the City for drinking water once a quarter and
pays the district once a quarter for wastewater discharge. In the
first quarter of 1993, the plant paid 57,317 Rubles for water and
6,884 Rubles for wastewater. This figure for wastewater is very
low: on occasion, wastewater costs may be four times this value.
On average, the plant uses about 350 m’ of water a day.
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2.3 Wastewater Treatment

Bauska operates an oxidation ditch wastewater treatment plant,
using a single impoundment with baffles to act as an oxidation
ditch. The treatment system was constructed in 1985. The
hydraulic capacity of the system is about 600-700 m® of wastewater
a day (the environmental coordinator did not know the organic
loading capacity of the treatment system). It appears as though
the impoundment has a holding capacity of about 4,000 m® of
wastewater (6-7 days). The oxidation ditch uses eight surface
aerators to oxygenate and circulate the wastewater. The plant
operates the system in batch mode, turning off the aerators and
mixers for one hour at 3 in the morning to allow the solids to
settle. Wastewater is discharged around 4 in the morning to the
Lielupe River via an open channel and an enclosed pipe for about 3-
4 kilometers.

Sludge is pumped from the bottom of the impoundment and
collected in trucks and sprayed on fields every three months in the
winter and every month in the summer.

The treatment plant receives both dairy wastes and domestic
wastewater from a local housing project. A total of 5-700 cubic
meters a day of total wastewater is received, with about 60 percent
of the wastewater from the dairy and 40 percent from a local
housing project.

At the present volume of wastewater, the treatment plant can
accept up to 1,000 milligrams per liter of BOD and still meet the
effluent limitations.

Bauska recently began expansion of the treatment plant with
the construction of a second, slightly 1larger impoundment
(treatment capacity of about 800 m® a day). The construction is a
result of planned expansion of the processing plant. Also, the
dairy has been asked to accept wastewater from a bakery (150 m® a
day) and a new housing project. The construction of the collection
system for the housing complex is complete; all that is left is for
the contract to be signed by both parties. The new treatment
system would improve treatment by allowing additional non-dairy
wastewater to be accepted, thereby diluting the dairy wastewater
and also providing a longer holding time for the wastewater in the
treatment system.

The new impoundment was supposed to be finished this summer,
but it will not be finished at least until next year (or until
resources are available to complete construction). The
construction of the new impoundment is about 75 percent complete
and the two new surface aerators have been purchased and are in
storage. The environmental coordinator estimates that it would
cost 2,000,000 Rubles to complete the treatment plant. While the
breakdown of costs was not provided, it appears as though this cost
includes completion of the construction of the impoundment,




purchase of several additional aerators, and purchase of additional
treatment equipment (e.g., mixers, piping, etc).

Cnce the new treatment impoundment is complete, the plant does
not plan to use both impoundments at once, rather the plant will
use one for one day, and then one for the next day, or use each for
two days (to increase retention time). Flexibility will be built
into the system to allow for various operating conditions.

In talking with the environmental coordinator of the dairy,
she commented that cottage cheese and cheese whey cause the most
concern to the treatment plant since the whey is very high in BOD
and is not easily treated. On discussing the possibility that
casein would be manufactured at the plant, she stated that she does
not feel like these wastes could be accepted at the plant and still
meet the effluent discharge limitations.

2.4 Storm Water Management

Most of the storm water from the plant grounds flows to the
treatment plant; however, very 1little processing equipment is
located outdoors that would contribute to the pollutant loading.
There are no storage tanks located outdoors that could possible
contaminate 1local waters or the treatment plant. The only
significant volume of storm water that does not flow to the
treatment system is from the miscellaneous equipment storage area
and truck parking area located across the street from the dairy.
A visual observation of this area did not indicate cause for
concern.

2.5 Vehicle Maintenance and Washing

The plant maintains a few trucks on-site, but repairs are
conducted indoors with used o0il sent off-site for recovery. The
only significant source of pollutants from outdoor operations is
from the milk truck washing operations that take place after
unloading the milk.

2.6 Groundwater

The water used at the Bauska dairy is extracted from
groundwater wells. The plant is permitted to extract 663 m® a day
(242,000 m* a year). The dairy did not indicate that there were any
problems with the quality or quantity of groundwater. The Regional
EPC has designated this groundwater to be of drinking water
quality.




2.7 Compliance with Existing Regulations

The plant has a wastewater discharge permit issued by the
Regional EPC that limits Biochemical Oxygen Demand (BOD)-12 mg/1l,
Total Suspended Solids (TSS)-15 mg/l, Chemical Oxygen Demand (COD) -
90 mg/l, Nitrates-25 mg/l, Nitrites-0.15 mg/l, Ammonia-8 mg/1,
Chlorides-300 mg/l, Sulfates-500 mg/l, Synthetic Surfactants
(8SSAV)-0.5 mg/l, O0il Products-0.5 mg/l, Fats-5 mg/l, and
Phosphates-2.5 mg/l.

The plant can achieve 8 mg/l of BOD during winter months when
the water is cooler and the production is down. During summer
months, the plant may discharge up to 40 mg/l of BOD.

The Regional EPC inspector visits the Bauska plant about twice
a month and collects samples for analysis by the EPC 1lab in
Jelgava. The inspector commented that nearby inhabitants sometimes
complain about the odor during extended hot weather, although this
is to be expected at the dairy.

Bauska was fined once last summer when BOD was too high. This
fine was for 60,000 Rubles. Because of Bauska’ attempt to meet the
limitations, the EPC has not been strict about enforcing the
regulations.

Bauska paid 9,126 Rubles for clean water in the first quarter
of 1993, 1,230 Rubles for wastewater in the first quarter, and
3,985 Rubles for air pollution. Taxes may be four times higher

than this during other quarters, but production was down the first
three months of this year.

The Bauska EPC inspector said that this dairy is a good
example for other plants on how to approach environmental problems
and how to pay their debts on time. The attitude of the dairy
(e.g., dedicating a full time staff member to the environment) is
a clear example of Bauska’ dedication to these issues. Discussions
with the environmental coordinator at the dairy left a favorable
impression and the belief that given adequate resources, the
treatment system could treat the wastes being generated.

2.8 Summary

The plant manager believes that the solution to the plant
economic problems may be the manufacture of casein, yogurt, or dry
milk, although the plant does not have the capacity at this time to
manufacture large quantities of these products.

The environmental coordinator felt that the ultimate solution
for the whey would be to have drying equipment to dry the whey so
that it could be used as animal feed. About the possibility of
processing 100 t of skim milk into casein, the environmental
coordinator made the point that this would cause extreme hardship
on the wastewater treatment system. She also believes that




environmental standards will be more stringent in the future,
making it even harder to comply with the regulations.

3.0 IECAVA DAIRY

Iecava is manufacturing about 2 t a day of soft caraway seed
cheese; however, cheese production is typically only about 20 t a
month. The plant operates one shift a day. The cheese plant at
Iecava has become less and less efficient and, according to the
director of Bauska Dairy, may be forced to close soon.

Iecava receives and processes about 20 t of raw milk a day
(down from about 80 t a day last summer). Plant capacity is over
100 t of raw milk per shift. The plant processed 15,919 t of raw
milk in 1991, 8,964 t of raw milk in 1992, and expects to process
6,000 t or less in 1993. The plant sends about 1.5 t a day of
cream to Stelpe for butter production.

Iecava‘’s production varies four fold from summer to winter
months, with summer being the more productive months. Similarly,
water use fluctuates, although only about two to one (summer to
winter).

Skim milk, generated during the separation process, was being
sent to a plant in Lithuania until May of this year when the
Lithuanian plant stopped accepting the skim milk. Now, some of
this milk is going to another dairy in Latvia (in "Preili"), but
this does not appear to be a long term solution. Most likely,
Iecava will make cottage cheese (2-10 t a day) to consume this skim
milk.

The plant also has problems getting rid of the whey. The
plant tried to sell the whey back to the farmers for a minimal
amount of money, but the farmers were unwilling to take this whey.
The plant was going to dump the whey into the river, but fines
would have been much higher than if the plant simply gave the whey
back to the farmers free of charge. Now, the farmers are very
willing to take the whey for free, in fact, demand is greater than

supply.

During a tour of the plant, it was apparent that the facility
is very antiquated, both the building and the equipment, and water
use was very excessive. The plant does not have CIP (cleaning in
place) equipment, making equipment cleaning difficult and
inefficient. Chemicals used for cleaning and disinfecting include
NaOH, HCl, and Na,CO,.

The plant paid 5,655 Rubles for water in the first quarter of
1993. This is depictive of a reduced production. Costs during the
busier quarters may be four times this value.




The plant used 2,030 m® of water in January of this year, 1,720
m’ in February, and 1,905 m® in March for a total water use of 5,655
m® in the first quarter of 1993. Last year at this time, the
facility had used 13,967 m® of water and 50,000 m® of water for the
entire year. The plant is allowed to use up to 59,000 m® of water.
Last year, the plant paid 142,788 Rubles for water. This year the
cost may be three to five times higher.

The plant does not treat its own wastewater. Apparently,
several enterprises in the Village of Iecava discharge to a
treatment plant in the general proximity of the dairy. The
production manager indicated that the treatment plant was located
across the street; although, a walk across the street did not
identify anything resembling a treatment plant. According to the
Bauska environmental coordinator, the Village has a biological
treatment plant that 1is is poor «condition and is under
reconstruction.

Little control is provided in the dairy of either milk waste
or water usage, both of which were present in large quantities at
the time of the visit.

All storm water from the site discharges to the 1local
treatment plant. There are no storage tanks located outside that
could spill to the treatment system. According to the production
manager, milk spillage in the raw milk receiving ar=a is drained to
the sewer.

Trucks are washed, both inside and out, after depositing milk,
using water, caustic soda, and steam. This water drains directly
to the local treatment plant. The plant maintains four milk
trucks, but according to the production manager, does not change
the o0il in these trucks (only oil is added).

The plant uses ground water as its source of water. Water is
pumped from the well and stored in a water tank on the roof of the
building. Once a year, the plant chlorinates the storage tank to
kill any residual growth. The plant has had problems in the past
drawing enouch water when operating at full capacity.

Iecava has a contract with the City to accept and treat
wastewater, with water use limitations and pollutant limits. The
production manager was unaware that a permit existed and that there
were pollutant limitations. This information was provided by the
Bauska Environmental Coordinator.

The production manager was not very knowledgeable about
workings of the plant. As such, collection of both environmental
and process information was very difficult.

According to the Bauska Dairy environmental coordinator,
someone from EPC comes once a month to test the plant’s wastewater.
The production manager did not know of the results of these tests,




but was adamant that the City was the one who had to meet effluent
limitations and not the dairy.

According to the EPC inspector, 1Iecava occasionally has
arguments with the local housing sector over environmental issues:
reasons were not described. Since the plant does not have
wastewater treatment, this could be related to odors from within
the plant or to dumping of plant wastes into the nearby river.

The facility paid 266 Rubles the first quarter of 1993 for air
pollution. Costs during the busier quarters may be four times this
value.

While on-site, the plant seemed to be using a lot of water for
the amount of production that was occurring at the plant. Water
hoses were running while not in use, several tanks that were being
filled with water were overflowing, and there did not seem to be
any urgency to correct this problems. In fact, during the walk-
through, one of the raw milk separators was spewing skim milk down
the drain. The production manager indicated that the separator was
leaking and needed to be fixed. Three other separators were not in
operation leading one to believe that the skim milk was
intentionally being discharged to the sewer.

4.0 STELPE DAIRY

Stelpe manufactures one product at its facility, namely,
butter. The plant is widely considered to make the best butter in
the entire country. Stelpe produces about 6-7 t of butter a day
(20 t a day several years ago during better economic times).
Butter is manufactured using the "o0ld" method of using sour cream
rather than sweet cream. Butter demand is down so much, that,
currently, the butter being produced is packaged for long-term
storage.

At present, Stelpe receives 6 t a day of cream from Bauska and
2 t a day of cream from Iecava for butter making. The plant also
receives about 40 t of raw milk a day. The plant processed 22,901
t of milk in 1991, 17,025 t of milk in 1992, and should receive
about 15,000 t of milk in 1993. The plant operates one shift a
day.

Skim milk from the separation process is given back to farmers
for feed. This skim milk used to be sent to a dry skim milk plant,
but the dry milk plant no longer wants Stelpe’s skim milk.

Stelpe paid 9,126 Rubles for clean water in the first quarter
of 1993, and 1,230 Rubles for dirty water in the first quarter of
1993. These figures are considered very good for the plant. Costs
may be up to four times this in the summer months. On average, the
plant uses about 100 m® of water a day.




The plant operates two oxidation ditches in batch mode (built
in 1965) as treatment for its wastewater. The ditches are in
disrepair and need substantial refurbishing. Specifically, there
are large cracks and holes throughout the ditches, possibly
allowing for infiltration to groundwater. The plant also has two
stabilization ponds in series, followed by an open channel
(providing further aeration) to the receiving strean. The
stabilization ponds are full of marshy growth and appear to be
operating as a wetlands type of treatment system.

The plant treats a total of 100-150 m® of wastewater a day from
the dairy and a housing project in the area. The majority of this
wastewater is from the dairy. The plant has a capacity to treat
300 m’ of wastewater in either of the two ditches.

Once a year, the sludge from the treatment plant is removed
from the oxidation ditches. This sludge is used as fertilizer in
home gardens. The solids content of the sludge is too low to be
used on farmland (i.e., too much water).

Prior to a couple of years ago, all storm water from the plant
grounds flowed into the oxidation ditches. The plant has since
rerouted this storm water into the stabilization pond following the
oxidation ditch to improve treatment efficiency during wet weather.
Apparently, storm water collected in the raw milk receiving area
still discharges to the oxidation ditches.

All milk transport trucks are washed at the receiving area

with the wash water discharged to the oxidation ditches. Little,
if any, truck maintenance is performed at the dairy.

The plant uses ground water as its source of process water.
The current well is about 100 meters deep but is drying up. This
well water has < high iron content, forcing the facility to filter
the water to remove the iron solely for use in the heating system.
A new well, 180 meters deep, will supply the plant with ground
water in the future.

According to the Regional EPC inspector, Stelpe has a very
good compliance record with its permit limitations. The facility
is limited for TSS, BOD, COD, Nitrate, Nitrite, Ammonia, Chlorides,
Sulfates, Synthetic Surfactants, 0il Products, Fats, and
Phosphates. Numeric 1limits are identical to those for Bauska.
While the raw data for the plant was not reviewed, the
environmental coordinator for Bauska, the production manager at
Stelpe, and the Regional EPC inspector all commented about the
commendable record of Stelpe in meeting the wastewater discharge
limitations.

Stelpe paid 3,985 Rubles for air pollution in the first
quarter of 1993. This was for the use of ammonia refrigeration,
boilers, and furnaces.




5.0 SUMMARY OF BAUSKA DAIRY

Two of the three Bauska dairies use more water than is
reascnably needed to process milk. The Bauska plant currently uses
about 4-5 liters of water per liter of milk processed, Iecava uses
about 7-8 liters of water per liter of milk processed, and Stelpe
uses about 1.5-2 liters of water per liter of milk processed (about
2-3 liters of water per liter of milk is reasonable and about 1
liter of water per liter of milk would be considered very good).

The tour of Stelpe indicated that the facility had reasonable
equipment for making butter. Also, it was visually apparent that
the facility did not use excessive amounts of water tc clean (i.e.,
the floors were dry and cleaning was performed with direct
oversight of the equipment during cleaning). In both Bauska and
Iecava, the problem was two fold. First, the plants used excessive
amounts of water, and second, both plants appeared to have poor
housekeeping, contributing large amounts of milk waste down the
drain. This problem wes much more apparent at Iecava. Reducing
the amount of water used in production would allow for additional
retention in treatment, effectively improving the treatment
capacity of the system (be it the plant treatment or the City
treatment).

Additionally, all three dairies should look for ways to reduce
the amount of milk and milk by-products that are being discharged
into the treatment system or to the City. The best approach to
this problem is to plan and conduct an environmental audit of the
processing facility, paying special attention to water usage and
milk losses. Areas that are typically of concern include;

- Housekeeping practices (e.g., spill cleanup practices and
response to leaks)

Water control (e.g., only running water from the hose
when cleaning, adding spray nozzles to the hoses to
provide on-demand supply of high pressure low volume
water, or paying close attention to tank filling to
prevent overflows)

Building dikes or berms around storage tanks and other
vessels where leaks to the sewer are unwanted

Controlling breakage in milk packaging equipment (e.g.,
paying close attention to the filling of the packaging
and stopping the system if a high percentage of breakages
are occurring)

Whey handling practices (e.g., preventing the initial
whey drainage and first rinse from entering the sewer
system and only discharging second and third rinses)




Spilled material handling (e.g., cleaning up spilled
solids with a broom for use as animal feed, rather than
hosing this material)

Worker understanding of the problem (preventing willful
wasting of material as a time or effort saving step).

Similarly, processing practices and small capital investments
may also effectively reduce the volume of water and pollutants
being discharged. These include activities such as:

- Draining milk cans or milk trucks for a longer period of
time to reduce the residual milk that must be washed out

Covering all drains with wire mesh to collect milk and
milk by-product solids that may end up on the floor

Clearly marking on and off positions on water valves to
minimize worker negligence

Use post cleaning rinses as make-up water for sanitizing
or cleaning of other equipment

Provide drip shields on filling equipment for product
recovery.

While the above practices may not all be appropriate, or may

already be instituted, it is likely that the incorporation of these
types of ideas into the worker mentality can improve the quality of
and reduce the gquantity of wastewater discharged. It is also
important thet the environmental audit be supported by the plant
management.

As discussed during the visit, the disposal of whey and skim
milk will continue to be problems for Bauska and Iecava. If the
plant has to discharge whey to the treatment plant or to the City,
the whey drainage and the first wash should be stored for disposal
or sales to farmers, rather than discharging to the treatment plant
or City. The second and third washes should be the waste that is
discharged. If whey has to be discharged, the plant should have
storage so that the whey can be bled into treatment a little bit at
a time.

In summary, wastewater at Stelpe appears to be under control.
The use of oxidation ditches followed by stabilization is a
reasonable technology to meet effluent limitations. Concentrations
for BOD and TSS into the treatment system are typically under 100
mg/l while effluent concentrations are under 20 mg/l. Of concern
at Stelpe, 1is the poor condition of the oxidation ditches.
Renovation of these ditches, at a cost of several million Rubles
would be needed to bring the system into proper condition. While
the surface aerators are old, they appear to be in fine working
condition.




Compliance with wastewater effluent limitations at Bauska is
sporadic, but the dairy is making a conscientious effort to keep up
with the situation, and, typically, violations are not severe.
Completion of the second impoundment would further help Bauska to
achieve compliance. Bauska should be aware that if it starts
producing large quantities of casein, as was discussed, a long term
solution to the whey problem is needed. The plant cannot discharge
these large volumes of whey to the treatment system and be in
compliance with permit limitations. Farmers do appear willing to
accept whey for animal feed, if it is provided free of charge.
This may be the only solution in the short-term. Long-term
solutions should focus on techniques to dry the whey, making it a
much more valuable and manageable feed or fertilizer additive.

The environmental situation at Iecava appears less favorable
than in Stelpe or Bauska. Information available for Iecava was
limited, indicating the lack of knowledge of plant management on
the environmental issues. An assessment of compliance with
wastewater standards was not possible because of the lack of
knowledge on the part of plant personnel. The tour of the plant,
however, led one to believe that water use and milk and milk by-
product losses at the plant are significant. As such, it is likely
that the plant is contributing excessive amounts of BOD to the
local treatment plant (which is supposedly in poor condition also).
The most important step to be taken in Iecava is for plant
management to perform a water use and product l.ss audit on its
process, identify the areas of greatest concern, and look for
methods to reduce the water used and milk lost in these areas.
Because of the age of most of the equipment in Iecava, this process
may require lots of work and ingenuity. Assistance from other
dairy personnel in the country or some type of employee incentive
may be valuable tools to solving Iecava’s problems.




PRIVATIZATION OF THE
BAUSKA MILK PROCESSING PLANT
A legal analysis

I. Summary of Facts

The Bauska Milk Processing Plant ("Bauska") consists of the
Bauska plant and its two milkeries, Iecava and Stelpe.
This enterprise services 23 pagasti.

Bauska is a special case as far as the law on the
Privatization of Milk Processing Enterprises is concerned.
This is because it was accorded special status by the
Latvian government in 1990 to develop as a private company.
Now this special plant must be fit into the broad sweep of
the privatization law by allowing all willing local milk
producers to obtain an ownership share while taking into
account the efforts of the owners of the limited liability
company who have effectively operated the plant for three
years.

The relevant history of Bauska begins at the end of the
Soviet era. In accordance with LSSR State Agroindustry
Committee Resolution No. 599, dated October 11, 1986,
Bauska was given by the state to the experimental collective
farm/agrofirm "Uzvara". 1In early 1990, the state had
decided to separate Bauska from "Uzvara", and had directed
that it be formed into a state enterprise. However, based
on a request from the Bauska dairy producers' association,
the Council of Ministers of the Republic of Latvia decreed
that the property of the Bauska plant was to be given to the
local association.

Approximately two years ago the Bauska association
transformed this enterprise into a limited liability company
called "Bauskas Piens". The founders of this company
anticipated the upcoming privatization and attempted to
apportion ownership equitably among the various interested
parties. Thus, ownership of the limited liability company
"Bauskas Piens" is apportioned in the following manner: 70%
of company equity is owned by milk producers, 20% by
employees and 10% by service organizations.

Upon enactment of the privatization law at the beginning of
1993, Bauska requested that the Ministry of Agriculture
allow it to follow its own privatization program. In order
to establish control over Bauska and force it to comply with
the privatization law, on March 29, 1993 the Council of
Ministers decreed that the Latvian government was taking
back the state property (the land and buildings) that it had
allowed "Bauskas Piens" to use.
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II. Legal Analysis

As authorized by the law on the Privatization of Milk
Processing Enterprisez. this milk processing plant has been
claimed by the Bauska Milk Producers Association on behalf
of all cooperative associations contributing to Bauska. At
the time this analysis was written, it remained to be seen
whether Iecava and Stelpe would be claimed by cooperative
associations contributing milk to these milkeries and thus
taken out of the control of Bauska. Management at Bauska
felt that these would stay within the Bauska system.

Strictly following the language of the law on Privatization
of Milk Processing Enterprises, Bauska would be required to
take the following steps:

1) Definitions:

As described above, Bauska has been claimed by the
local association free of charge under the authority of
the Supreme Council resolution of April 15, 1992.
Bauska is thus a "personified object" under this law.

2) Section I "General Regulations";
Article I "The Law's Function and Objectives";

Paragraph 3:

The privatization process as applied to personified
objects is called personification and is described in
Article V of this law.

3) Section V "Personification of capital in milk producer
cooperative associations and stability guarantees for
the privatization process";

Article 23 "Distribution of assets regained by milk
producer cooperative associations without
compensation":

If the object to be personified incorporates several
pagasti in its operational area, then an association
of these pagasti cooperative associations is to be
formed and distribution of capital among the various
pagasti cooperative associations follows the guidelines
of Article 18 of this law.

4) Section IV “Valuation and purchase of the unit toc be
privatized";
Article 18 "Distribution of basic capital among milk
producers and milk and milk products suppliers":

Milk producers are to be allocated capital shares in
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the object through their pagastu cooperative
associations. These associations are given capital
shares according to the amount of milk supplied by that
association's milk producers during both 1991 and 1992.

5) Section V;
Article 24 "Personification of capital in milk
producer cooperative associations without
compensation":

Personification to the individual farmer/members of
each association is to be accomplished in two stages -
half of the enterprise value is personified on January
1, 1994 and the other half ~n January 1, 1995. This
is accomplished by increasin the basic capital of the
company by the appropriate percentage of enterprise
assets on the date specified. Each stacge of this
process is completed by correspondingly increasing the
number of shares or their nominal value (initially 1
share per 2400 kgs. of milk supplied). Property of
the state transferred to the association without
compensation cannot be alienated until all assets are
personified.

IlI. Issues

Because of its unique status among milk processing plants as
a limited liability company, Bauska will not follow the
privatization procedure and general standards mandated by
the law on Privatization of Milk Processing Enterprises.
Both the owners of "Bauskas Piens" and the officials at the
Ministry of Agriculture understand that the privatization of
Bauska will require finding a formula that recognizes the
investment and efforts of the owners of the limited
liability company "Bauskas Piens" over the past three years
while allowing all other farmers who wish to join this
enterprise the opportunity to do so. Such a plan can be
developed that follows the intent, if not the letter, of
the privatization law.

The most promising solution is to break down the value of
the Bauska enterprise between the land and buildings still
owned by the state and the value of the enterprise resulting
from the efforts of "Bauskas Piens'" and its management of
the enterprise. The owners of "Bauskas Piens" would be
granted an ownership interest in the newly privatized
company equal to the value of the enterprise resulting from
their efforts and the farmers wishing to join the Bauska
enterprise now could divide the remaining state interest
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according to the principles set out in the privatization
law. '

During our discussions with Ministry officials and the
Bauska management, it seemed that "Bauskas Piens" would be
allocated about 75% of the new company while the farmers
entering the company now would divide the remaining 25%. At
that time, the value of the entire enterprise was estimated
at somewhere near US $850,000.00. If the Ministry approves
such a solution, which seems likely, then Bauska would
follow its own, unigue path to privatization.




2. DAIRY SECTOR

PRIEKULE PIENS

Business Plan for Priekule Dairy Processing Plant

Financial Details

Environmental Assessment of Priekule Dairy

Privatization of the Priekule Milkery:
A Legal Analysis




BUSINESS PLAN

FOR

PRIEKULE DAIRY PROCESSING PLANT

Liepaja Region

Aizputes Street 7/9

Priekule Latvija

Telephone:234-61196, 234-61447
June, 1993




CONTENTS

Statement of purpose

Executive summary

History and description of the business

History and development
Organization and legal status
Current products and processes
The way forward

Management and employees

Management structure and senior management
Human resources

Marketing

Background to Latvian dairy industry
Milk purchases

Sales

Customers and markets

Pricing

Competitors

The way forward
Supplies and operations
Dairy production
Financial details
Balance sheet
Income: statement

Forecasts for 1993
Detailed analysis of revenue and costs




Supporting documents

Latvian financial statements

Fixed asset schedule

Site and factory plans

Latvian country statistics

Milk purchases and dairy statistics




STATEMENT OF PURPOSE

This business plan was prepared in order to help Priekule's management focus on certain
issues and assist them in their privatization. The plan was not prepared for and should not be
used for any other purposes. Coopers & Lybrand has not undertaken an audit nor verified the
information which was presented to us. We do not express an opinion nor provide any
assurance as to the accuracy of the historic or forecast information (please refer to detailed
notes). The business plan is based upon both historic and forecast information provided to us
by the staff and management of Priekule and the Liepaja Central Dairy Plant.

The forecast of future operations was made based upon the assumptions and representations
made to us. The business plan is not intended to be relied upon as an indication, assessment or
projection of Priekule's future operations. The present environment in Latvia is uncertain.
The figures have been derived from the enterprise's Latvian accounts which have been
prepared in accordance with Latvian accounting regulations. To understand the potential
limitations of the financial information provided it is essential to read the accompanying
reformatted Latvian accounts and the notes attached.

There are significant differences between Latvian accounting principles and generally accepted
accounting principles. The main differences are outlined in the report attachment "Priekule
Dairy Enterprise - Financial Statement Years ending 31 December 1991 and 1992" and the
attached notes. Ii is essential that the above mentioned statement and notes be read in
conjunction with this business plan.

Major changes have taken place in Eastern Europe and the Baltic States over the last two years
and the historic performance of the business is likely to bear little relationship to its future
potential.




PRIEKULE DAIRY ENTERPRISE

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY OF BUSINESS PLAN

Preamble

Priekule Dairy is one of the biggest dairies in Latvia producing cheese
and butter. Currently it is operating under Liepaja Central Dairy plant

The purpose of this business plan is to provide a planning tool, and to
highlight and consolidate into one document Priekule's aims and objectives
through a period of substantial change leading up to privatization.

Key elements of the plan are summarized below:
Priekule's Strategy
Priekule's strategic aims are:

to focus on cheese production, in particular to develop new
ranges of skim milk cheese;

to continue to be the producers of the highest quality domestic
cheese;

to introduce a variety of packaging sizes for both butter and
cheese in order to increase markets;

105  To bring Priekule into line with these strategic aims a number of steps are
being taken:

Research and development - Priekule is continuing to develop
new skim milk cheese varieties. Currently a new caraway seed
cheese is being developed;

Marketing plan - Priekule is continuing to develop advertising
strategies for the domestic market. In addition, it is actively
seeking out and making contacts in new potential markets.

Human resources - it is vital, particularly at this time of change
within the industry, that all management and staff, whatever their
level, are suitably informed and motivated to ensure that the
enterprise's strategic aims are met.




Re-organization - Priekule will continue to maintain current
levels of staff in order to take advantage of the relatively cheap
cost of labor.

Conclusions

As an enterprise facing the new challenges of changing markets and growing
competition, the preparation of the business plan has made Priekule focus on
where it is and where would like to be. To a large degree, many issues
cannot be fully addressed until a further date when the form of privatization -
will become clear.




HISTORY AND DESCRIPTION OF THE BUSINESS

History and development

The Priekul: Dairy Processing Plant (Priekule or the enterprise) is located in
the Liepaja region. It is approximately 197 km south west of the capital
Riga. The plant is primarily involved in the production of butter and
premium quality Krievijas (Russian) brand cheese. Priekule is the fourth
largest cheese producer in Latvia.

The Priekule plant can trace its history of activities in the Liepaja region to
1911 when it began producing cheese and cream. In 1950 butter making
equipment was purchased and the enterprise begun producing 360 tons of
butter per year. During the 1960s, ice-cream and fluid milk were produced.
After a break of several years, cheese production recommenced in 1969.

In 1972, new capital investment enabled Priekule to increase its capacity
for cheese production from 360 tonnes per year to 1160 tonnes per year, and
butter production to 3000 tonnes per year.

Following Latvia's integration into the Soviet Union, the agricultural sector
was collectivized. Since 1948, Priekule has been state-operated and part of
the Soviet dairy industry.

During this period, from 1948 to the present, the incentive for managers to
develop and expand business was removed. Priekule was centrally managed
and controlled by the Liepaja Central Dairy Plant (Liepaja) and its results
were aggregated with those of other plants within the region. The Liepaja
Central Dairy Plant oversaw the operations of all the regional plants.
Individual rights to land and assets were removed and managers received
Iittle or no benefit from being successful or profitable.

Prices for all raw materials and finished products were centrally established.
Consequently, no consideration or incentive was given for cost-minimizing
or profit maximizing decisions.

Capital investment decisions were also approved by the Liepaja. During the
period until 1992, increasing productivity drove investment decisions. The
viability of increasing capacity was not commercially assessed.

Priekule, is arguably facing its greatest challenge. In a climate of political
and economic upheaval, the privatization of Priekule will require sound
economic and financial decisions. For the first time, managers will be
accountable for their decisions.




Organization and legal status

Priekule is currently being privatized. The form of the new entity is as yet
uncertain.

Until privatization the overall control of Priekule will still lie with Liepaja.
The Director of Liepaja, Mr. Andris Saldovers, oversees most significant
areas of operations, including bank accounts, and major fixed asset
replacement or purchase decisions. Liepaja also allocates and distributes
directly to the farmers aid funds that the government has received. However
the day-to-day running of the plant is controlled and administered by the
Director of Priekule.

Reporting directly to Liepaja is Priekule's Director - Mr. Erik Piesins. Mr.
Piesins, together with the Chief Engineer - Mr. Jakobsons, and the Chief
Economist - Mrs. Kikane, actively participate in the day-to-day running of
the enterprise.

Legislation which came into effect on April 1, 1993 - "The Privatization of
Milk Receiving and Processing Plants", provides that ownership of milk
processing plants can be transferred to co-operative dairy producers
associations. These co-operative associations are comprised of the individual
dairy producers supplying the Priekule processing plant. The dairy
producers have until 30 June 1993 to form co-operative associations and
submit claims for shares in Priekule.

Under separate provisions, the proportions to be distributed are specified as
follows:

milk producers/suppliers (including producers associations) not less than
70%

employees of the dairy processing plant not more than 10%

other person not more than 20%

A preliminary list of shareholders has been determined as follows:

Percentage (%)
Priekule (milk producers) }27.80
Priekule managers
Liepaja central dairy 28.57
Saldus Cooperative 19.86
Kuldiga Cooperative 21.85
Talsu Cooperative 1.92

100.00




Shares will be determined according to a balance sheet valuation as of
February 1993. Seventy-five percent of the share value will be issued free
of charge; the temaining 25% must be paid for in cash or credits within five
years of privatization.

Current products and processes

Priekule is the leading cheese producer in the Kurzeme district and is the
fourth largest cheese producer in Latvia. The Liepaja Central Plant is the
third largest milk processor in Latvia. In monetary terms Priekule generates
over 40% of Liepaja's annual revenue.

Priekule currently produces butter and Krievijas (Russian) brand cheese.
The butter (72% fat content) has no added salt or color The Krievijas cheese
is ripened for 60 days and has a 50% fat content.

The two by-products from the production of butter and cheese are skim
milk, whey and buttermilk. Revenue is also received from the compulsory
resale of the residual skim milk to milk suppliers .

The way forward

1992 and 1993 are proving to be particularly difficult years for the dairy
industry. As an industry, agriculture and particularly the dairy sector is
susceptible to a range of factors over which the industry itself often has no
direct control.

Not all factors are unpredictable; many can be anticipated. What Priekule is
committed to doing is to attempt to recognize and anticipate problems and
opportunities, and to plan to deal with them accordingly.

To help in this process, below is a summary of the strengthes, weaknesses
threats, and opportunities facing the industry and specifically Priekule .




Dairy Industry
Strengths

- relatively good road and
rail infrastructure

Threats

-relative political and
economic uncertainty

-competition from other
emerging markets
(e.g. Lithuania)
-competition from established
markets (Sweden/Finland)

Priekule Dairy

Strengths

‘recognized quality of
products

-experience of management
and staff

*nationally sold product

*contacts in Western Europe

- strong network of traders

Threats

- disruptions due to
privatization

-demotivation of staff
due to uncertainty of change

Weaknesses
-demise of Comecon market

-limited and reduced domestic market
-seasonality in milk production

-low purchase power of customers
-international trade restrictions

-low hygiene standards

- strong currency

Opportunities

- new markets from tourism due to
current interest/ fashion of Eastern
Europe and the Baltic

-demise of small unproductive dairies
as a result of restructuring

Weaknesses

-milk purchasing price
- historical major underinvestment

-lack of focus and drive
*no market niche
-transport vehicles not owned

Opportunities

- preparation for privatization can be
a springboard for independent
planning and financing

-revitalized post-privatization
company with clear goals
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MANAGEMENT AND EMPLOYEES

Management structure and senior management

The Director of Liepaja has ultimate authority over Priekule. Most key
decisions are authorized by the director.

The day-to-day management of the business is under the control of Mr. Erik
Piesins, who works closely with the Chief Engineer, Economist and Chief
Accountant.

A brief description of the four senior staff is below.

Eriks Piesins - Director - is responsible for most activities of
Prickule. Mr. Piesins is 50 years old and has a degree in food
production technology. He joined the enterprise in 1970 as a
engineer. He was appointed the Director of Priekule in 1973,

Janis Jakobsons - Chief Engineer. Mr. Jakobsons is responsible for
production and the operations of the plant. He is 41 years old and is
qualified at the Building Construction College. He joined the

enterprise in 1978 as engineer. He was promoted to the position of
Chief Engineer in 1988.

Iveta Inne - Chief Accountant. Mrs. Inne reports directly to Liepaja.
She is responsible for all bookkeeping and report preparation,
including balance sheets for Liepaja. She is 39 years old and has a
qualification as accountant. She joined the enterprise in 1980. She
was promoted to her current position in 1986.

Anna Kikane - Chief Economist. Mrs. Kikane reports directly to the
Director and is responsible for marketing, forecasting and pricing.
She joined the company in 1992 after having worked for 10 years as
an economist in local collective farm. Mrs. Kikane is 40 years old
and is qualified as an economist.

The management structure of Priekule is given below:
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ECONOMIST
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STOCK KEEPER

1

LAUNDRY

BUTTER PRODUCTION

CHIEF
ACCOUNTANT
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WAGES
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CASHIER




Priekule has a strong and experienced team which is committed to ensuring
that Priekule becomes a viable and self-reliant entity. Managers and
employees have a good relationship and work closely together. Regular
weekly meetings are held by senior managers.

Human Resources

The average number of employees in 1991, 1992 and to May 1993 is shown
in Table 1.

TABLE 1

1991 | 1992 | May 1993
Full time 124 | 122 120
Part time 11 11 9
Employed pensioners | 15 8 8
Other-specify 43 | 39 38
Total 137 | 133 129

Priekule has a relatively young workforce. The age profile of the enterprises
as of 31 December 1992 indicates that 53% of the employees are under 40
years old and 77% are under 50.

The staff tumover is low. This is partly due to the previous sound economic
structures. Nearly 90% of all staff has been with the enterprise for 10 or
more years. Although no formal training takes place, it is believed that the
on-the-job training provided is adequate. All senior management positions
have experienced deputies who have come up through the business. They
will be competent as the future managers of Priekule.

Remuneration

Wage and salary costs, approximately 1.5 to 3.0%, are not a significant
proportion of total production costs for Priekule. This has remained the case
despite significant increases in average monthly salaries as a result of
inflaticn. The total remuneration of the employees of Priekule is composed
of salaries, bonuses and lunch allowances. Workers are paid according to
their category of employment. Government regulaticns establish a range
within each scale. During 1992, bonuses composed approximately 11% of
remuneration. Only bonus pavments can be varied according to the
individual performance.




The average monthly remuneration is 8000 Latvian rubles. This compares to
the average monthly reinuneration in Latvia of 8200 Latvian rubles.

Other Employment Costs

In addition to the employee remuneration outlined above, the enterprise also
has to meet certain other employment costs. The largest is a Social Security
contribution which is 37% of gross salary.

Employment policy

Priekule mostly employs people from the area around Priekule. People can
be fired for not fulfilling their duties, but it is difficult to fire them if they
simply do not perform according to needs of the company. This policy is in
effect only because they are a state-owned company. Retirement age in
Latvia is 60 years for men and 55 for women. If the person still works after
the retirement, they may choose between getting their salary from the
company and not receiving pension from social security, or limiting their
salary. This generally means that people do not work after retirement age.
There are no regulations requiring companies to pay any allowances for
retired people.

Working Conditions

The working week is six days per week. There is one shift of eight hours
per day. The office hours are 7 a.m. to 4 p.m. Production staff hours are
determined by the delivery of milk and cream. Although milk supplies tend
to be delivered early in the day, around 7 a.m., cream supplies are typically
delivered in the afternoon at 2 p.m.

MARKETING

Background to Latvian Dairy Industry

In 1991, the agricultural sector accounted for about 20% of GDP. In 1990,
dairy production accounted for 43% of livestock agricultural production.

Until 1993 all dairy processing plants were centrally controlled state owned
enterprises. No competition or free markets existed. The industry, including
all processing plants and milk cooperatives, were allocated markets to
supply, distribution networks, and transport routes. Both raw material prices
and final goods prices were centrally determined.

This provided no incentive for managers. Productivity goals were set




without regard for amy efficiency or profit maximizing considerations.
404 The dairy industry has: faced significant upheaval since 1991, including:

the collapse of the Soviet Union and the loss of one of the country's
main markets.

declining domestic market
periods of hyperinflation
removal of central planning and pricing mechanisms

the fragmentation of the dairy industry into small individual
producers

falling animal stock levels and milk production

cheaper Lithuanian and Western European dairy products flooding
the domestic market

introduction of tie Latvian rouble
Milk Purchases
405 Table 2 indicates the fallf in milk purchases from 1990 to 1992:

TABLE 2: Priekule Milk Purchases

Year Ton
1990 74,760
1991 64,927
1992 62,516
1st quarter 1993 6,336

The level of milk production in Latvia has fallen sharply over the past three
years, as reflected in milk purchases made by processing plants (Refer to
supporting charts). This decline is due to several factors, including the
rising costs of feed paid by farmers, as a result of the reduction of grain
subsidies, a drought im mid 1992 which reduced grain supplies and a
livestock disease which again forced many collective farms to kill stock.
Milk purchases have fallen by 40% between 1990 and 1992.




Sales

407 Table 3 analyzes dairy sales for Priekule in 1991 and 1992 and first quarter
1993. Due to the inflationary and currency influences over the past years, it
is more meaningful to look at sales trends on volume rather than rouble
totals. Inflation in Latvia in 1991 was 326.4%.

TABLE 3: Product Sales
1991 1992 1993 1Ist quarter
(Tons) (Tons) (Tons)
Butter 2,450 2,254 303
Cheese 1,101 1,078 183
Customers and Markets
408 Priekule's domestic and export sales fall into three categories:
- domestic
- ex-Comecon markets
- other export

409 Prior to 1992, all production was sold to state warechouses. A large
proportion of Priekule's products was then exported to Russia and other
markets. With the collapse of this market, Priekule has had to rely heavily
on a depressed domestic market, which is being flooded with cheaper
Lithuanian and Scandinavian products.

410 The introduction of the Latvian rouble and its appreciation against other
Jocal currencies and the U.S. dollar has further exacerbated potential sales to
the former Soviet Union. In the short- to medium-term, there is no reason to
forecast a significant improvement in access to these markets.

411 In the past, Prickule played no part in marketing goods for export. Now,

together with Liepajas' marketing section, Priekule is trying to actively seek
out contacts and potential market. In particular it is concentrating on Russia,
Poland and Bulgaria.

16




412  The following table shows the breakdown of total sales of butter and cheese
(in tons) into domestic and export markets for 1992:

TABLE 4

Tons of % of Total | Tons of % of Total
Butter Cheese
Latvia 1,560 69.2 982 91.2
Gov Sales [911] [244]
Russia 186 8.3 2 0.2
Azerbaijan | 327 14.5
Western 180 8.0 93 8.6

413  Currently Priekule's major customers are as follows:

TABLE 5

Name Location Quantity 1st Quarter sold Roubles

(in kilograms) (thousands)
Cheese Butter
Saui - Wholesalers Jelgava 1,273 2,774
Jute - Chain-store Ventspils 221 50 595
Voenturgs - ex army shop | Liepaja 263 310 1,329
Dalidz Liepaja 540 860
Autolat Liepaja 635 930
Harolina Riga 431 729

Since January 1993, all cash payments are made directly to Priekule. Cash
payments now make up 60% of all sales. Customers are very sensitive to
price changes. The usual practice is for clients to call various dairy
producers and obtain the best quote before committing to a specific delivery.

Pricing

As discussed above, pricing policies were all centrally determined. A 15%
margin above production costs was set by the government. Up until 1993,
enterprises had no authority to set prices. Domestic pricing decisions are
now be based on market conditions. In addition, as privatization approaches
Priekule, it must recognize the impact of various taxes and commissions
which up until recently were levied on the Liepaja Central Dairy. It will
now be necessary to incorporate all such costs.




Competitors

In the Kurzeme district, Priekule is the only cheese producer and does not
face any competition. The Valmiera Dairy is the largest cheese producer in
the country, and is in direct competition with Priekule for the Russian
cheese market. The Valmiera Dairy competes in terms of volume only, for
the quality of Priekule's product is generally recognized as superior.

The way forward
Marketing Strategy

The approach to sales and marketing to date has been reactive rather than
pro-active. Domestic trading has, if anything, been simply order taking and
distribution rather than marketing. Against this background of changing
markets, growing competition and economic restructuring, Priekule is
examining its sales and marketing strategy.

The key elements of the strategy must be to:

Increase advertising

- print media

- shop premotion

- attendance at trade shows and exhibitions
Introduce new products

- introduce new skim milk cheeses
Introduce packaging

- a variety of new package sizes

In the short term, the basis for growth will be in developing new products
for existing markets. The strategy will be two fold. Firstly, Prieckule
should develop new products such as skim milk cheese with caraway seeds
and skim milk cottage cheese. Secondly, they should introduce different
package sizes. Currently, butter and cheese is produced in 250 g and 2 kg
blocks. By introducing smaller portions, Priekule hopes to increase sales
particularly in areas such as the hospitality industry.

In the short- to medium-term Priekule will strive to develop contracts in the
ex-Comecon market.

The production of skim milk and caraway cheese will not involve any
additional technology. The limiting factor will be the continuous supply of
milk and the ability to sell the primary butter product.




502

SUPPLIES AND OPERATIONS
Dairy Production

Priekule currently processes approximately 145 tons of milk daily. This
produces 7-8 tons of butter, 3 tons of cheese, and 80 tons of skim milk and
whey. One of the largest problems Priekule faces is associated with
disposing of the excess skim milk. Farmers are now obligated to purchase
skim milk back in proportion to their milk deliveries. Under current
arrangements, milk deliveries by the farmers determine how much they
produce. Priekule is under pressure to purchase all milk delivered in its
zone as a state-owned company. This includes excess purchases made by
the Liepaja Plant. This requirement imposes serious limitations to any
production strategy; however, following privatization, this requirement will
be lifted.

Priekule's supplies of milk have been from the following sources:

TABLE 6

Source

1st Quarter 1993
(tons)

Farmers in Liepaja 4,985
Statutory Company Liepaja 861
Liepaja Central Dairy 185
Saldus Dairy 171
Kuldiga Dairy 134
Aizpute Dry Milk
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PRIEKULE DAIRY ENTERPRISE
Balance Sheet
Balances at December 31st
(LVR in thousands)

ASSETS

Current Assets
Cash
Short term investments
Accounts receivable
inventory
Other
Total Current Assets

Fixed Assets
Assets under construction
Other Long term Assets

TOTAL ASSETS

LIABLITIES AND EQUITY

Current Liablities
Accounts payable
Other short term payables
Other
Total Current Liabilities

Long Term Debt

Total Liabilities

Equity

Capital & retained earnings

1992 Revaluation reserve
Total Equity

TOTAL LIABILITIES & EQUITY

1992

UNAUDITED

1st Quarter

1993

The accompanying notes to the financial statements are an integral part of this document.




PRIEKULE DAIRY ENTERPRISE

Income Statement

For year ended December 31st

Sales

Less: Turnover Tax
Net sales
Less: Cost of Goods Sold
Gross profit
Other Income

Less: Other Expenses
Net Other Income
PROFIT (LOSS)

Taxes

NET PROFIT (LOSS)

(LVR in thousands)

1991

1992

UNAUDITED

1st Quarter

1993

43,320
0

383,424
0

100,149
0

43,320

45,953

383,424

350,233

100,149

96,507

(2,633)

4,761
1,150

33,791

0
1,161

3,642

0
2,940

3,611
978

0

(1.161)
32,030

0

(2,940)

702

0

The accompanying notes to the financial statements are an integral part of this document.




FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SUMMARY

The financial statements of the enterprise have been reformatted
into a standard western format. The scope of this project did not
include the restatement of the accounts in accordance with
International Accounting Standards (IAS). As such, no adjustments
to management's representation of financial information have been
made. Nor has this compilation of financial information included
any audit or due diligence efforts that in any way expresses an
opinion on the financial information presented.

This effort has:

1) reformatted the enterprise's existing accounts into asset,
liability, equity, revenue and expense categories;

2) eliminated entries which represent double counting of
accounts;

3) compiled balance sheets and income statements, based on the
existing Latvian accounts and management representations, as
of and for the year ending December 31, 1992, and, when
possible, for the year ending December 31, 1991, (the 1990
financial statements have not been included in this report);
included interviews of the enterprise's management and
accounting staff, which, along with the Latvian financial
statements, are the basis of the notes to the financial
statements for individual enterprises;
included interviews of Ministry of Agriculture personnel and
management personnel from other Latvian dairy and bakery
enterprises, which are the basis of the general notes to and
background on Latvian accounting practices and financial
statements included in this document; and

6) not added accounts omitted from the Latvian financial records
which represent balance sheet and income statement entries
necessary to meet IAS principles and more fairly present the
financial position of the enterprise;

The financial information presented contains many limitations and
issues which impact the content of the information, its
comparability to other enterprises and other time periods, and the
interpretative and analytical value. The major constraints and
issues impacting the enterprise's financial statements are
highlighted in the notes (general and enterprise-specific) to the
financial statements, which are considered an integral part of this
document.




NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
GENERAL

(Also See Enterprise Specific Notes)

LATVIAN ACCOUNTING PRACTICE

The following analysis sets out the basis on which the
enterprises' financial statements are prepared and highlights the
differences between Latvian and international standard accounting
practice.

The analysis has been based on interviews with the accounting staff
at the enterprises and The Ministry of Agriculture.

The laws on "Accounting" and "On Annual Reports" govern accounting
practices in Latvia as of January 1, 1993. They are based largely
on priciples set out by the Fourth Directive of the EC and the
Danish accounting law in particular.

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The preparation of financial statements in Latvia is not in
accordance with International Accounting Standards (IAS). The
fundamental accounting concepts are only partially observed:

° Going concern - all enterprises are correctly assumed to
be going concerns and are accounted for on the basis that
they will continue to trdde with the current scale of
operations.

Consistency - books and records are Kept using accounts
which record the enterprise's activities and transactions
which form categories of assets and liabilities.
Although accounting policies are applied consistently
during a given year, the past three years have been
characterized by changes in government policy and
directives as to form and content of financial reporting
and accounting treatment of transactions.

In particular, the accounting formats changed between
1990 when they were prepared under the Soviet system, and
1991 when statements which were prepared under the
Latvian system. The format was changed once more in
1992, although not as significantly. No analysis is
provided in the accounts to show the effects of these
changes. The 1993 accounts and financial statements have
also changed significantly from 1992, in an effort to
more closely adapt to IAS.

Accruals ~ accrual accounting was only introduced for the
year ended December, 1992. Prior to this the basis used
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was similar to a double entry form of cash accounting
with some adjustments for prepayments. The changes
initiated in 1992 do not reflect a full accrual basis,
some aspects may still be considered a modified cash
basis of accounting.

L Prudence - the financial statements do not reflect a
conservative view of the affairs of the enterprise. No
provisions are made to reflect irrecoverability of debt
or other reductions in the value of assets.

The profit and loss information provided does not fully reflect the
profit or loss generated or the amount transferred to reserves.
The net profit figure does not take account of items such as
interest paid, employee bonuses, and depreciation of certain asset
categories and thus overstates the profit. Detailed expense
information, ie analyzing expense categories included in cost of
goods sold, is not included in the Latvian financial statements and
therefore excluded from the reformatted financizl statements.

Many different funds and reserves are maintained for a variety of
purposes with the result that almost all transactions require
transfers to be made to or from reserves in a manner which is not
consistent with IAS.

As noted above, the financial statements are not comparable as a
result of changes in format, asset revaluations which have been
made, and the rapid inflation during the period.

As a result, it is difficult to assess a Latvian enterprise based
on its financial statements. The only review of books carried out
is one by tax authorities to ensure the compliance and accuracy of
tax computations.

The financial statements provide evidence that books have been
maintained. They do not necessarily reflect a true and fair view
of the financial position of all of the enterprise's assets and
liabilities, or that the revenue and expenses represent
maintainable earnings.

The significant divergences from international accounting practice
would make it difficult for an unqualified auait opinion to be
rendered for the periods represented, if such an a'dit of the
financial statements was attemptead.

ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Ve set out below details of accounting policies for significant
classes cf asset and liability.




Fixed Assets

All state enterprises revalued their fixed assets at 1 January
1992, in accordance with Government regulations. The different
categoriec of asset were revalued according to published
revaluation coefficients to reflect the deterioration in value
caused by high rates of in{lation.

The following coefficients were generally used for classes of
assets purchased prior to 1989 for the 1 January 1992 revaluation:

Motor vehicles .
Instruments .
Machinery .
Imported Machinery .

Additional revaluations took place at 1 January 1993. The following
coefficients were determined by government regulation:

Assets purchased prior to 1990 10.0
Assets purchased during 1991 3.0
Assets purchased during 1992 -

Accumulated depreciation was adjusted in propertion to the change
in fixed asset values. The revaluation surplus was credited to the
statutory fund rather than being maintained in a separate reserve.

The method adopted for revaluations dces not reflect the IAS
practice on revaluation of assets, although in some way it reflects
the change in value caused by inflation. No account is taken of
the replacement cost of the assets, of their physical condition nor
of any changes in the remaining useful life of the asset.

Depreciation

Depreciation rates are on average lower than those used in Western
Europe and the US. Many items which would be considered small
replacements or consumables are included as assets and depreciated
over 1 or 2 years. Examples of the depreciation rates used are as
follows:

Asset Asset Life Annual Rate of
# of vears Depreciation

Buildings 84 t 100 1%
Trucks 7-14 7-14%
Computers 14 7%
Machinery

- city use 10

- country use 12




Office furniture with a value of less than 5,000 Latvian
Rubles (LVR) are included as fixed assets, but not
depreciated.

Depreciation is calculated monthly on a straight line basis
commencing in the month of acquisition.

The definition of a capital asset is any item exceeding a specified
cost. This threshold can be very low,for example 5,000 LVR for
dairies. As a rcsult, there a large number of very low value items
being included as assets rather than being expensed. These items
are usually included as part of inventory. 50% of their value is
written of when used, while the remaining 50% is written off on
disposal. Assets under construction are recorded separately and
are not depreciated until completed and put into operation.

Accounts Receivable

Accounts receivable are generally overstated. Amounts owed to the
enterprise are included at full value with no adjustment made for
bad or doubtful accounts. Until recently, the incidence of bad
debts was so low that such provisions were not required. Detailed
debtor ledgers are maintained and usually updated monthly, however
no credit control is exercised.

With the privatization of some entities, former state debts are
dismissed, leaving the enterprises to deal with government rather
than the original debtor entity.

Inventory

Stocks are valued at cost with no provision for diminution in value
or obsolescence. Many stock 1levels will be significantly
overstated in the accounts. Stock =2vels are further misstated
when consumables or small replacemen s are included in the asset
line.

Reserves

The statutory fund and other reserve funds are used to reflect a
variety of transactions. There are frequent transfers between
funds which would not be possible under IAS. Thus for example, the
purchase of a fixed asset requires the transfer of appropriated
funds from a fixed asset fund to the statutory fund. There is no
equity or share capital on the Latvian financial statements. For
purposes of this analysis, the reserves which appear equivalent to
equity have been classified as such on the reformatted financial
statements.




Subsidies

Subsidies received from the state are not reflected in the income
or profit/loss of the enterprise. The accounting treatment used
results in an increase in reserves reflecting the amount of
subsidies received even though the subsidies are for operating
costs. Under IAS such amounts would be treated as income.

Liabilities

The principal categories of liabilities included in balance sheets
are taxation and accounts payable. Liabilities for bank loans or
other long term loans essentially did not exist.

Accounts payable balances are principally for suppliers. As with
accounts receivables, any evaluation of the likelihood of payment
or the period in arrears was not made.

Financial Planning

There are currently no financial forecasts or budgets prepared by
the enterprises. This is partly because of the difficulty of
forecasting in such a rapidly changing economy and partly because
plans are considered to be a feature of the o0ld regime and
therefore no longer required. There is little understanding of the
importance of budgeting for the overall financial control of an
enterprise. Previously, all planning was centrally performed and
given to the enterprises.

Enterprises currently are in the process of preparing privatization
plans, and are preparing plans and future strategies for the first
time. Some enterprises are in the preliminary stages of such
planning, while others are more advanced and are being valued, and
are near submission of these plans to the Ministry of Agriculture.

Internal and Accounting Controls

A review of internal and accounting controls was not within the
scope of this review. All amounts presetted are management
representations.

Other Information

As previously stated, the enterprises have been operating in
rapidly changing market and economic conditiens. Extreme
inflationary conditions began in 1991 and continued through 1992.
Monthly inflation rates, based on the retail price index, were as
high as 56.4% in January of 1992, the 1991 annual rate was 262%.
In May of 1992, the inflation rate compared to May of 1991 was
639%. Inflation had diminished by December of 1992.




Similarly, currency values have also been fluctuating. Comparisons
to the US dollar from the Bank of Latvia are presented below.

USS expressed as LVR

Annual Rate 1991 0.05821
December 1991 103.5 Buy 120.55 Sell
October 1992 180 Buy 191 Sell




Notes to Financial Statements - Enterprise Specific
Priekule Dairy Enterprise

Note 1 - Significant Accounting Principles

As stated in more detail in the general notes and summary,
Priekule Dairy Enterprise (Priekule), 1like other Latvian
enterprises, during 1992 managed its accounts and financial
reporting according to Republic regulations and guidelines.
As such, Priekule did not employ a full accrual basis in
recording assets and liabilities or in the recognition of
income or realization of expenses during 1992 or 1991. The
handling of accounts may be considered a modified cash basis
with some accrual accounting in accordance with Latvian
accounting practices and regqgulations in effect during the
periods presented.

Until 1993, Prikule was managed by the Liepaja Central
Dairy Plant. This entity effectively controlled the day to
day management of Priekule. All payments, receipts and cash
balances were authorised and controlled by Liepaija.

The management at Priekule did not have relevant information
to prepare a Profit and Loss statement or a complete Balance
Sheet. The financial statements presented below have been
prepared by combining information held by both Priekule
and the Liepaja Central Dairy Plant.

Fixed Assets are carried at historical cost and depreciated
over the useful life (as prescribed by Latvian regulations)
using the straight line method. However, fixed assets were
revalued according to Latvian regulations on both January 1st
of 1992 and 1993. The basis and coefficients employed in
revaluation are discussed in more detail in the general notes
to the financial statements.

Land (property) values were not recorded on enterprise
financial statements in Latvia during any of the years
presented.

A cash flow statement is not included in the financial
statements presented, as the 1992 and 1991 Latvian accounts
were not conducive to its preparation. As discussed above,all
cash balances held in Latvian currency (LVR), hard currencies
(e.g. DM, USS), or other currencies (e.g. Russian, Georgian),
were held and controlled by Liepaja Central Dairy Plant, and
do not appear in the accounts of Priekule. Exchange gains and
losses are included in the accounts of the Central Dairy
Plant.




Note 2 - Accounts Receivable

Accounts Receivable for Priekule includes the following in
thousands of LVR at December 31st:

Type of Accounts Receivable 1992 1991

Trade Accounts Receivable 10,998 851

TOTAL 10,998 851

Priekule did not record any allowance for bad debts to reduce
the amount of the reported accounts receivable. According to
ménagement, they have approximately 2.5 million LVR in overdue
and uncollectible receivables from both enterprises and the
Russian army. They have represented that all other receivables
will be collectible. During 1992, nearly all sales were
credit sales paid directly to the bank account of the Liepaja
Central Dairy Plant. From 1992,approximately 40% of sales are
credit, the other 60% is paid in cash directly to Priekule.
Under new regulations, Latvian enterprises are allowed to
collect fines from debtors for late payments.

3 - Inventories
Inventories appear to be accounted for on an average price
basis. An allowance for loss or spoilage is not recorded by

the enterprise, nor dces the carrying amount of inventory
necessarily reflect its net realizable value of the inventory.

4 - Fixed Assets

Fixed .assets are generally carried at historical cost, as
previously noted, except for the revaluations which have
occurred in 1992 and 1993. Depreciation is expensed and
accumulated on a straight line basis using the asset category
useful lives as prescribed by regulations (see general notes
for examples). Typically, the useful life of an asset, under
Latvian regulations, is significantly longer than the 1life
considered appropriate by Western standards.

The following table displays the gross book value of fixed
assets, accumulated depreciation, and net book value at
December 31, 1991, after revaluation at January 1, 1992, and
at December 31, 1992 for Priekule. Amounts are expressed as
thousands of LVRs.




ﬂ 12/31/91 1/1/92 12/31/927!
Fixed Asset - Gross 2,538 9,880 10,523
Less: Accunmulated

Depreciation 1,591 6,236 6,384
Net Fixed Assets 947 3,644 4,139

In the fixed asset category as presented on the financial

statements, apartment buildings are included. Under the
privatization law, such buildings will be removed from the
assets of the enterprise and ©privatized separately.

Consequently, the net book value of assets presented in these
financial statements may overstate the net book value of the
assets to be privatized as the dairy enterprise. Included in
the fixed assets of Priekule at December 1992 is a building
with a gross value of LVR 5.01 million and a depreciated value
of LVR 3.94 million.

Also see Note 8 regarding restitution claims.

Note 5 - Taxes

Priekule is subject to various taxes as an enterprise under
Latvian regulations. The major taxes and the basis of the
taxes assessed are outlined below. We have been advised that
turnover tax was applicable only from October 1992. Income tax
was not levied. Again, all tax payments were administered by
the Liepaja Central Dairy Plant.

Type of Tax Tax Base Percent of Base
Turnover Tax Sales (Oct’92) 6
Income Tax Profit (n/a)......... 35
Charity Tax Profit 10
Other & Property Taxes Profit 5
Social Tayx Payroll 37
Note 6 - Credit Disclosures
;{ Priekule’s financial statements include only current

liabilities, which include taxes payable, trade payables to
suppliers, accrued salaries, and other rents, etc. They do
not represent to have any bank loans or long term debt, which
is consistent with other Latvian enterprises, due to the

banking system which currently does not extend such types of
credit.




However, it should be noted, that Priekule and Liepaja had
inter-enterprise balances which were transferred to reserves
at year end. As a result, the extent of any potential
liability was not disclosed. Additionally, neither Priekule’s
share of government credits (granted directly to Liepaja) nor
any interest component are disclosed in the accounts of
Priekule.

Note 7 - Equity Disclosures

Priekule is currently a state enterprise. Equity on the
balance sheet has been segregated to show separately the
amount of equity which is the result of increases realized due
to fixed asset revaluation at January 1, 1992, and the total
amount of equity associated with capital, retained earnings,
and perhaps previous revaluations.

As noted previously, an inter-entity account between Priekule
and Liepaja was used to clear transactions between the two
entities. At year end this account was cleared to reserves. We
have not been able to determine the exact nature of this
account nor quantify the balance included in reserves for the
years ended December 1991 and 1992.

Note 8 - contingent Liabilities

As is the case with all Latvian enterprises involved in
privatization, potential claims may exist in regard to
restitution to the pre-1941 1land or building owners.
According to Priekule’s management,the site is on private
land.There has been one claim by a former owner who apparently
had significant interests in the entire town. Management
advise us that the municipal council has already made
arrangements to compensate the claimant in this case. No
liability reserves for potential future claims have been
included in the financial statements.

Note 9 ~ Other Notes

As stated in the general notes to the financial statements,
Latvia has been in a transitional environment. Priekule’s
operations and therefore financial statements have been
impacted by such pressures as periods of high inflation,
significant demand shifts due to price 1liberalization and
lifting of subsidies, dramatic policy and regulation changes
involved in the shift from socialism to capitalism, and
fluctuating currency wvaluations. As such, the financial
statements presented have significant limitations as to
analytical value in comparing between time periods and between
enterprises. The notes have merely presented and outlined the
major factors and conditions underlying the financial
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PRIEKULE DAIRY ENTERPRISE

Forecast Profit & Loss Details for 1993

LVR (in thousands)

Year ended 1stqt 2nd qtr 3rd qtr 4th qt Year ended

Dec. 1992 1993 1993 1993 1993 Dec. 1993
Gross Profit 28,395 -9,469 9,228 4,346 -8,054 -3,949
Butter -22,022 -15,574 5,650 2,567 -3,507 -10,864
Cheese 48,805 8,660 3,341 1,671 -4,429 9,243
Skim Milk & Whey 1,612 -2,555 237 108 -118 -2,328
Other income
Less Other Expenses 23,941 3,990 4,205 4,113 3,124 15,432
Net Other Income
Profit (Loss) 4,454 -13,459 5,023 233 -11,178 -19,381
Taxes 1,659 0 1,758 82 0 0
Net Profit (Loss) 2,895 -13,459 3,265 151 -11,178 -19,381
Note:

year ended 1st qt 2nd qtr 3rd qt 4th q year ended
Other Expenses: Dec. 1992 1993 1993 1993 1993 Dec. 1993
Interest 13,941 1,890 882 882 882 4,536
Selling Costs 10,000 2,100 3,323 3,231 2,242 10,896
TOTAL 23,941 3,990 4,205 4,113 3,124 15,432




PRIEKULE DAIRY ENTERPRISE

Forecast Profit & Loss Details for 1993
LVR {in thousands)

Year ended 1st qtr 2nd qtr 3rd qtr 4th qtr Year ended
BUTTER Dec. 1992 1993 1993 1993 1993 Dec. 1993

Revenue 235,543 63,630 94,163 85,568 38,964 282,325

Less Turnover Tax 4] 3,817 5,649 5,134 2,337 16,939
Less Production Expenses

Milk Purchases 240,758 50,229 81,255 76,185 38,988 246,667
Transportation 7,364 3,246 2,691 2,523 1,291 9,751
Heating 3,490 1,100 1,496 1,403 739 4,738
Consumables 3,919 782 1,496 1,403 718 4,399
Wages 102 208 522 490 251
Social Security 245 81 133 125 64
Repairs & Maintenance 279 245 133 125 64
Administration 1,408 988 788 739 378

Total Production Expenses 257,565 56,878 88,513

Gross Profit Butter -22,022 2,935

1

Note: Actual 1st quarter 1993 production expense figures used




PRIEKULE DAIRY ENTERPRISE

Forecast Profit & Loss Details for 1993
LVR {in thousands)

Year ended 1st qtr 2nd qtr 4th qtr  Year ended
CHEESE Dec. 1992 1993 1993 1993  Dec. 1993

Revenue 115,346 33,968 55,685 49,210 194,548

Less Turnover Tax 2,038 3,341 2,952 11,672
Less Production Expenses

Milk Purchases 23,578 48,052 49,241 170,456
Transportation 1,224 1,591 1,631 6,088
Heating 1,228 885 933 3,958
Consumables 244 885 907 2,948
Wages 634 309 317 1,579
Social Security 247 79 80 487
Repairs & Maintenance 525 79 80 765
Adninistration 668 466 477 2,092

Total Production Expenses 52,344 53,666 188,372

Gross Profit Cheese 0 -7,408 -5,496

Note: Actual 1st quarter 1993 production expense figures used




PRIEKULE DAIRY ENTERPRISE

Forecast Profit & Loss Details for 1993
LVR {in thousands)

Year ended 2nd qtr 4th qtr Year ended
SKIM MILK & WHEY Dec. 1992 1993 1993 Dec. 1993

Revenue 17,723 3,954 1,311 11,425

Less Turnover Tax 237 78 684
Less Production Expenses:

Milk Purchases 3412 11,170
Transportation 113 262
Heating 63 147
Consumables 63 146
Wages 22 65
Social Security 6 18
Repairs & Maintenance 6 13
Administration 33 106

Total Production Expenses 3717
Gross Profit Milk & Whey

Note: Actual 1st quarter 1993 production expense figures used




NOTES TO THE FORECAST PROFIT AND LOSS

The profit and loss and balance sheet forecasts have been calculated by combining the
information available at Priekule and Liepaja Central Dairy Plant (Liepaja).

Prior to 1993, cash and bank accounts were centrally administered by Liepaja.
Effectively, an inter-entity account was used with the balance, usually a payable, being
transferred to the Statute Fund at year end.

Items not disclosed in the Latvian Statutory profit and loss or balance shee:
@ amounts due to Liepaja principally for payments to milk supplier. These amounts are

not disclosed as liabilities as the amounts are transferred to reserves (statute fund at year
end).

The undisclosed liability at 31 December 1991 and 1992 was LVR 86,000, LVR 25
million respectively. Unusually, for the Ist quarter of 1993, a receivable was due from
Liepaja of LVR 21.8 million for dairy products purchased by Liepaja. This receivable

has been disclosed.

® Priekule’s proportional share of repayable loan credits received by Liepaja are not
disclosed in the balance sheet. Interest payments have not been accounted for in the profit
and loss. The amounts not disclosed in the statutory Latvian accounts were as follows:

1991 1993 1st
LVR'000 quarter
LVR’000

Credit amount 1,154 8,401
Interest 11 1,890
Interest rate 1% 90%

The interest rate at June 1993 of 42% has been used to estimate the interest expense
applicable for the remainder of the year of LVR 882 per quarter.
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® A selling and administration fee is charged by Liepaja at a rate of 2.3 % on total
production costs. The amounts not disclosed in the statutory account were as follows:

1991 LVR 2.4 million, 1992 LVR 10 million , st quarter 1992 LVR 2.1 million.

I
'

A fee rate of 2.3 % has been used to estimate the fee payable in each quarter of 1993,

® Government subsidies received in 1991 of LVR 4.7 million were not disclosed in the
Latvian statutory accounts. The subsidy ceased to be payable after 1991.

® From October 1992, Liepaja was subject to turnover tax. Priekule’s share of that tax
has not been included in the accounts.




ASSUMPTIONS

Milk processing and production

The following table providcs an analysis of milk processing and production levels for
1992 and 1993:

” 1992 1993 %
change
Minimum level of milk processing 153 88 (42)
normally during January (tons)
Maximum ievel of milk processing 274 145 47)
_ﬁuring period May/June (tons)
Milk purchases 1st quarter (tons) 13,380 6,336 (53)
Butter production ist quarter (tons) 500 222 (56)
Cheese production Ist quarter (tons) 249 157 37
Skim milk and whey production (tons) 1157 747 (35)
Butter sales 1st quarter (tons) 473 201 (57)
Cheese sales 1st quarter (tons) 255 183 (28)
Skim milk and whey sales (tons) 1,157 543 (53)

The downward trend in milk purchases, and production of all dairy products reflected
in the first quarter of 1993 is expected to continue for the remainder of 1993.

We anticipate that total milk purchases will fall by 47% from last year’s purchase of
62,516 tons to approximately 33,000 tons.

Prior years trends of higher milk purchzses and production during the summer months
is expecied to continue, despite the significant drop in prices paid to milk suppliers.




Quarterly milk purchases and production figures for 1993 are anticipated to be as

follows:
QUARTER | MILK BUTTER CHEESE SKIM
PURCHASES | PRODUCED PRODUCED MILK/WHEY
(TONS) (TONS) (TONS) PRODUCED

h (TONS)
1st quaiter 6336 224 157 474

2nd quarter 10890 363 260 1318
3rd quarter 5900 330 260 1203
4th quarter 5410 150 230 437
Full year 32536 1067 729 2607
1992 62516 2454 1039 7705

Production costs

I¢ is assumed production costs will remain in the same proportion to total costs as for the
year ended 31 December 1992, with the exception of milk purchase cost and heating
costs.

roduction costs as a percentage of sales are estimated to be 94%, 94%, 97% and
109% for the 1st,2nd,3rd and 4th quarters respectively.

Production costs for cheese, butter and skim milk/whey production for the year ended
31 December 1992 can be analyzed as follows:




ASSUMPTIONS
NOTE 3

PRIEKULE DAIRY ENTERPRISE

PRODUCTION COSTS
LVR (in thousands)

*Total Production Costs Costs as % of Total
Costs 1992 1tstqtr 1993 1992 1stqtr 1993
Milk 439,329 77,039 92.11 87.04
Transportation 15,129 4,470 3.15 5.05
Heating 5,240 2,328 1.8 2.63
Consumables 5,409 1,026 1.8 1.16
Wages 3,121 856 0.6 0.97
Social Security 1,145 333 0.2 0.38
Repairs 1,781 770 0.2 0.87
Administration 5,813 1,685 0.9 1.9
Total 476,972 88,507 100.00  100.00

*Total production costs for all products including those not sold




ASSUMPTIONS
NOTE 3

PRIEKULE DAIRY ENTERPRISE

Production Costs
LVR {in thousands)

Total
CHEESE BUTTER SKIM MILK & WHEY Total Production
Production Costs .
Costs 1992 % qtrl 93 % 1992 % qtr1 93 % 1992 % qtr1 93 % Costs 1992 1stqtr 1993
Milk 75,931 18.08 23,578 30.61 323,721 77.09 50,229 65.20 20,279 4.83 3,232 4.20 419,931 77,039
: Transportation 4,607 31.61 1,224 27.38 9,967 68.39 3,246 72.62 0 0 14,574 4,470
iHeating 1,729 38.15 1,228 52.75 2,602 57.4% 1,100 47.25 202 4.46 0 4,532 2,328
E Consumables 1,790 36.29 244 23.78 3,143 63.71 782 76.22 0 0 4,933 1,026
Wages 1,663 46.39 634 74.07 1,814 50.91 208 24.30 97 2.72 14 1.63 3,563 856
Social Security 607 59.68 247 7417 374 36.77 81 24.32 37 3.34 5 1.51 1,017 333
Repairs 931 58.33 525 68.18 664 41.60 245 31.82 1 0.63 0 1.596 770
Administration 2,302 49.33 6G8 39.64 2,279 48.83 988 58.64 88 1.89 29 1.72 4,667 1,685
Total 89,55:1 E_ 347 344,564 56.878 20,704 3,280 454, 822 88,507




Specific Costs

® Milk Purchase Costs

The purchase price of all three grades of milk rose significantly in 1992 due to inflation.
During the last three months of 1992 milk purchase prices rose from an average (of all

three grades) of eight rubles per ton in August to 17.3 rubles per ton in November.

The movement in the actual and estimate purchase price of the three grades of milk
during 1963 is detailed below (in Latvian rubles per ton):

QUALITY | 1-15
APRIL

Highest
Grade 1
H Grade 11

During the winter months we anticipate the contraction in the supply of milk by
producers to raise milk purchase prices to April 1993 levels (an average of 14 rubles per
ton).

® Transport

Transport costs include principally vehicle hire costs, driver wages and collection station
repairs. Although we anticipate fuel costs to fall, we believe as a percentage of total
costs, supply costs will remain at approximately 3.1%.

® Heating

Heating costs have been assumed to increase to 3.0% of total costs in the last quarter of
1993.

® Sales

As noted above, we anticipate both butter and cheese production to fall by approximately
47%. We have assumed, however, that butter sales will be 36 % above production levels,
as a result of increased marketing and promotion. OQur aim is to reduce our stock of
butter held in warehouses by year end to acceptable levels. Cheese sales to year end
should approximate production levels.




Current sales prices are assumed for the remainder of the year. These are

Butter . 180 rubles/kg + 6% turnover tax = 191 rubles/kg
Cheese 175 rubles/kg + 6% turnover tax = 185 rubles/kg
Skim Milk/Whey 3 rubles/kg (+ 5% turnover tax) = 3 rubles/kg

6. No adjustments have been made for inflation effects.
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PRIEKULE DAIRY ENTERPRISE
Balance Sheet (Bilance) 31 Dec 1991 31 Dec 1992

UNAUDITED

{ Jan 1992

Line

Nos. Assels (Aklivs)

010 Fixed Assets

020 Intangible Assets

030 Assets under construction

035 Assets not ready for use

040 Long term investments

050 Current year profit/offset 500 or 510
065 Amounts due from members

070 Otherreceivables

080 Current year loss/offset 500 or 510

9.880|

090 Total -~ check

100 Raw Materials and consumables
110 Workin progress

120 Workin progress

130 Prepaid expenses

140 Finished goods

150 Finished goods

160 Otherinventory

170 Total

171 Goods in transit

200 Cash on hand

210 Cashin bank

220 Hard currency accounls
230 Other bank accounts
240 Other bank accountis
250 Shortterm investments
270 Bankloan moniesrec'd
300 Trade accts receivable
310 Bills of exchange

320 Payments in advance
325 Tax overpayments rec'ble
330 Other debtors

340 Employee loans

350 Social welfare expenses
360 Other receivables

370 Totatl - check

390 Total - check

The accompanying notes fo the financial statements are an integral part of this document
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PRIEKULE DAIRY ENTERPRISE

Line
Nos.

400
410
420
430
440
445
450
460
470
480
490
500
520

600
610
620
630
640
650
660

700
710
720
730
735
740
750
760
765
770
780

800

Revaivation the

Liabilities (Pasivs)

Statutory fund

Accum depreciation
Depreciafion consumables
Investment financing
Other payables
Obligations to mr:mbers
Financing reserve
Vaccation accrual
Amortization & Repairs
Payments received in advance
Unrealised profit on sales
or 510 Profit

Total — check

Short term payables
Medium term payables
Long term payables
Overdue loans!

Short term loans

Long term loans

Total - check

Accts payable — goods
Bills of exchange
Payments received in advance
Taxes payable
Privatization expenses
Social pernsion tax
Accured salaries

Other payables
Employee loans

Other

Total — check

Total — check

31 Dec 1991

31 Dec 1992

UNAUDITED

1 Jan 1992

2,231
1,591

65

17

31,426
6,384

107

70

4,928
6,236

]

1o

[ [=]

3,542

21

48,566

78

644

ik

Fixed asset movement
Accumulated Dep
Difference Net Assels
Statutory Fund movement

-
0
N

o]

F

The accompanying notes to the financial statements are an integral part of this document

Calculation
7,342
4,645
2,697

97

2,6




UNAUDITED

PRIEKULE DAIRY ENTERPRISE

Income Statement (Finansu Rezultanti) 1992 1992 1991 1991

Line Revenues Costs Revenues Costs

Nos.

010 Revenue from goods sold 383,424 43,320

020 Turnover tax

030 Sales less tax — check 383,424 43,320

040 Product and period costs | | 350,233] 45,953

050 Profit — check 33,191 (2,633)

060 Other sales resulits ‘
070 Non-sales operations 1,161 4,761 1,150 |
071 Investment iIncome ‘
080 Profit and loss totals 33,191 1,161 2,128 1,150 |
090 Net profit — check 32,030 978 ‘
100 Non taxable income

101 Value of stock sold

] Use of Profits Statement 1992 1992
i (Pelnas jzlietosana)

200 Income tax expense
210 To reserves

220 To capital funds
221 To the investmemt fund 221 Is subset of 220
230 To dividends

240 To previous year's losses
250 Donations

260 Other
Uses of profits — check o
Use of Profits Statement 1991 1991

{Pelnas 1zlietosana)

200 Income tax expense

210 To reservas

220 Production Development
230 Soclal development

240 Employee bonus/incentives
250 Donations

260 Other

270 Other

Uses of profits — check

10

The accompanying notes to the financial statements are an integral part of this decumaent,




PRIEKFIX.XLS

Priekule Dairy FIXED ASSETS

Measuring purchase deprec. deprec. deprec.

Instruments price rate per month
Scale 500 1984 10837 12.5 10837 0
Scale 500 1986 10220 12.5 8943 1278 106
Scale 500 1990 6175 12.5 2316 3859 64

Milk meter 1989 349809 8.4 117535 232274 2448
Oscoligraph C 155 1988 18668 11.6 10827 " 7841 180
Milk meter 1988 349805 8.4 146919 202887 2448
Other

Total 1960-1990 858071 402193 455877 5563

furnace equipment

Electric station 1987 82300 . 30616 51684
Boiler 1971 252500 . 194425 58075
Boiler 1985 114678 . 38532 76146
Other
Total 1971-1987| 619815 349958 269857

Production facilities

Krute creamery 153356 . 153356 0
Dunika creamery 1166830 . 952133 214697
Gavieze creaery ~ 1937 1450365 . 0

Priekule workshop A ﬁim&@ _- 2| o 51—17255

Priekule dairy 78389535 1. 6845860| 1543675

Other | | 5694776 | T 4403062| 1291722
Total 11910-1990] 17407302 2] 14109723] 3297586

equipment
water tower 39673 : 6506 33167|
water treatment __ 2648854} 2251526} 22556

chimney | 1966{ 630000 7340200

other 783964 746430 412306
Total 4102491 3344662 757829

Office equipm;:nt and other not related to the production

Wood procesing. 1985 37930 24275 13658
Carbonated water e. 1986 19587 . 17148 2449
Tape recorder 1983 1465 11727 2932
Other 253876 94873 145798
Tatal 1978-1993 312858 148023 161834




PRIEKFIX.XLS

purchase

deprec.

deprec.

book

deprec.

Transport facilities

price

rate

value

per month

Tractor

533339

13.7

73067

460272

6088

Electrical forklift

135590

12.5

67795

677956

1412

Truck for milk tranp,

144623

0.4

144623

0

Asenisation truck

125496

0.4

106822

18674

Minibus

76238

11.8

17992

58246

Other

Total

3078316

1724752

13563564

dwelling houses

should not be included

in balance sheet for privatisation purposes

total:

5013959

1068174

3945785

l;r—édyction eauipm.

VV?Iding mashine

247

Fbridgerator |
Laboratory equipm.

44882

21838

fabaratory table

28864

other

total

315844

254032

Calculators

Tota!

Equipment

for processing milk. |

per year

separator A-1

120869

48227

72642

1339

Pasterizing equipm.
separator 10 000 I/h

202387

44643

157744

1382896

1382896

0

Butter line

17452811

11361780

6091030|

Compresor

277500

276390

1110

Coolingsistem

122218

30432

91786

Milk tank 30 cub.m

1876€73

1745306

131367

Milkpatur.line

6471044

2407228

4063816

others

30535773

28574634

4743591

132216

Total

58442170

45871536

15353086

33784C

'TOTAL ALL ASSETS

84915540, ..

... 56120554

. 21577443

... 394729




PRIEKFIX.XLS

Fixed assets on January 1,1993
value deprec

Priekule dairy

bookvalue

Buildings

17407309

14109723

3297586

Facilities

4102491

3344662

757829

Equipment

65150233

49185625

15964608

Transport

3078316

1724752

1353564

Inventory

628702

402056

226646

total

90367051

68766818

21600233
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COUNTRY DATA - LATVIA

GNP per capita in USD in 1991

General
Arez (square km)
Population, 1990 mid-year (thousands)
Growth rate, 1980-90 (percent)
Density, 1990 (per square km)

Social Indicators
Population characteristics
Crude birth rate, 1990 (per 1,000)
Crude death rate, 1990 (per 1,000)
Health
Infant mortality rate, 1990 (per 1,000 live)
Life expectancy at birth, 1990

Gross Domestic Product

Current Prices
(million rubles)

Real Growth Rates
(annual % change)

1990

1991

1990

1991

GDP at market prices
Total consumption 8.226.0
Private consumption 6,888.5
Government consumption 1,337.5

Gross domestic investment 4,057.0
Fixed investment 3.337.9
Change in stocks 719.1

Net Exports -82.0

12,201.0

28,665.0
16,198.0
13,249.6
2,948.4
9,669.5

N.A.
N.A.

2,797.5

-3.5

N.A.
N.A.
N.A.
N.A.
N.A.

-8.3

N.A.
N.A.
N.A.
N.A.
N.A.

Output, Employment and Productivity

GDPin 1991

Employment in 1991

GDP per worker

min RUR % of total

thousands

% of total

rubles % of average

Agriculture
Industry
Services

5,739.0 20.0
13,907.0 48.5
9,019.0 315
Total/Average

28,665.0 100.0

226.6
433.6
736.3

1,396.8

16.2

31.0
52.8

100.0

23,326
32.073
12,244

1234
156.3
59.7

20.522 » 100.0

Source: Larvia: Transition to a Market Economy., The World Bank, 1993




Productivity Comparison, 1989

Democratic Republic
Commodity Finland Latviz USSR of Germany

Grain (quintals/ha) 29.3 235 19.0 44.0
Potatoes (quintals/ha) 219.0 155.0 20.0 233.6
Sugar Beet (quintals/ha) 320.3 294.0 249.0 302.3
Milk (kg/cow) 5,246.0 3,636.0 2,600.0 3,821.0
Eggs (units/hen) N.A. 219.0 N.A. 2200
Feed conversion (pigs) 32 9.8 N.A. N.A.
Inputs
Labor/100 hectares 1.9 114 N.A. 8.2
N/ha 100.0 91.5 N.A. 141.3

P/ha 30.0 71.4 N.A. 56.4
K/ha 56.0 123.8 N.A. 94.4

N.A. = not available
Note: N =nitrogen; P =phosphorus; K = potassium

Source: Latvia: Transition to a Market Economy, The World Bank, 1993
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PERCENTAGES OF MILX PURCHASES
BY "KOMBINAT" DAIRY COOPERATIVES
{in metric tons)

% Change
Name of Enterprise 1992-1991

Tons
1991

%
Total

Tons
1992

%
Total

Riga -31.84%
Valmiera -30.21%
Liepaja -15.68%
Rezekne -36.04%
Daugavpils -40.53%
Jelgava -23.43%
Tukums -21.72%
Jekabpils -37.42%
Bauskas -28.09%
Ventspils -32.46%
Agrofirma "Koknese" -36.36%
Kraslava -34.63%
Aizpute -35.76%
Preili -30.26%
Saldus -25.94%

122,599
289,334
140,399
264,892
67,948
146,615
65,983
60,437
79,058
28,703
50,152
60,051
36,380
50,580
55,363

TOTAL -30.03% 1,518,494

8.07%
19.05%
9.25%
17.44%
4.47%
9.66%
4.35%
3.98%
5.21%
1.89%
3.30%
3.95%
2.40%
3.33%
3.65%

83,563
201,927
118,388
169,427

40,407
112,266

51,654

37.821

56,852

19,387

31,918

39,255

23,369

35,277

41,001

100.00% 1,062,512

7.86%
19.00%
11.14%
15.95%

3.80%
10.57%

4.86%

3.56%

5.35%

1.82%

3.00%

3.69%

2.20%

3.32%

3.86%

100.00%

Source: The Ministry of Agriculture of the Republic of Latvia
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1.0 SUMMARY OF ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION IN THE REPUBLIC OF LATVIA

This chapter summarizes the current environmental protection
laws and practices in the Republic of Latvia based on reading of
Latvia: A Transition to a Market Economy, A World Bank country
Study, The International Bank for Reconstruction and Development,
1993 and discussions with personnel from seven dairies in the
country, three Environmental Protection Committee (EPC) personnel
in Headquarters, three Regional EPC personnel, and two local
municipal treatment plant personnel.

The majority of the comments made in this entire report are
based on translations (from both Latvian and Russian) of either
written or oral comments. Because of the potential disparity in
interpretation of questions and answers through the translation
process, the discussion that follows should be read with that in
mind.

1.1 Environmental Institutions

The Environmental Protection Committee (EPC) was created by
the Latvian Supreme Council on June 2, 1990 (after the self-
declaration of independence). The Supreme Council both appoints
the Chairman of and elects members of the EPC. At present, the
Chairman is Indulis Emsis. The EPC was placed outside of the
Council of Ministers structure (but at the same 1level); the
rationale being that the importance of the environment should not
be lost amid economic priorities. The EPC will be incorporated
into the parliament shortly after the June 1993 elections,
including the selection of a minister to head the ministry. as
such, the future of the EPC is difficult to predict. It is
expected that few if any of the top officials in the EPC will
remain in their existing positions. It is likely, however, that
staff 1level employees, especially in regicnal offices, will
maintain similar responsibilities. Nonetheless, the discussion
which follows describes the environmental laws, EPC policy, and
general environmental protection attitudes. The reader is warned
that significant changes may occur upon entrance of the EPC into
parliament.

The EPC is divided into technical and enforcement
subdivisions. The technical section is headed by the first vice
chairman and sets policy and standards while 'the enforcement
section is headed by the chief inspector and implements the legal
mandates in the field, including levying penalties and taxes. Nine
regional committees and other state institutions assist with the
implementation of these requirements.

Environmental organizations who assist the EPC to develop,
implement, and enforce the regulations include; the Research
Center, the Analytic and Information Center, the Forest and Hunting
Inspection Committee, the Water Resource Use and Inspectorate, the




Water Reservoirs and Mineral Resources Inspectorate, and several
nature reserves. The Hydrogeological and Meteorclogical Institute,
a Soviet designed group with the best monitoring capabilities in
Latvia, performs independent monitoring and maintains a database.
The EPC coordinates many activities with this group, but has no
administrative control over it.

The nine regional EPCs are responsible for issuing permits for
projects, enforcing regulations, and providing public information
services. Latvia has 26 local government administrative units, so
each regional committee has about 3 local government units. Each
regional committee has 5 subdivisions: (1) an inspectorate (the
largest group); (2) a sampling and testing laboratory; (3) an
expert group for performing environmental impact assessments
prepatory to the issuance of permits for new or expanded
facilities; (4) a cadastre that catalogs statistics on emissions,
natural resource use, volumes, etc., and (5) support services.

The regional EPCs are primarily geared towards determining the
pollution charge 1level, to inspect for compliance, to impose
penalties for exceeding limitations, and to negotiate a compliance
schedule to achieve the necessary reductions in emissions. The
ultimate sanction, closing down an enterprise, has not yet been
exercised.

1.2 Environmental Laws

Since 1990, the Supreme Council of the Republic of Latvia has
enacted several laws governing environmental protection:

] The Law on the Environmental Protection Committee (June
1990) establishes the Environmental Protection Committee
(EPC) as the executive and oversight authority for all
environmental protection and natural resource use in
Latvia and is accountable of and subordinate to the
Supreme Council. The EPC thereby formulates, implements,
and oversees unified policy for environmental protection
and natural resource use. This law also grants the EPC
authority to monitor without hinderance to assess
compliance with environmental laws. Finally, this law
sets out the requirement that the EPC must prepare an
account of its activities at least annually and submit
this report to the Supreme Council.

The Law on State Environmental Impact Assessments
(October 1990) establishes and regulates the
environmental impact process in Latvia. Environmental
Impact Assessments are a prerequisite for the financing
of any state industrial project. If the assessment
determines that the project directly or indirectly
impacts, or in the future, may impact the surrounding
environment, public health, or living conditions, state




institutions of authority and administration will
determine the fate of the facility.

. The Environmental Protection Committee Inspectorate
Regulation (October 1990) vests authority in EPC
inspectors to verify, without impediment, the observation
of the environmental protection law, for Dboth
environmental protection and natural resource use, and
provides enforcement powers in these inspectors to hailt
activities that violate the law and to punish violators.

L] The Law on Natural Resource and Pollution Charges
(December 1990) establishes charges for the use of
natural resources and the release of effluent within
standards and enforces sanctions against those who exceed
permitted limitations or whose releases exceed the
standards. Funds collected from these taxes and fines,
of which 25 percent goes to the Republic of Latvia
national budget and 75 percent goes to the local
municipal government budget, must be used for activities
related to environmental protection.

] The Law of Environmental Protection (August 1991)
delegates primary responsibility to the EPC regarding
environmental protection, natural resource use,

environmental impact assessment procedures, standards,
permits, and public information and sets out goals for
the protection of the environment and the rational use of
natural resources.

At this time, these regulations identify overall goals rather
than specific operative limitations and requirements. The EPC and
the Supreme Council are considering new laws to improve
implementability of the requirements and to make the laws more
technically defensible. For example, a new hazardous waste law was
recently enacted, setting out specific requirements for wastes
exhibiting corrosive, reactive, ignitable, or toxic properties.

Latvia has also instituted specific regulations for water use,
water use permits, wastewater discharge permits, and wastewater
discharge standards which were confirmed with the Latvia EPC
Council on November 29, 1991 (Resolution Number 3). These
regulations, which were implemented starting in 1992, limit the use
of water and set maximum allowable discharge standards to Latvian
waters (i.e., water gquality standards).

Regardless of the quality of the existing regulations, changes
to all environmental laws will occur, if nothing else than to
revise the administrative procedures of the law (i.e., now being
within the parliament).

Unfortunately, at this time, privatization efforts have paid
little or no attention to environmental issues that may be of
concern at these enterprises. Similarly, the EPC, aware of the




economic hardship, has been willing to forego strict enforcement of
environmental standards. The EPC waives fines at enterprises on a
regular basis as 1long as the enterprise is aware of the
environmental problems at its plant and is willing to do "whatever
it takes" to improve its situation with the exception of making a
capital investment. Enterprises that do not appear to care about
the future of the environment typically are required to pay fines,
hopefully to instill a sense of urgency in the protection of the
environment.

1.3 Environmental Standards

Latvia uses the water standards of the former Soviet Union and
has added a limited number of its own national standards. The
Soviet standards are more stringent than European Community or
United States standards; however, enforcement of these standards
was minimal in the Soviet Union. The setting of unrealistic
limitations led to general disregard for environmental laws and
regulations. Over 2,000 water quality indicators were applied in
the old Soviet system. 1Individual industrial effluent limitations
are to be based on manual calculations taking into account the
characteristics of the receiving stream. Discussions with dairy
personnel indicate that in most cases, rather than setting site-
specific limitations, the EPC uses a National set of effluent
limitations, per the EPC Council Resolution Number 3 (November 29,
1991). These effluent limitations for pollutants associated with

dairies, along with National water quality criteria applicable in
the receiving waters, are provided in Table 1.1. These limits were
developed by the EPC using both the eld Soviet standards and more
recent European Community (EC) standards as a basis.

Table 1.1. Pollutant Limitations and Water Quality
Criteria Applicable to Dairies

WATER QUALITY EFFLUENT
CRITERIA LIMITATION

PARAMETER (mg/1) (mg/1)
Suspended Solids - 15

Chlorides
Sulfates

2
°

Biochemical Oxygen Demand

Chemical Oxygen Demand

Nitrate Nitrogen

Nitrite Nitrogen

IV o [0 [w o |-

Ammonia Nitrogen




9 Phosphates 0.25 2.5
10 | Anionic Surfactants 0.1 0.5
11 | Nonionic Surfactants 0.1 2
12 | Fats - 5
13 | 0il Products 0.05 0.5

Similarly, air standards were adopted from old Soviet
regulations and apply to over 500 pollutants. For dairies,
emission monitoring is not routinely performed, but dairies are
required to pay taxes for air pollution from boilers, furnaces, and
ammonia refrigeration systems based on the quantity of chemicals
used or oils burned. Limitations on the guantity of pollutants
that can be emitted are contained in air permits. These gquantities
are based on the chemicals used or burned rather than on actual
emission monitoring results.

1.4 Enforcement

As identified in Section 1.1, permits are issued by regional
EPCs. The permits stipulate effluent limits for major pollutants
and are subject to revision every year. When a facility does not
have control equipment to meet emission standards, temporary limits
are established through negotiations on the basis of the best
possible utilization of the technology currently in place at the
plant.

Natural resource and pollution taxes and fines were introduced
in the Law on Natural Resource and Pollution Charges. The taxes
are based on the use of natural resources (e.g., surface water and
groundwater) and the pollution of air and water according to the
quantity used or discharged. As of June 1993, the specific tax
rates for natural resource use are provided in Table 1.1. Tax
rates for pollution are provided in Table 1.2. Note that rates for
natural resource use and pollution emission are subject to change.
For example, the rates provided in Tables 1..1 and 1.2 denote a ten-
fold increase effective January 1, 1993.

Fines have to paid by enterprises if permit 1limits are
exceeded and amount to three times the fees and. are paid to the
State Environmental Protection Fund from after tax profit. Seventy
percent of the fines go to the regional EPC and thirty percent go
to the National EPC. In 1991, about 6 million Russian Rubles
accrued to the fund.

At present, there is no National requirement for industries in
Latvia to perform independent sampling and analysis of emissions.
This work 1is performed by the EPC, and its subordinate
organizations, and the Hydrogeological and Meteorological Agency.




There are, however, some Regional EPCs that have required
industrial facilities to monitor wastewater discharges and report
results to the Regional EPC. Latvia dces not have National
sampling and analysis protocols that must be followed. Rather, the
EPC will occasionally compare its laboratory results with
enterprise analytical results and if large discrepancies are noted,
the EPC will try to determine the cause of these problems. Quite
often, the problem is traced to the analytical procedures, however,
again it should be noted, that with the poor state of the economy,
laboratory reagents are difficult to purchase, making laboratory
work less reliable.

Dairies that discharge wastewater to a municipal (e.g., City)
treatment plant are subject to the requirements of the treatment
plant personnel rather than the EPC personnel. In these cases, the
City staff issues a permit to the dairy that identifies thz volume
of wastewater permitted to be discharged and the allowable nature
and concentration of the wastewater. Sampling may be conducted by
the EPC and/or the City and may also require self-monitoring on the

part of the dairy. Specific requirements for industries
discharging to municipal treatment plants are not set out in the
environmental regulations, rather, City personnel develop

limitations based on the amount of water and pollutants that its
treatment plant can accept and still meet its wastewater permit
limitations.

Table 1.1. Tax Rates for Natural Resource Use

TAX RATES FOR WATER USE

NO TYPE OF WATER USE TAX RATE (LVR/M?)
\_-.____ . -~ -~~~ " -~ |

1 Ground water 1.0
2 Surface water | 0.2
3 Medicinal mineral water 5.0
4 Table mineral water 20.0

TAX RATES FOR NATURAL RESOURCE ACQUISITION

NO. RESOURCE TYPE

TAX RATE (LVR/M?)

1 Ground soil .
2 Sand 2.5
3 Sand and gravel mixture 8.0
4 Gravel 6.0
5

Clay 3.0




6 Dolomite 8.0
7 Limestone 15.0
8 | Gypsum 20.0
9 Peat 3.0
10 Sapropel 2.5
11 | Medicinal mud 36.0

Table 1.2. Tax Rates for Pollution

TAX RATE FOR POLLUTION WITHIN NORMATIVES, WASTE DISPOSAL

0. WASTE CLASSIFICATION TAX RATE (LVR/M?
h— S A T T T T YR ‘::\/'-

1 Non-toxic wastes 30

2 Toxic wastes 100

3 Extremely toxic wastes 3,000

TAX RATES FOR AIR POLLUTION

POLLUTION CLASSIFICATION’

TAX RATE (LVR/TON)

1 Non-toxic emissions 200
2 Medium hazard emissions N 300
3 Hazardous emissions 650
4 Very hazardous emissions 650,000

NO. POLLUTION CLASSIFICATION’

TAX RATE (LVR/TON)

TAX RATELS FOR WATER POLLUTION

1 Non-toxic substances 200

2 Medium hazard substances 2,000

3 Hazardous substances 500,000
4 Very hazardous substances 3,000,000

The separation of polluting substances according to hazard
level is done according to classifications set by the Republic

of Latvia Environmental Protection Committee.

POLLUTION CLASSIFICATION ACCORDING TO HAZARD LEVEL
(Air and Water Pollution)




Non-toxic Dust, suspended materials, sulfate,
alkaline metal chloride.

Medium hazard Carbon dioxide, phosphorus, nitrate,
nitrite, iron compounds, biodegradable
organic compounds, fats, surface active
substances.

Hazardous Sulfur and nitrogen oxides, oil products,
phenol, alcohol.

Very Hazardous Aromatic hydrocarbons, cyanide and its
derivatives, heavy metals, and
pesticides.

1.5 Environmental Audits

Industrial environmental audits can be valuable in guiding
programs for remedial development and prioritization of activities.
One of the most important benefits of plant-wide environmental
audits is to identify processes and operational practices that are
large pollution generation sources. This can assist plants in
making changes that reduce pollution rather than focusing on
control, which can be costly and, often, ineffective. Process
changes can provide other benefits as well, such as reducing
operating costs, and maximizing plant efficiency. It is also
important to instill environmental auditing as an in-house plant
management activity that keeps up with the dynamic workings of all
types of manufacturing operations, due to process and product

changes, technology changes, utility pricing, and market changes.
The highest priority for dairies should be given to the protection
of surface waters. Problems are emerging, both at the industrial
and municipal 1level, with the operation of wastewater treatment
units because of the shortage of replacement units and spare parts
from the old Soviet Union and the higher costs of this equipment
from westernized countries.

1.6 Conclusions

Technical solutions are available for most of the
environmental problems caused by industry. Key measures for
control should include the expanded use of modern equipment for
industrial pollution control, waste utilization, and environmental
monitoring. Substantial investments may be necessary to meet
environmental goals, but care must be taken to invest in pollution
controls for industries that will remain economically viable for a
period of time and are not likely to close down soon. Investments
should be cost effective and should provide the only alternative to
achieve the pollution reduction goals.
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2.0 PRIEKULE DAIRY
2.1 Introductiu..

The dairy at Priekule manufactures butter (continuous churn
method) and Krievijas cheese (60 day aging). The facility is also
experimenting presently with a skim milk cheese as a way to use its
excess skim milk.

Priekule received 21,117.6 tons (all references are to metric
tons) of raw milk and cream for processing in 1992. In June of
1992, the facility received 2,705.1 t of raw milk and cream
combined (highest receipt of the year), while in December the plant
received 817.9 t (lowest receipt of the year). Milk production is
down about 30 percent this year over last and down over 60 percent
from several years ago.

The plant currently receives approximately 60-80 t of milk and
15-20 t of cream a day and anticipates about half as much during
the winter months. From this, the plant is producing about 7-8 t
of butter a day and 3 t of Krievijas cheese a day. Currently, the
facility is also producing about 1 t a day of skim milk cheese, but
this is only made about 1-2 months a year.

The Priekule dairy plant has the capacity to produce about 15
t of butter a day and 3 t of cheese a day. These capacities assume
operation of two shifts a day.

Plant production varies considerably from summer to winter.
Production in the summer months (June through August) is on average
about twice the production during winter months (December through
February) . Water use and wastewater discharge varies over a
similar range.

The basic operation consists of raw milk and cream receipt,
separation of the cream, pasteurization of the cream at 90-100
degrees Celsius (the Production Manager did not know for how many
seconds the cream was pasteurized), and then processing the cream
into butter and cheese. Butter production consists of churning the
cream into butter while cheese production consists of curd making,
cutting, cooking, and forming the curd for subsequent brining,
packaging, and aging.

Buttermilk and whey, produced as by-products of the butter and
cheese production (30 t a day) is being sent back to the suppliers
of cream, to the dairies, and to the City landfill. Apparently, 80
percent of this by-product is now being sent to the landfill.
Eventually, the plant hopes to send all of the whey and buttermilk
back to the farms. The plant also generates about 40 t a day of
skim milk which up until recently, was being sent to a dairy in
Liepaja or, occasionally, to a dry milk processing facility in
Aizepute or processed on-site into skim milk cheese. The plant is
now making farmers take skim milk (for use as animal feed) in
return for the dairy accepting their raw milk. Skim milk disposal
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is a big problem at the Priekule dairy and it is expected to
continue to be a problem as Liepaja no longer accepts the skim milk
and the dry milk processing plant in Aizepute rarely takes skim
milk from Priekule.

The plant uses 6 chemicals for cleaning and disinfecting of
process equipment. A summary of this chemical usage is provided in
Table 1.1

TABLE 1.1 CHEMICALS USAGE AT PRIEKULE

l CHEMICAL ' AIMUM USAGE USES

NaOH 200 kg/month Cleaning pipes

HNO, 300 kg/month Cleaning pipes and cheese forms

H,50, 50 kg/month Laboratory analysis

HCl 40 kg/month Furnaces, compressors, etc.

Na,CO, 200 kg/month Washing floors and basins

N,PO, 300 kg/month Cleaning butter churn

The majority of these chemicals end up in the wastewater and,
eventually, in the wastewater treatment system. The types and
quantities of chemicals used do not pose a risk to the treatment
plant or the receiving stream.

2.2 Water Use

For calendar year 1992, the plant used 128.5 thousand cubic
meters of water (approximately 409 m® a day, assuming operaticn six
days a week). The facility does have a water meter to measure this
flow. During the peak month of June, the plant used almost 568 n’
a day, while during the slowest month, January, the plant used
approximately 314 m’ of water a day. The plant is permitted (by the
Regional EPC) to use up to 150 thousand cubic meters of water a
year (481 m’® a day) with a maximum of 16.9 thousand cubic meters
(636 m* a day) during Aucust. (According to plant personnel, these
figures were calculated by the EPC using an average plant
production of 60 metric tons of milk processed a day.) Every 3
years, the EPC revises the water use allowance based on the
previous 3 years of data.

Water use in 1993 is down about 20-25 percent from 1992
because of the reduced production of milk products.

Process wastewater consists primarily of cleaning and
sanitizing of equipment. Areas that generate the majority of the
wastewater include the cleaning and sanitizing of the raw milk
delivery trucks, sludge removal from separation of the milk,
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cleaning and sanitizing milk product processing and storage lines,
pasteurization operational waters (i.e., start-up, shut-down, and
cleaning), whey draining and rinsing, packaging losses, floor
cleaning, and laboratory wastes. Wastewater is not metered but is
estimated to be at least 90 percent of the volume of water used
(evaporation being the major loss of water).

The plant pays one ruble per cubic meter for water
use/wastewater discharge. This water fee is paid once a quarter
(19,000 Rubles in the first quarter of 1993).

2.3 Wastewater Treatment

The Priekule dairy discharges wastewater directly to the river
following on-site biological treatment. The existing treatment
plant is 8 years old and uses two oxidation-ditch type treatment
ponds (1100 m’ each) with two surface aerators on each and one mixer
in each followed by a stabilization pond (2500 m). The plant
alternates the use of these ditches every other day. This system
does not require the use of pumps to circulate the water, rather
the action of the surface aerators is enough to move the water
around the ditch. Water appeared to circulate reascnably well in
the pond although there were small where water seemed to stagnate.
This system was designed by a Lithuanian firm in the 1970‘'s. At
the average daily wastewater flow of about 400 m® per day, this
allows for about a 9 day retention in the treatment system
(oxidation ditch plus stabilization pond). Solids are removed from
these ditches about 1-2 times a year.

The plant has a new oxidation ditch type treatment system
(2000 m® pond) that includes four 40 cubic meter per hour pumps used
to pump air into the water and to circulate the water in the basin.
Unfortunately, the dairy can not use the system because the pumps
are inadequate to circulate the water and pooling/stagnation of the
water occurs in the basin, causing inadequate treatment. An option
would be to use floating aerators although the plant is unsure of
the exact design specifications and would probably go to Bauska to
see how their plant is designed and operated. These surface
aerators (of which probably 4-6 would be needed) cost about $5-
10,000 by western standards and are said to cost about 100,000
Rubles by Latvian standards (but are of poorer quality). The plant
did comment that there is only one firm in all of Latvia that
provides wastewater treatment equipment, and as such, assistance is
difficult to come by. Assistance on the design of this system was
provided by the Liepaja kombinant.

The plant also has a contract with the local hospital (140
beds) to treat 30,000 m® of wastewater per year. The plant 1likes
receiving this waste because it dilutes the strength of the dairy
waste through treatment. The plant charges the hospital 16.16
Rubles per cubic meter (approximately 485,000 Ruvbles a year) for
this treatment; however, the plant has not received any money this
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year from the hospital because of economic hardship.

The plant does have problems with its treatment system both in
the summer and the winter. On warm summer days, the plant is
unable to supply enough air to the water to provide adequate oxygen
for biological treatment to perform adequately. In the winter,
when the temperature reaches 10 degrees Celsius below zero, the
surface aerators freeze and affect the performance of this
equipment. Ice buildup on the surface aerators causes the impeller
to stop turning, effectively stopping aeration of the wastewater.

Influent wastewater to treatment (including wastewater from
the hospital) is about 250~-350 mg/l TSS and 250-500 mg/l BOD.
Effluent from the stabilization pond is about 10-15 mg/1 TSS and 8-
15 mg/1l BOD. These figures equate to a removal efficiency for TSS
of between 93 and 97 percent and BOD of between 93 and 28 percent.
While these fiqures were quoted by the plant engineer, these
concentrations represent conditions during normal production
activity and during dry weather conditions. Apparently, "problems"
occur during rains. Because of the large area of pavement that is
directed to waste treatment, it is obvious that the plant does not
have the capacity to provide adequate retention and treatment
during rains.

Utility consumption for the treatment process was 12,780
kilowatts in January 1993 and 12,882 kilowatts in May 1993.

According to the plant engineer, compared to other dairies in
Latvia, the existing treatment system is fairly good.

2.4 Storm Water Management

All storm water from the site (5.9 hectares) goes to the on-
site wastewater treatment plant. This does cause problems during
heavy rains because the treatment basins £ill up with water and the
plant has to release some of this water to the biological pond
before complete biodegradation has occurred. Fortunately, very
little production activities occur outdoors, thus the storm water
is very dilute. The most likely area for milk bearing wastes to
come in contact with storm water is from the raw milk receiving
area. Two skim milk storage tanks are located outdoors, but these
tanks are bulkheaded indoors, therefore the 1likelihood that
contamination of storm water would occur is minimal. However,
since all plant water, both process and storm, go to the treatment
system, the concern over outdoor exposure of process equipment to
storm water is moot.

2.5 Vehicle Maintenance and Washing

Milk trucks are washed (both inside and out) after delivering
milk to the treatment plant. Water and steam are used to clean
these trucks with the water going directly to the waste treatment




system.

The plant has about 15 trucks, for which small repairs are
done on-site. All used o0il from the trucks is burned for heat
generation in the plant furnace. Under the old Soviet system, the
plant was required to return at least 50 percent of its o0il in
order to purchase the new o0il, but now the accessibility of oil
reclaiming operations is such that the dairy has no option but to
dispose of its o0il on its own.

2.6 Solid Waste

Sludge from the treatment system is land applied on fields or
disposed in a 1local 1landfill. This sludge could be a useful
fertilizer for local farms if the so0lid content could be increased
(i.e., with some type of drying equipment). As 1is, the water
content is so high that in order for enough sludge to be applied on
the fields to provide adequate nutrients, the fields have to be
flooded with the water.

The brine solution from the cheese salting process (22-23
percent salt) is disposed of about twice a year in the City
landfill (27.5 t each).

Cheese waste that does not come in contact with the floor or
cleaning/sanitizing chemicals is sent to a plant that manufactures
melted cheese. Miscellaneous milk solids from receiving and solids
swept up off the floor are collected by a company who uses these
solids for animal feed.

2.7 Groundwater

The plant has not had any problems with the quality or
quantity of the ground water at the plant. This groundwater is
extracted from wells approximately 160 meters deep. The plant
engineer believes that there is plenty of ground water for use, but
there is only pumping capacity for about 400 cubic meters a day.
Therefore the plant is extracting water close to the pump capacity.

2.8 Compliance with Existing Regulations

The plant is permitted for water use and wastewater discharge
by the Liepaja Regional EPC. A new permit is issued each year,
although wastewater discharge limits typically remain the same
(have not changed in 6 years).

Limits (expressed as instantaneous maximums) are as follows:
TSS-12 mg/1l, BOD-15 mg/l, COD-100 mg/l, ammonia-8 mg/l, nitrite-.15
mg/l, nitrate-10 mg/l, o0il-0.5 mg/l, surfactants-0.5 mg/1,
phosphates-4 mg/l, and fats-5 mg/l. The two pollutants that the
plant has the toughest time meeting the limits for are TSS and BOD.




On average, the plant discharges about 10-15 mg/l of TSS and 8-15
mg/l BOD. The plant does violate other pollutant limits, but these
violations occurred less frequently. In talking to the plant
engineer, the BOD and TSS discharge concentrations expressed above
are typical values during normal, dry weather operations and are
likely higher during wet weather or high production periods.

The limits provided above are applicable to the wastewater
discharge from the Priekule dairy regardless of how much wastewater
actually comes from the dairy and how much wastewater comes from
other locations (i.e., the local hospital and residential housing),
making receipt of lower strength wastewater advantageous to the
Priekule dairy for meeting its permit limitations.

Regional EPC for Liepaja sample the treatment plant once a
quarter. Liepaja EPC says the plant is doing fine and there are no
objections. The dairy samples about every two weeks and submits
reports monthly to the Regional EPC.

The plant did have to pay one fine in May 1992 for wastewater
discharge violations (150 Rubles). This fine was paid by the Plant
Engineer and the Plant Manager rather than the enterprise itself.
The facility violates its permit limits on a regular basis but has
an honest relationship with the Regional EPC and as such do not
have to pay their fines.

Plant personnel indicated that the plant minimizes the

severity of reported violations by not reporting those monitoring
results that indicate extreme cases of noncompliance.

The facility also pays a small air pollution tax for the on-
site boiler, furnace, and ammonia refrigeration system; however,
this issue was not discussed with the plant as air pollution is of
minimal concern at dairies and compliance with the requirements is
based on usage of chemicals and not actual air pollution. Air
monitoring is not done, despite the permit limits being expressed
as grams per second of pollutants emitted.

2.9 Summary

The Preikule Dairy is making a conscientious effort to comply
with environmental regulations. While air, water, and solid waste
are issues of discussion, the dairy’s overriding environmental
concern is wastewater. The facility has had difficulty meeting
effluent discharge limitations, but the exceedances do not seem to
be major and may be attributed to the 1lack of capacity of the
existing treatment system to handle the volume of wastewater
currently being treated. Construction of the new treatment system
would help the plant meet its discharge standards, primarily by
allowing the plant to extend the retention time of the wastewater
in the impoundments. It is recommended that wastewater be retained
in the oxidation ditches (both o0ld and new, when constructed) for
as long as possible (two days or more, if possible) before




discharging to the stabilization pond. This added time allows for
further aeration and biodegradation of the dairy wastewaters.

Priekule does use more water than is reasonably needed to
process its milk. The plant currently uses about 5-6 liters of
water per liter of milk processed (about 2-3 liters of water per
liter of milk is reasonable and about 1 liter of water per liter of
milk would be considered very good). Reducing the amount of water
used in its process would allow the plant to retain its wastewater
in the oxidation ditch for longer periods of time, effectively
improving the treatment capacity of the system.

Additionally, the dairy should look for ways to reduce the
amount of milk and milk by-products that is being discharged into
the treatment system. The best approach to this problem is to plan
and conduct an environmental audit of the processing facility,
paying special attention to water usage and milk losses. Areas
that are typically of concern include;

- Housekeeping practices (e.g., spill cleanup practices and
response to leaks)

Water control (e.g., only running water from the hose
when cleaning, adding spray nozzles to the hoses to
provide on-demand supply of high pressure low volume
water, or paying close attention to tank filling to
prevent overflows)

Building dikes or berms around storage tanks and other
vessels where leaks to the sewer are unwanted

Controlling breakage in milk packaging equipment (e.g.,
paying close attention to the filling of the packaging
and stopping the system if a high percentage of breakages
are occurring)

Whey handling practices (e.g., preventing the initial
whey drainage and first rinse from entering the sewer
system and only discharging second and third rinses)

Spilled material handling (e.g., cleaning up spilled
solids with a broom for use as animal feed, rather than
hosing this material)

Worker understanding of the problem (preventing willful
wasting of material as a time or effort saving step).

Similarly, processing practices and small capital investments
may also effectively reduce the volume of water and pollutants
being discharged. These include activities such as:

- Draining milk cans or milk trucks for a longer period of
time to reduce the residual milk that must be washed out




Covering all drains with wire mesh to collect milk and
milk by=-product solids that may end up on the floor

Clearly marking on and off positions on water valves to
minimize worker negligence

Use post cleaning rinses as make-up water for sanitizing
or cleaning of other equipment

Provide drip shields on filling equipment for product
recovery.

While the above practices may not all be appropriate, or may
already be instituted, it is likely that the incorporation of these
types of ideas into the worker mentality can improve the quality of
and reduce the quantity of wastewater discharged. It is also
important that the environmental audit be supported by the plant
management.

As discussed during the visit, the disposal of whey and skim
milk will continue to be problems for the facility. If the plant
has to discharge whey to the treatment plant, the whey drainage or
the first wash should be stored for disposal or sales to farmers,
rather than discharging to the treatment plant. The second and
third washes should be the waste that is discharged.




PRIVATIZATION OF THE PRIEKULE MILKERY
A legal analysis

Background

The Priekule Milkery ("Priekule") is a second-tier plant in the
Latvian milk processing system. Talsi and Kuldiga are the other
second-tier milkeries located within the Liepaja Milk Kombinat’s
administrative region. Schematically beneath Priekule, within its
administrative region, is the Dunikas Creamery.

A unique aspect of Priekule’s situation is that only 42% of the
milk supplied to Priekule comes from farmers located in its region.
Typically milkeries are supplied primarily by local producers. The
bulk of Priekule’s supply comes from other privatization objects
within the Liepaja structure. This gave rise to the concern that
it would be somewhat more complicated to personify assets in
Priekule than in a typical milkery.

We attended a meeting of the pagasta representatives called by the
Priekule management on February 24, 1993. Of the 14 pagasti that
make up the Priekule region, eight had formed associations at that
time. Both the directors of the milkery and the representatives in
attendance were most concerned with the ability of the other
pagasti to organize cooperatives in time to meet the deadline of
April 1 which is imposed by the law on Privatization of Milk
Processing Enterprises. This is the same concern we had heard at
the Tukums Milk Processing Plant while working with their
management. The Priekule management agreed to reserve places on
the privatization committee for representatives from the missing
pagasti even though the deadline for such representatives to be
appointed had passed on February 15. All parties agreed to make a
concentrated effort to contact and encourage these missing regions.

Legal Analysis

As authorized by the law on the Privatization of Milk Processing
Enterprises, this milkery has been claimed by the Priekule Milk
Producers’ Association on behalf of all cooperative associations
contributing to Priekule. The law applies to Priekule in the
following manner:

1) Definitions:

As described above, Priekule has been rightfully claimed by
the local association free of charge under authority of the
Supreme Council resolution of April 15, 1992. Priekule is
thus a "personified object" under the law.




2) Section I "General Regulations";
Article I "The Law’s Function and Objectives";
Paragraph 3:

The privatization process as applied to personified objects is
called personification and is described in Article V of this
law.

3) Section V ‘'"pPersonification of capital in milk producer
cooperative associations and stability guarantees for the
privatization process";

Article 23 "Distribution of assets regained by milk producer
cooperative associations without compensation."

If the object to be personified incorporates several pagasti
in its operational area, then an association of these pagasti
cooperative associations is to be formed and distribution of
capital among the various pagasti cooperative associations
follows guidelines of Article 18 of this law.

4) Section IV "Valuation and purchase of the unit to be
privatized";
Article 18 "Distribution of basic capital among milk producers
and milk and milk product suppliers":

Milk producers are to be allocated capital shares in the
object through their pagasti cooperative associations. These
associations are given capital shares according to the amount
of milk supplies by that association’s milk producers during
both 1991 and 1992.

5) Section V
Article 24 '"Personification of capital in milk producer
cooperative associations without compensation"

Personification to the individual farmer/members of each
association is to be accomplished in two stages - half of the
enterprises value is personified on January 1, 1994 and the
other half on January 1, 1995, This 1is accomplished by
increasing the basic capital of the company by the appropriate
percentage of enterprise assets on the date specified. Each
stage of this process is completed by correspondingly
increasing the number of shares or their nominal value
(initially one share per 2400 kg of milk supplied). Property
of the state transferred to the association without
compensation cannot be alienated until all assets are
personified.

Issues

Although the legal analysis regarding Priekule 1is fairly
straightforward, the fact that most of its milk is supplied by
other plants may make the application of the law problimatic.




Since the ultimate owner of capital shares can only be a milk
producer through an association, ownership interest in Priekule
goes through the plants that supply Priekule to the associations
that Priekule to the associations that supply those plants and,
ultimately, to the farmer who is a member of that association.

The association that owns the plant supplying Priekule wculd claim
its share of Priekule based on the amount of milk supplied by that
plant in 1991 and 1992. Then, the pagastu associations should
receive capital shares in their plant and in Priekule based on the
amount of milk their members supplied to the plant in those years.
For example, if one of the Kuldigas pagasti supplies 10% of
Kuldiga’s milk in both years, and Kuldiga supplies 20% of
Priekule’s milk in both years, then that pagast’s share in Kuldiga
would be 10% and its share in Priekule would be 10% of Kuldiga’s
20% share.

Another interesting question arises if the Liepaja central plant
supplied milk to Priekule. As between plants, the law provides for
comparison of the flow of milk from one plant to the other and
allows a claim only by plantswith a net positive flow. However,
since Liepaja would be organize as a joint stock company and not a
cooperative, would the law prohibit it from claiming a share of
Priekule if it was entitled to such a share? Again, it seems that
claim should be allowed if it were made by the Liepaja association
of cooperatives but it might involve some interesting calculations
for those farmers in Kuldiga who supplied through Kuldiga to
Priekule and through Kuldiga to Liepaja to Priekule.

Finally, it remains to be seen how the relationship between the
Priekule management and the local farmers develops. Since there are
strong leaders among the farmers they should have the ability to
organize the pagasti and lead this personification process. How
the management will react could determine how smoothly this process
will go. Management has signaled a willingness to work with the
milk suppliers by keeping places on the privatization commission
open for the pagasti who had not formed cooperative within the time
mandated by the privatization law.
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Statement of Purpose

This business plan was prepared in order to help Tukums' management focus on certain
issues and assist them in their privatization and planning the future after the
privatization. The plan was not prepared for and should not be used for any other
purposes. Coopers & Lybrand has not undertaken an audit nor verified the information
which was presented to us. We do not express an opinion nor provide any assurance as
to the accuracy of the historic or forecast information (please refer to detailed notes).
The business plan is based upon both historic and forecast information provided to us
by staff and management of Tukums.

The forecast of future operations was made based upon the assumptions and
representations made to us. The business plan is not intended to be relied on as an
indication or assessment or projection of Tukums' future operations. The present
environment in Latvia is uncertain. The figures have been derived from the enterprise's
Latvian accounts which have been prepared in accordance with Latvian accounting
regulations. To understand the potential limitations of the financial information
provided it is essential to read the accompanying reformatted Latvian accounts and the
notes attached.

There are significant differences between Latvian accounting principles and generally
accepted accounting principles. The main differences are outlined in the report
attachment  "Tukums Dairy Enterprise - Financial Statement Years ending 31
December 1991 and 1992" and the attached notes. It is essential that the above
mentioned statement and notes be read in conjunction with this business plan,

Major changes have taken place in Eastern Europe and the Baltic States over the last
two years and the historic performance of the business is likely to bear little
relationship to its future potential.




TUKUMS DAIRY PROCESSING PLANT
EXECUTIVE SUMMARY OF BUSINESS PLAN

Preamble

The Tukums Dairy processing plant is one of the bigger regional dairy processing
plants in Latvia producing butter, cheese, fluid milk, cream, kefir, cottage cheese and
skim milk. It sells the bulk of its products in the local region and in Jurmala and Riga.
Currently, it is owned and operated by an independent cooperative association.

The purpose of this business plan is to provide a planning tool, and to highlight and
consolidate into one document Tukums' aims, and objectives through a period of
substantial change.

Tukums' strategic aims are:

to focus on the production and sale of fluid milk products in the region while
endeavoring to find new markets for butter and cheese, in particular export
markets;

to promote smaller packaging sizes, particularly for butter, in order to increase
markets;

to develop new low fat products;

to keep the costs of production down, particularly the cost of milk delivered to
the factory and the packaging costs of the final products, so as to keep product
prices competitive.

to provide assistance to farmers to help them increase the productivity of their
herds and lower the cost of milk production; and

to foster support from local dairy farmers through the establishment of pagast
level dairy cooperatives.

Conclusions

As an enterprise facing the new challenges of changing markets and growing
competition, the preparation of the business plan is intended to help Tukums focus on
where it is and where would like to be. To a large degree, many issues cannot be fully
addressed until a further date when the economic strategy of the new government will
become clear, and the final ownership structure of the cooperative is decided.




DESCRIPTION OF THE BUSINESS
The Business

The Tukums Dairy Processing Plant (Tukums or the enterprise) is located in the
Tukums region. It is approximately 78 km south east of the capital Riga. Two satellite
plants are located at Jaunpils and Kandava. The Jaunpils plant produces only cheese
whereas the Kandava plant produces fluid milk, cream, and skim milk cottage cheese.
Twenty-four collecting stations, along with a fleet of trucks, are used to collect the
milk from local farmers. Together the plants produce a standard range of dairy
products - butter, cheese, fluid milk, cream, kefir, cottage cheese, and skim milk.
Tukums is the biggest fluid mitk producer in the region after the Riga Central plant.

The Tukums plant can trace its history of activities to 1936 when it began production.
Following Latvia's integration into the Soviet Union, the agricultural sector was

collectivized. From 1948, Tukums was state-operated and part of the Soviet dairy
industry.

During this period, from 1948 to the present, the incentive for managers to develop and
expand business was removed. Tukums was centrally managed and controlled by the
Ministry of Agriculture and its resuits were aggregated with other plants. Individual

rights to land and assets were removed, and managers received little or no benefit from
being successful or profitable.

Prices for all raw materials and finished products were centrally established.
Consequently, no consideration or incentive was given for cost-minimizing or profit
maximizing decisions.

Capital investment decisions were also approved by the Ministry. No commercial
assessment was made of the viability of increasing capacity.

These central controls have now been removed. Each dairy plant must not only find
markets for all their products at a time when tractional markets are collapsing, but also
fix the purchase price for milk in the light of the price and demand for their products
and the available supply of milk. For the first time, managers will be accountable for
their decisions. As a newly privatized dairy plant, Tukums is facing a challenge in a
climate of political and economic upheaval. Sound economic and financial decision
making will be required.

Legal status and organization

On June 3, 1992, following an April 15, 1992 Supreme Council Resolution allowing
milk producer associations to claim assets located within their territory, the Tukums




dairy producers association was formed. The assets of the kombinat were transferred
to the association on November 5, 1992. The association, which is formed around the
processing plant, includes 21 legal persons and 275 natural persons as members. The
charter of the association allows for subsequently formed pagast cooperatives to claim
assets within their territory.

Further legislation came into effect on April 1, 1993 - "The Privatization of Milk
Receiving and Processing Plants", which provides that ownership of milk processing
plants can be transferred to pagast-level cooperative dairy producers associations. These
co-operative associations are composed of the individual dairy producers supplying the
processing plant. The dairy producers have until June 30, 1993 to form cooperative
associations and submit claims for shares in the processing plant.

In order to strictly comply with the letter of this new law, Tukums should organize
pagast-level cooperative associations. Although they have been trying to do so, they
have had little success so far. As the law allows the Ministry of Agriculture the
discretion to approve deviations based on local circumstances, ultimately the Ministry
will decide whether to approve Tukums' approach to privatization.

The Board of the Tukums cooperative association currently has twelve members,
including the directors of each of the three plants. The Chairmen of the board is J.
Skvarnovicus, a local dairy farmer. The board of the cooperative decides overall
strategy, including such matters as the price of milk to be paid to farmers. However,

the day-to-day running of the three plants is controlled and administered by the
Director of Tukums.

Reporting directly to the board is Tukums' Director - Mr. Janis Plavans. Mr. Plavans
together with the Chief Engineer - Mr. Purmalis, the Chief Technologist - Ms. Uzulina
and the Chief Economist - Mrs. Astrida Grinberga actively participate in the day-to-day
running of the enterprise.

Current products and processes

Tukums currently produces butter, cheese, cottage cheese, kefir, cream and fluid milk.




214 The capacity of the three plants together is as follows:

TABLE 1

Product

Plant Capacity

Production

Butter
Cheese
Kefir
Cream
Milk

all package sizes
"Bauskas”

2.5%

all grades

2.5%

15 tons/day

1.2 tons/day
6000 bottles/hour
10-12 tons/day
6000 bottles/hour

6.5

Cottage cheese

Tukums is capable of producing butter in 20 kilogram packs as well as 200 gram packs.
Cream is produced with both 25% and 35% butterfat and can be produced in cans as
well as half-liter bottles. Milk is produced in bottles, in cans, and in plastic poly-
packs. The plant can also package cottage cheese.

Production in 1992 was as follows:

TABLE 2

Product
Butter

Cheese

Kefir

Fluid Milk
Cream
Cottage cheese

Production (tons)
1269

100

1390

5132

1678

1922

The way forward
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1992 and 1993 are proving to be particularly difficult years for the dairy industry. As
an industry, agriculture and particularly the dairy sector, is susceptible to a range of
factors over which the industry itself often has no direct control.

Not all factors are unpredictable; many can be anticipated. What Tukums is
committed to doing is to attempt to recognize and anticipate problems and
opportunities, and to plan to deal with them accordingly.

To help in this process, below is a summary of the strengthes, weaknesses, threats, and
opportunities facing the industry and specifically Tukums .




Dairy Industry

Strengths Weaknesses

‘relatively good road and -demise of Comecon market
rail infrastructure
‘limited and reduced domestic market
-seasonality in milk production
-low purchase power of customers
-low hygiene standards oversees
*strong currency

Threats Opportunities
‘relative political and ‘new markets from tourism due to
economic uncertainty current interest/ fashion of Eastern
Europe and the Baltic
-competition from other -demise of small unproductive dairies
emerging markets as a result of restructuring

(e.g. Lithuania)
*competition from established

markets ( Sweden/Finland)
Tukums Dairy
Strengths Weaknesses
‘close to major population ‘cheese of lower quality

center - historical major underinvestment
-experience of management

and staff -lack of focus and drive
*lower collection costs than -no market niche

competitors

*strong support from local farmers - no experience with exporting

Threats Opportunities
- disruptions due to -as a result of privatization,
privatization independent planning and

financing can be carried out
‘new products and markets




MANAGEMENT AND EMPLOYEES
Management structure and senior management

The day-to-day management of the business is under the control of the director, Mr.
Plavans, who works closely with the Chief Engineer, the Chief Technologist, the
Economist and the Chief Accountant. Mr. Pladins also has overall responsibility for
the two satellite plants at Jaunpils and Kandava. Mr. Plavans has been with Tukums
for over fifteen years.

Brief details of the five senior staff at Tukums reporting to the director are given
below.

Mr. Purmalis - Chief Engineer. Mr. Purmalis is responsible for production and the
operation and maintenance of the plant.

Rudite Praulina - Chief Accountant. Mrs. Praulina reports directly to Director. She is
responsible for all bookkeeping and report preparation including balance sheets.

Grinberga Astrida - Chief Economist. Mrs. Grinberga reports directly to the Director
and is responsible for forecasting and pricing. She has no other staff reporting to her.

Commercial director - Ingrida Belinska. With the Chairman of the board, she is
responsible for Tukums' market strategy, new market development, public contacts,
and contacts with farmers.

Chief Technologist - Ms. Uzulina. Responsible for all production in the plant. The
production workers report to Ms. Uzulina.

The management structure of Tukums is given on the following page:




80ARD OF COOPERATIVE
DIRECTOR COMMERCIAL
IDIRECTOR
T
[ | ]
ECONOMIST CHIEF ENGINEER PRODUCTION
MANAGER ACCOUNTANT
CHEESE PRODUCTION
[CHIEF MECHANIC WATER TREATM. SUPPLIES
FACIL.
|
MAINTEN. ' | BUTTER PRODUCTION WAGES
WORKERS : FHIEF ENERGY
ENGINEER |
CONSTRUCTION | CONSUMABLES
WORKRS FURNACE FLUID MILK
WORKERS PRODUCTION |
SALES
CASHIER
COTTAGE CHEESE

PRODUCTION

.///\‘.




Tukums has a strong and experienced team which has a commitment to ensure that
Tukums becomes a viable and self-reliant entity. Managers and employees have a good
relationship and work closely together.

Human resources

Tukums employed 247 people as of June 1993.

A break down of employment in previous years and a forecast for the average level of
employment for 1993 is given below.

TABLE 3

1993
forecast
Total employees 242
production 179
managers 33
others 146
nonproduction 63

Remuneration

Wage and salary costs are not a significant proportion of total production costs for
Tukums, being approximately 1.5 to 3.0%. This has remained the case despite
significant increases in average monthly salaries as a result of inflation. The total
remuneration of the employees of Tukums includes salaries and bonuses. Workers are
paid according to their category of employment. Government regulations establish a
range within each scale. Approximately 85 workers are paid according to how much
they produce. Although they must be paid at least the legal minimum wage, at current
production levels this represents only one third of their total income.

The average monthly remuneration at Tukums in June 1993 was LVR 10174, in 1992 -
LVR 5032. This compares to the current average monthly remuneration in Latvia of
8200 Latvian rubles.

Other Employment Costs

In addition to the employee remuneration outlined above, the enterprise also has to
meet certain other employment costs. The largest is a Social Security contribution
which is 37% of gross salary.




Employment policy

Tukums mostly employs people from the area around Tukums. People can be fired for
not fulfilling their duties, but it is difficult to fire them if they simply do not perform
according to needs of the company. This policy is in effect only because they are a
state-owned company. Retirement age in Latvia is 60 years for men and 55 for women.
If the person still works after the retirement, they may choose between getting their
salary from the company and not receiving a pension from social security, or limiting
their salary. This generally means that people do not work after retirement age. Theie
are no regulations requiring companies to pay any allowances for retired people.

Working conditions

The plant operates seven days a week. However, most employees work five days per
week, with production workers on rotating shifts. There is one shift of 8 hours per
day. The office hours are 7 a.m. to 4 p.m. Production staff hours are determined by
the delivery of milk and cream. Milk supplies tend to be delivered early in the day.

MARKETING

Background to Latvian dairy industry

In 1991, the agricultural sector accounted for some 20% of GDP. In 1990 dairy
production accounted for 43% of livestock agricultural production.

Until 1993, all dairy processing plants were centrally controlled state-owned
enterprises. No competition or free markets existed. The industry, including all
processing plants and milk cooperatives, were allocated markets to supply, distribution
networks, and transport routes. Both raw material prices and final goods prices were
centrally determined.

This provided no incentive for managers. Productivity goals were set without regard
for any efficiency or profit maximizing considerations.

The dairy industry has faced significant upheaval since 1991, including:

the collapse of the Soviet Union and the loss of one of the country's main
markets.

a declining domestic market




periods of hyperinflation
the removal of central planning and pricing mechanisms

the fragmentation of the dairy industry into small individual producers

falling animal stock levels and milk production

cheaper Lithuanian and Western European dairy products flooding the domestic
market

the introduction of the Latvian rouble
Milk Purchases
405 Table 4 indicates the fall in milk purchases for the industry as a whole from 1990 to

1992:

TABLE 4: Industry Milk Purchases

1990 1,767,153
199] 1,518,494
1992 1,062,518

The level of milk production in Latvia has fallen sharply over the past three years, as
reflected in milk purchases made by processing plants (A more detailed table is
included in the supporting documents). This decline is due to several factors including
the rising costs of feed paid by farmers, as a result of the reduction of grain subsidies,
a drought in mid-1992 which reduced grain supplies and a livestock disease which
again forced many collective farms to kill stock. In all, milk purchases fell by 40%
between 1990 and 1992 throughout Latvia.




Sales

Prior to 1993, sales of all products simply equaled production in that quarter as
products such as butter that were not all sold locally were centrally marketed. In the
case of Tukums much of their butter was on sold to St. Petersburg. That is no longer
the case. In 1992 production of butter and cheese has exceeded sales despite the
lowering in price of those products. Sales in the first quarter of 1993 for the major
product groups were:

TABLE 5

Product Sales
Butter 157 tons
Cheese 103 tons
Whole milk products 5,603 tons
Skim milk products 2,130 tons

However, in the first quarter some 16 tons of butter were placed in storage. In April
and May, an additional 35 and 56 tons respectively were placed in storage. It is
anticipated that about 60 tons will also go into storage in June giving a total of about
167 tons in storage by mid-year. Similarly, for cheese there will be about 15 tons in

storage by mid-year. [Note: The figures for production, sales and storage for the first
quarter could not be reconciled]

Customers and Markets

As noted above, prior to 1992, apart from local sales, all production was sold to state
warehouses and a large proportion of Tukums' products were then exported to Russia
and other markets. With the collapse of this market, Tukums has had to rely on the
depressed domestic market, which is being flooded with cheaper Lithuanian and
Scandinavian products.




Currently Tukums sells all its products on the domestic market. The distribution of
sales by region for 1992 is shown below.

TABLE 6

Place of sale Percentage of sales
Tukums region 23
Talsi region 13
Jurmala 45
Riga 17

Whereas under the old regime Tukums sold all its products through 12 state outlets,
now days the have some 300 separate customers. None of these customers are very
large and many are small retail outlets. The largest of the customers are wholesale
dealers in Riga. Tukums runs a shop of its own in Tukums and was planning to open
more in both Jurmala and Riga. A shop was opened for three months in Riga but its
costs were too high. As the Tukums shop has not proved very profitable, and there are
high costs and difficulties in obtaining suitable retail space, there are no plans now to
open further shops in the other two areas.

In terms of possible export sales to the former Soviet Union, the introduction of the

Latvian Rouble has further exacerbated potential sales to this region. In the short- to
medium- term, there is no reason to forecast a significant improvement in access to
these markets.

Pricing

As discussed above, pricing policies were all centrally determined. A 15% margin
above production costs was set by the government. Up until 1993, enterprises had no
authority to set prices. Domestic pricing decisions will now be based on market
conditions.

With the high inflation that prevailed until the end of 1992, prices for dairy products
rose continuously. This had to cease by the end of March 1993 when the demand
products, particularly butter and cheese, dropped substantially. The price for butter
had risen progressively from 200 R/kg at the beginning of 1993 to 245 R/kg by the
middle of March 1993. However, at that price, sales of butter virtually ceased. The
price was subsequently lowered until it reached 180 R/kg in mid-June. Despite the
drop in price, sales are not sufficient to consume all production. It is therefore likely
that the price will have to be lowered even further. A similar situation applies to
cheese where the price rose from 180 R/kg to 200 R/kg, but by mid-June had dropped
to 165 R/kg.




Competitors

The Riga Central Dairy Plant is Tukums major competitor for the majority of its
products in all regions. This applies particularly to liquid products - milk, kefir and
cream - but also to a lesser degree with butter. With regard to cheese, Valmiera is the
main competitor as it produces cheese which is of a higher quality than the "Bauska"
cheese produced by Tukums. Tukums must try and compete with Valmiera by selling
at a lower price.

Tukums can compete with the Riga plant not only because of its lower milk collection
costs and hence product price, but also through packaging. Riga sells a lot of its
product in tetra packs which raises the final price. Tukums sells its product in bulk in
cans, in bottles, and for smaller quantities in plastic poly packs. These are all cheaper
forms of packaging and lead to a price competitive product.

Marketing Strategy

One of Tukums' main strengths is that it is close to the largest population center in the
country. As butter is proving difficult to sell at the moment, Tukums exploits this
advantage and focuses on selling as much of its production as possible in the form of
fluid products and cottage cheese in its local market. Only milk that can not be sold in
those forms will be converted to butter which can be stored and transported if necessary
for future sale. As long as the price for Bauska cheese can be kept down, then full

production of that product, just over 400 tons per year, should be able to be disposed of
on the domestic market.

Remaining competitive on the domestic market will imply keeping prices down both
through controlling the purchase and collection costs of milk and through innovative
packaging. Tukums will also endeavor to develop new products. Low fat products are
popular on the market at the moment and Tukums is currently investigating the
production of a low fat whole milk cheese.

In the short- to medium-term, Tukums will continue to try to develop contracts in the
ex-Comecon market, in particular to try and dispose of excess butter.

SUPPLIES AND OPERATIONS

Milk purchases to May 1993 by Tukums were running at approximately 85% of 1992
levels. If purchases continue at this level for the rest of the year then total purchases in
1993 will be approximately 44,000 tons. This compares with 51,654 tons in 1992 and
65,928 tons in 1991. Although Tukums has been dropping the price paid to farmers
for milk, it is anticipated that for the remainder of the year, it will not significantly
affect supply. However, in the future this could become a problem. (Details of
historical and forecast purchases of milk by Tukums are included in the supporting
documents.)




Ensuring a stable and cost competitive supply of milk is crucial to the continued
operation of the plant. Tukums is working with the pagast level cooperatives in the
upgrading of milk collection stations. Work is currently planned or being undertaken
in the Zantes, Matkules and Zemites pagasts. Tukums is also encouraging the pagasts
to collect milk using their own vehicles to help lower costs. This is now happening in
seven pagasts. Tukums itself has recently arranged for the state enterprise
"Kurzemnieks", which collects milk for the Tukums plant, to take a share in the
Tukums Dairy Association. By this means it will obtain a better contract for the
collection of milk, thus helping to lower costs.

Tukums plans no major capital expenditure in the near future. The cheese production
facility at Jaunpils is currently being upgraded, which will increase its capacity to two
tons per shift. This work should be completed by 1995. In addition, new boiler
facilities are being installed at the main Tukums plant. This work is all being financed
out of current income.
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TUKUMS DAIRY ENTERPRISE
Balance Sheet
Balances at December 31st
(LVR in thousands)

ASSETS

Current Assets
Cash
Short term investments
Accounts receivable
Inventory
Other
Total Current Assets

Fixed Assets
Assets under construction
Other Long term Assets

TOTAL ASSETS

LIABLITIES ANI) EQUITY

Current Liablities
Accounts payable
Other short term payables
Other
Total Current Liabilities

Long Term Debt

Total Liabilities

Equity
Capital & retained earnings
1992 Revaluationreserve

Total Equity
TOTAL LIABILITIES & EQUITY

59,135
16,011
5,098

UNAUDITED

0
4,549
1,752
1,015

85,709
6,723
6,763

60

99,255

8,630
5,074
824

0

14,528

0

63,561

32,186
3,508

0

5,561

8,967
0

35,694

8,967

99,255

14,528

The accompanying notes to the financial statements are an integral part of this document.




UNAUDITED

TUKUMS DAIRY ENTERPRISE
Income Statement
For year ended December 31st
(LVR in thousands)

1992 1991

Sales 161,832 0

Less: Turnover Tax 0 0
Net sales 161,832 0
Less: Cost of Goods Sold 140,177 0
Gross profit 21,655 0
Other Income ' 1,673 0

Less: Other Expenses 480 0
Net Other Income 1,193 0
PROFIT (LOSS) 22,848 0
Taxes 10,213 0
NET PROFIT (LOSS) 12,635 0

The accompanying notes to the financial statements are an integral part of this document.
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FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SUMMARY

The financial statements of the enterprise have been reformatted
into a standard western format. The scope of this project did not
include the restatement of the accounts in accordance with
International Accounting Standards (IAS). As such, no adjustments
to management's representation of financial information have been
made. Nor has this compilation of financial information included
any audit or due diligence efforts that in any way expresses an
opinion on the financial information presented.

This effort has:

1) reformatted the enterprise's existing accounts into asset,
liability, equity, revenue and expense categories;

2) eliminated entries which represent double counting of
accounts;

3) compiled balance sheets and income statements, based on the

existing Latvian accounts and management representations, as
of and for the year ending December 31, 1992, and, when
possible, for the year ending December 31, 1991, (the 1990
financial statements have not been included in this report);

4) included interviews of the enterprise's management and
accounting staff, which, along with the Latvian financial
statements, are the basis of the notes to the financial
statements for individual enterprises;

5) included interviews of Ministry of Agriculture personnel and
management personnel from other Latvian dairy and bakery
enterprises, which are the basis of the general notes to and
background on Latvian accounting practices and financial
statements included in this document; and

6) not added accounts omitted from the Latvian financial records
which represent balance sheet and income statement entries
necessary to meet IAS principles and more fairly present the
financial position of the enterprise;

The financial information presented contains many limitations and
issues which impact the content of the information, its
comparability to other enterprises and other time periods, and the
interpretative and analytical value. The major constraints and
issues impacting the enterprise's financial statements are
highlighted in the notes (general and enterprise-specific) to the
financial statements, which are considered an integral part of this
document.




NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
GENERAL

(Also See Enterprise Specific Notes)

LATVIAN ACCOUNTING PRACTICE

The following analysis sets out the basis on which the
enterprises' financial statements are prepared and highlights the
differences between Latvian and international standard accounting
practice.

The analysis has been based on interviews with the accounting staff
at the enterprises and The Ministry of Agriculture.

The laws on "Accounting" and "On Annual Reports" govern accounting
practices in Latvia as of January 1, 1993. They are based largely
on priciples set out by the Fourth Directive of the EC and the
Danish accounting law in particular.

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The preparation of financial statements in Latvia is not in
accordance with International Accounting Standards (IAS). The
fundamental accounting concepts are only partially observed:

° Going concern - all enterprises are correctly assumed to
be going concerns and are accounted for on the basis that
they will continue to trade with the current scale of
operations.

Consistency - books and records are kept using accounts
which record the enterprise's activities and transactions
which form categories of assets and liabilities.
Although accounting policies are applied consistently
during a given year, the past three years have been
characterized by changes in government policy and
directives as to form and content of financial reporting
and accounting treatment of transactions.

In particular, the accounting formats changed between
1990 when they were prepared under the Soviet system, and
1991 when statements which were prepared under the
Latvian systen. The format was changed once more in
1992, although not as significantly. No analysis is
provided in the accounts to show the effects of these
changes. The 1993 accounts and financial statements have
also changed significantly from 1992, in an effort to
more closely adapt to IAS.

Accruals - accrual accounting was only introduced for the
year ended December, 1992. Prior to this the basis used




was similar to a double entry form of cash accounting
with some adjustments for prepayments. The changes
initiated in 1992 do not reflect a full accrual basis,
some aspects may still be considered a modified cash
basis of accounting.

Prudence - the financial statements do not reflect a
conservative view of the affairs of the enterprise. No
provisions are made to reflect irrecoverability of debt
or other reductions in the value of assets.

The profit and loss information provided does not fully reflect the
profit or loss generated or the amount transferred to reserves.
The net profit figure does not take account of items such as
interest paid, employee bonuses, and depreciation of certain asset
categories and thus overstates the profit. Detailed expense
information, ie analyzing expense categories included in cost of
goods sold, is not included in the Latvian financial statements and
therefore excluded from the reformatted financial statements.

Many different funds and reserves are maintained for a variety of
purposes with the result that almost all transactions require
transfers to be made to or from reserves in a manner which is not
consistent with IAS.

As noted above, the financial statements are not comparable as a
result of changes in format, asset revaluations which have been
made, and the rapid inflation during the period.

As a result, it is difficult to assess a Latvian enterprise based
on its financial statements. The only review of books carried out
is one by tax authorities to ensure the compliance and accuracy of
tax computations.

The financial statements provide evidence that books have been
maintained. They do not necessarily reflect a true and fair view
of the financial position of all of the enterprise's assets and
liabilities, or that the revenue and expenses represent
maintainable earnings.

The significant divergences from international accounting practice
would make it difficult for an unqualified audit opinion to be
rendered for the periods represented, if such an audit of the
financial statements was attempted.

ACCOUNTING POLICIES

We set out below details of accounting policies for significant
classes of asset and liability.




Fixed Assets

All state enterprises revalued their fixed assets at 1 January
1992, in accordance with Government regulations. The different
categorles of asset were revalued according to publlshed
revaluation coefficients to reflect the deterioration in value
caused by high rates of inflation.

The following coefficients were generally used for classes of
assets purchased prior to 1989 for the 1 January 1992 revaluation:

Motor vehicles .
Instruments .
Machinery .
Imported Machinery .

Additional revaluations took place at 1 January 1993. The following
coefficients were determined by government regulation:

Assets purchased prior to 1990 ©10.0
Assets purchased during 1991 3.0
Assets purchased during 1992 -

Accumulated depreciation was adjusted in proportion to the change
in fixed asset values. The revaluation surplus was credited to the
statutory fund rather than being maintained in a separate reserve.

The method adopted for revaluations does not reflect the IAS
practice on revaluation of assets, although in some way it reflects
the change in value caused by inflation. No account is taken of
the replacement cost of the assets, of their physical condition nor
of any changes in the remaining useful life of the asset.

Depreciation

Depreciation rates are on average lower than those used in Western
Europe and the US. Many items which would be considered small
replacements or consumables are included as assets and depreciated
over 1 or 2 years. Examples of the depreciation rates used are as
follows:

Asset Asset Life Annual Rate of
# of years Depreciation

Buildings 84 to 100 1%
Trucks 7-14 7-14%
Computers 14 7%
Machinery

- city use 10

- country use 12




Office furniture with a value of 1less than 5,000 Latvian
Rubles (LVR) are included as fixed assets, but not
depreciated.

Depreciation is calculated monthly on a straight line basis
commencing in the month of acquisition.

The definition of a capital asset is any item exceeding a specified
cost. This threshold can be very low,for example 5,000 LVR for
dairies. As a result, there a large number of very low value items
being included as assets rather than being expensed. These items
are usually included as part of inventory. 50% of their value is
written of when used, while the remaining 50% is written off on
disposal. Assets under construction are recorded separately and
are not depreciated until completed and put into operation.

Accounts Receivable

Accounts receivable are generally overstated. Amounts owed to the
enterprise are included at full value with no adjustment made for
bad or doubtful accounts. Until recently, the incidence of bad
debts was so low that such provisions were not required. Detailed
debtor ledgers are maintained and usually updated monthly, however
no credit control is exercised.

With the privatization of some entities, former state debts are

dismissed, leaving the enterprises to deal with government rather
than the original debtor entity.

Inventory

Stocks are valued at cost with no provision for diminution in value
or obsolescence. Many stock 1levels will be significantly
overstated in the accounts. Stock levels are further misstated
when consumables or small replacements are included in the asset
line.

Reserves

The statutory fund and other reserve funds are used to reflect a
variety of transactions. There are frequent transfers between
funds which would not be possible under IAS. Thus for example, the
purchase of a fixed asset requires the transfer of appropriated
funds from a fixed asset fund to the statutory fund. There is no
equity or share capital on the Latvian financial statements. For
purposes of this analysis, the reserves which appear equivalent to
equity have been classified as such on the reformatted financial
statements.




Subsidies

Subsidies received from the state are not reflected in the income
or profit/loss of the enterprise. The accounting treatment used
results in an increase in reserves reflecting the amount of
subsidies received even though the subsidies are for operating
costs. Under IAS such amounts would be treated as income.

Liabilities

The principal categories of liabilities included in balance sheets
are taxation and accounts payable. Liabilities for bank loans or
other long term loans essentially did not exist.

Accounts payable balances are principally for suppliers. As with
accounts receivables, any evaluation of the likelihood of payment
or the period in arrears was not made.

Financial Planning

There are currently no financial forecasts or budgets prepared by
the enterprises. This is partly because of the difficulty of
forecasting in such a rapidly changing economy and partly because
plans are considered to be a feature of the old regime and
therefore no longer required. There is little understanding of the
importance of budgeting for the overall financial control of an
enterprise. Previously, all planning was centrally performed and
given to the enterprises.

Enterprises currently are in the process of preparing privatization
plans, and are preparing plans and future strategies for the first
time. Some enterprises are in the preliminary stages of such
planning, while others are more advanced and are being valued, and
are near submission of these plans to the Ministry of Agriculture.

Internal and Accounting Controls

A review of internal and accounting controls was not within the
scope of this review. All amounts presented are management
representations.

Oother Information

As previously stated, the enterprises have been operating in
rapidly changing market and economic conditions. Extreme
inflationary conditions began in 1991 and continued through 1992.
Monthly inflation rates, based on the retail price index, were as
high as 56.4% in January of 1992, the 1991 annual rate was 262%.
In May of 1992, the inflation rate compared to May of 1991 was
639%. Inflation had diminished by December of 1992.




Similarly, currency values have also been fluctuating. Comparisons
to the US dollar from the Bank of Latvia are presented below.

USS expressed as LVR

Annual Rate 1991 0.05821
December 1991 103.5 Buy 120.55 Sell
October 1992 180 Buy 191 Sell




Notes to Financial Statements - Enterprise Specific
Tukums Dairy Enterprise

Note 1 - Significant Accounting Principles

As stated in more detail in the general notes and summary,
Tukums Dairy Enterprise (Tukums), like other Latvian
enterprises, during 1992 managed its accounts and financial
reporting according to Republic regulations and guidelines.
As such, Tukums did not employ a full accrual basis in
recording assets and liabilities or in the recognition of
income or realization of expenses during 1992 or 1991. The
handling of accounts may be considered a modified cash basis
with some accrual accounting in accordance with Latvian
accounting practices and regulations in effect during the
periods presented.

Fixed Assets are carried at historical cost and depreciated
over the useful life (as prescribed by Latvian regulations)
using the straight line method. However, fixed assets were
revalued according to Latvian regulations on both January 1st
of 1992 and 1993. The basis and coefficients employed in
revaluation are discussed in more detail in the general notes
to the financial statements.

Land (property) values were not recorded on enterprise
financial statements in Latvia during any of the vyears
presented.

A cash flow statement is not included in the financial
statements presented, as the 1992 and 1991 Latvian accounts
were not conducive to its preparation. Cash is held in
Latvian currency (LVR), hard currencies (e.g. DM, US$), and
other currencies (e.g. Russian, Georgian), exchange gains and
losses are included in net income.

2 - Accounts Receivable

Accounts Receivable for Tukums includes the following in
thousands of LVR at December 31st:

Type of Accounts Receivable 19922 1991

Trade Accounts Receivable 54,154 3,306

Other Receivables 4,982 1,243
TOTAL 59,135 4,549

Tukums did not record any allowance for bad debts to reduce




the amount of the reported accounts receivable. According to
management, they do not have any receivables they consider
uncollectible. Most sales are paid 1in cash, with the
exception of sales made to other state enterprises. Under new
reqgulations, Latvian enterprises ar= allowed to collect 5% in
fines from debtors for late payments.

3 - Inventories

Inventories appear to be accounted for on a first in first out
(FIFO) basis. An allowance for 1loss or spoilage is not
recorded by the enterprise, nor does the carrying amount of
inventory necessarily reflect the net realizable value of the
inventory. -

4 - Fixed Assets

Fixed assets are generally carried at historical cost, as
previously noted, except for the revaluations which have
occurred in 1992 and 1993. Depreciation is expensed and
accumulated on a straight line basis using the asset category
useful lives as prescribed by regulations (see general notes
for examples). Typically, the useful life of an asset under
Latvian requlations is significantly 1longer than that
considered appropriate by Western standards.

The following table displays the gross book value of fixed
assets, accumulated depreciation, and net book value at
December 31, 1991, after revaluation at January 1, 1992, and
at December 31, 1992 for Tukums. Amounts are expressed as
thousands of LVRs.

12/31/91

1/1/92

12/31/92

Fixed Asset - Gross

n/a

13,742

11,896

Less: Accumulated
Depreciation

n/a

5,160

5,173

Net Fixed Assets

5,074

8,582

6,723

In the fixed asset category as presented on the financial
statements, apartment buildings are included. Under the
privatization law, such buildings will be removed from the
assets of the enterprise and privatized separately.
Consequently, the net book value of assets presented in these
financial statements may overstate the net book value of the
assets actually to be privatized.

Also see Note 8 regarding restitution claims.




Note 5 - Taxes

Tukums is subject to various taxes as an enterprise under
Latvian regulations. The major taxes and the basis of the
taxes assessed are outlined below.

Type of Tax Tax Base Percent of Base

Turnover Tax Sales 6
Profit/Income Tax Profit 35
Land/Property Tax Profit <2
Social Tax Payroll 37

Note 6 - Credit Disclosures

Tukums’s financial statements include only current types of
payables, including taxes payable, trade payables to
suppliers, accrued salaries, and other rents, etc. They do
not represent to have any bank loans or long term debt, which
is consistent with other Latvian enterprises, due to the
banking system which currently does not extend such types of
credit.

Note 7 - Equity Disclosures

Tukums currently prepares its accounts as a state enterprise.
Equity on the balance sheet has been segregated to show
separately the amount of equity which is the result of

increases realized due to fixed asset revaluation at January
1, 1992, and the total amount of equity associated with
capital, retained earnings, and perhaps previous revaluations.

Note 8 - Contingent Liabilities

As 1is the case with all Latvian enterprises involved 1in
privatization, potential claims may exist in regard to
restitution to the pre-1941 1land or building owners.
According to Tukums’s management, no search of the Archives to
determine if former private owners may exist has been
performed. No liability reserves for potential future claims
have been included in the financial statements.

Note 9 - Other Notes

As stated in the general notes to the financial statements,
Latvia has been in a transitional environment. Tukums’s
operations and financial statements have been impacted by such
pressures as high inflation, significant demand shifts due to
price liberalization and 1lifting of subsidies, dramatic policy




and regulation changes involved in the shift from socialism to
capitalism, and the appreciation of the Latvian Ruble against
currencies of other former Soviet republics. As such, the
financial statements presented have significant limitations as
to analytical value in comparing between time periods and
between enterprises. The notes have merely presented and
outlined the major factors and conditions underlying the
financial statements which would influence their utility for
users in making assessments of the enterprise’s financial
condition.




TUKUMS - Forecast Profit & Loss 1993
LVR (000)

year ended
Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Dec. 1993

Sales Revenue 170,734 188,027 222,113 181,567 762,441
Less Sales Tax (6%) 10,244 11,282 13,327 10,894 45,746
Net Revenue 160,490 176,745 208,786 170,673 716,695

Less Production Expenses 144,616 142,089 166,231 133,230 586,166

Gross Profit {Loss) 15,874 34,656 42,5556 37,443 130,529
Less Profit Taxes 5,656 12,696 15,408 13,441 47,101
Net Profit (Loss) 10,318 21,960 27,147 24,002 83,428




TUKUMS - Forecast Profit & Loss 1993

BUTTER

Sales Revenue
Less Sales Tax (6%)
Net Revenue

Less Production Expenses
Gross Profit (Loss)

Less Profit Taxes
Net Profit (Loss)

CHEESE

Sales Revenue
Less Sales Tax (6%)
Net Revenue

Less Production Expenses
Gross Profit (Loss)

Less Profit Taxes
Net Profit {Loss)

CREAM

Sales Revenue
Less Sales Tax (6%)
Net Revenue

Less Production Expenses
Gross Profit (Loss)

Less Profit Taxes
Net Profit (Loss)

a1

26,203
1,572
24,631

23,917

714
250
464

22,154
1,329
20,825

18,436
2,389

836
1,653

a1

54,378
3,263
51,115

47,766
3,349

1,172
2,177

LVR (000)

Q2

34,959
2,098
32,861

31,043
1,818

636
1,182

Q2

18,656
1,119
17,637

12,872
4,665

1,633
3,032

Q2

74,115
4,447
69,668

50,803
18,765

6,568
12,197

Q3

39,283
2,357
36,926

35,267
1,659

581
1,078

Q3

19,970
1,198
18,772

13,938
4,834

1,692
3,142

a3

106,339
6,380
89,959

73,034
26,925

9,424
17,501

Q4

25,048
1,503
23,545

22,626
919

322
597

Q4

18,614
1,117
17,497

13,002
4,495

1,673
2,922

04

93,450
5,607
87,843

64,182
23,661

8,281
15,380

year ended
Dec. 1993

125,493
7,530
117,963

112,853

5,110
1,789
3,321

year ended
Dec. 1993

79,394
4,763
74,631

58,248
16,383

5,734
10,649

year ended
Dec. 199

328,282
19,697
308,585

235,885
72,700

25,445
47,255




TUKUMS - Forecast Profit & Loss 1993
LVR {000)

year ended
COTTAGE CHEESE Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Dec. 1993

Sales Revenue 28,419 25,991 23,632 15,434 93,376
Less Sales Tax (6%) 1,705 1,669 1,412 926 5,602
Net Revenue 26,714 24,432 22,120 14,508 87,774

Less Production Expenses 23,057 26,049 23,585 15,468 88,159

Gross Profit {Loss) 3,657 -1,617 -960 -385
Less Profit Taxes 762 762
Net Profit (Loss) 2,895 -1,617 -960 -1,147

OTHER WHOLE MILK year ended
PRODUCTS Q2 Q3 Q4 Dec. 1993

Sales Revenue 39,580 34,306 32,989 29,021 135,896
Less Sales Tax {(6%) 2,375 2,058 1,979 1,741 8,154
Net Revenue 37,205 32,248 31,010 27,280 127,742

Less Production Expenses 31,440 21,222 20,407 17,952 91,021
Gross Profit [Loss) 5,765 11,026 10,603 9,328 36,721

Less Profit Taxes 145 3,859 3,711 3,265 10,980
Net Profit (Loss) 5,620 7.167 6.892 6,063 25,741




Assumptions to Forecasts

0 1. Production volumes in each of the quarters in 1993 for each
g product are assumed to be in the same proportion as production
; in 1992. The total volume of each product produced in 1993 is
based on the ratio of first quarter 1993 production to first
quarter 1992 production. Tables showing actual production on
a guarterly basis for each product in 1992, and forecasts for
1993 are attached.

2. The costs of production for all products for the last three
gquarters of 1993 will remain the same as those of March 1993
except for the purchase price of milk. The purchase price of
milk in March averaged 14.5 Rubles per liter. This was in
line with the average purchase price through out the whole
first quarter of 1993. However, by June 1993 the milk
purchase price had dropped to an average of 9.5 Rubles per
liter. It is possible that the price will have to be lowered
yet again. For the forecasts therefore a price of 9.0 Rubles
per 1liter has been used. Tables showing the cost of
production by product in March 1993, and forecasts for the
remainder of the year are attached.

3. Actual and forecast wholesale product prices for 1993 in
Rubles per kilogram are as follows:

Product mid mid March mid June Forecast
January

Butter 220 240 180 170

Cheese 190 190 165 169

Cream 90 95 80 o

Other whole 18 21 18 18

milk prods

Cottage 62 70 45 40

Cheese

The further lowering of the price of both butter and cheese
reflects the fact that even at the mid-June prices not all the

N product being produced is being sold, some product is having

' to be stored. The price for cottage cheese is assumed to drop

) to reflect the fact that skim milk, the major raw product from
which cottage cheese is manufactured, is moving into excess
supply. This is forcing the price of cottage cheese down.
Although some of this excess is currently being sold back to
the farmers for animal feed at a profit, as quantities
increase it is likely that the price farmers will be willing
to pay for the product will drop to zero.




Ry

21
-

Sales of all products produced in the forecast period are
assumed to occur in the quarter in which they are produced.
[Note This is not the case for butter and possibly also
cheese. However, the figures supplied for production, sales
and storage for the first part of 1993 did not reconcile so no
meaningful adjustment could be made to this assumption.] The
167 tons of butter and 15 tons of cheese currently in storage
are assumed to be sold off over the second half of 1993 and
the first two quarters of 1994. As these products were
produced using milk purchased at a relatively high price, it
is assumed that they are being sold at the cost of production
and hence the sales make no contribution to profits.

No allowance has been made for the effect of inflation.



TUKUMS - FORECAST PRODUCTION 1993 (tonnes)

Butter
Cheese 110 110

Cream 570 874

Cottage Cheese 383 613

Other Whole Milk
Products 1867 1798

Note: Actual 1st Quarter 1993 production figures used




TUKUMS - PRODUCTION 1992 (tonnes)

Butter
% of total

Cheese
% of total

Cream
% of total

Cottage Cheese
% of total

Other Whole Milk
Products
% of total

a4

'l 214

17

104
24

29




Assumptions Note 2 TUKUMS - Cost of Production March 1993
LVR per tonne

Total
Production Production
Mitk*® Energy Salaries Transport Admin. Other Expenses Total

Butter 190,310 11,468 1,249 23,365 1,445 1,782 229,619 232,200

Cheese 133,350 5,319 5,209 9,638 6,041 6,725 166,282 167,600
Cream 67,384 4,017 1,329 7,780 1,632 828 82,870 83.800
WM Prod. 13,280 688 393 798 454 1,108 16,721 16,840
Cottage Ch 49,574 4,804 1,757 0 2,029 904 59,068 60,200

Total 453,898 26,296 9,937 41,581 11,501 11,347 564,560 560,640

Production Costs as Percent of Total

Total
Production Production
Milk* Energy Salaries Transport Admin. Expenses Total
Butter 81.96% 4.94% 0.54% 10.06% 0.62% 98.89% 100.00%
Cheese 79.56% 3.17% 3.11% 5.75% 3.60% 99.21% 100.00%
Cream 80.41% 4.79% 1.59% 9.28% 1.83% 98.89% 100.00%
WM Prod. 78.86% 4.09% 2.33% 4.74% 2.70% 99.29% 100.00%
Cottage Ch 82.35% 7.98% 2.92% 0.00% 3.37% 98.12% 100.00%

Total 80.96% 4.69% 1.77% 7.42% 2.05% 98.92% 100.00%

*Milk prices caiculated at 14.5 LVR/liter
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TUKUMS DAIRY ENTERPRISE

Line
Nos.

010
020
030
035
040
050
065
070
080
090

100
110
120
130
140
150
160
170
171

200
210
220
230
240
250
270
300
310
320
325
330
340
350
360
370

390

Balance Sheet (Bilance)

Assets (Aktivs)

Fixed Assets

Intangible Assets

Assets under construction

Assets not ready for use

Long term investments

Current year profit/offset 500 or 510
Amounts due from members

Other receivables

Current year loss/offset 500 or 510
Total — check

Raw Materials and consumables
Work in progress

Work in progress

Prepaid expenses

Finished gocds

Finished goods

Other inventory

Total

Goods in transit

Cash on hand

Cashin bank

Hard currency accounts
Other bank accounts
Other bank accounts
Shortterm investments
Bank loan monies rec'd
Trade accts receivable
Bilis of exchange
Payments in advance
Tax overpayments rec'ble
Other debtors
Employee loans

Social welfare expenses
Other receivables

Total — check

Total — check

31 Dec 1991

31 Dec 1992

UNAUDITED

1 Jan 1992

13,742 |

The accompanying notes to the financial statements are an integral part of this document,




UNAUDITED

TUKUMS DAIRY ENTERPRISE
Line
Nos. Liabilities (Pasivs) 31 Dec 1991 31 Dec 1992 1 Jan 1992

400 Statutory fund 6,379 9,918 9,887
410 Accum depreciation 5,160 5,173 5,160

420 Depreciation consumables 62 72
430 Investment financing 824 6,763
440 Other payables

445 Obligations to members
450 Financing reserve 1,764 19,013 1,764|
460 Vaccation accrual 49 3
470 Amortization & Repairs

480 Payments received in advance
490 Unrealised profit on sales

500 or 510 Profit

520 Total — check

600 Short term payables
610 Medium term payables
620 Long term payables
630 Overdue loans!

640 Short term loans

650 Long term loans

660 Total — check

700 Accts payable — goods
710 Bills of exchange

720 Payments received in advance
730 Taxes payable

735 Privatization expenses
740 Social pension tax

750 Accured salaries

760 Other payables

765 Employee loans

770 Other

780 Total — check

Total — check

Calculation
f me 3,508
Accumulated Dep 0
Difference Net Assets 3,508
Statutory Fund movement 3,508

The accompanying notes to the financial statements are an integral part of this document




UNAUDITED

TUKUMS DAIRY ENTERPRISE
‘Income Statement (Finansu Rezultanti) 1992 1992 1991 1991
Line Revenues Costs Revenues Costs

Nos.

010 Revenue from goocus sold 161,832
020 Tumover tax
030 Sales lesstax — check 161,832

040 Product and period costs [ 140,177]
050 Profit — check 21,655

060 Other sales results
070 Non-sales operations 1,673 480
071 Investment Income
080 Profit andloss totals 23,328 480
090 Net profit — check 22,848

100 Non taxable income
101 Value of stock sold

Use of Profits Statement 1992
(Pelnas lzlietosana)

Income tax expense
To reserves

To capital funds

To the investmemt fund 221 is subset of 220
To dividends

To previous year's losses
Donations

Other

Uses of profits — check

Use of Profits Statement 1991
(Pelnas Izlietosana)

Income tax expense

To reserves

Production Development
Social development
Employee bonus/incentives
Donations

Other

Other

Uses of profits — check

The accompanying notes to the financia! statements are an integral part of this document.




COUNTRY DATA - LATVIA

GNP per capita in USD in 1991

General
Area (square km)
Population, 1990 mid-year (thousands)
Growth rate, 1980-90 (percent)
Density, 1990 (per square km)

Social Indicators
Population characteristics
Crude birth rate, 1990 (per 1,000)
Crude death rate, 1990 (per 1,000)
Health
Infant mortality rate, 1990 (per 1,000 live)
Life expectancy at birth, 1950

Gross Domestic Product

Current Prices Real Growth Rates
(million rubles) (annual % change)

1990 1991 1990 1991

GDP at market prices 12,201.0 28,6650 -35 -8.3
Total consumption 8,226.0 16,198.0 N.A. N.A.
Private consumption 6,888.5 13,249.6 N.A. N.A.
Government consumption 1,337.5 29484 N.A, N.A.
Gross domestic investment 4,057.0 9,669.5 N.A. N.A.
Fixed investment 3,337.9 N.A. N.A N.A.
Change in stocks 719.1 N.A. -~ --
Net Exports -82.0 2,797.5 -- --

Output, Employment and Productivity

GDP in 1991 Employment in 1991 GDP per worker

min RUR % of total  thousands % of total rubles % of average

Agriculture 5,739.0 20.0 226.6 16.2 23,326 123.4
Industry 13,907.0 48.5 433.6 31.0 32,073 156.3
Services 9,019.0 315 736.3 52.8 12,244 59.7

Total/Average  28,665.0) 100.0 1,396.8 100.0 20.522 +100.0

Source: Larvia: Transition to a Market Economy. The World Bank. 1993




Latvia: Consumer Price Index

(1987 = 100.0)

- 1988 1989 1990 1991
Consumer Price Index 103.6 108.5 119.9 326.4 -
Average Price of Goods 104.2 109.6 122.2 342.2
Purchased
Price of Services 100.1 101.3 104.5 231
Memorandum ltems:
Percent Change from Previous Year
Consumer Price Index 3.6 4.7 10.5 172.2
Average Prices of Goods 4.2 5.2 11.56 180
Purchased Price of Services 0.1 1.2 3.2 121.1

" Source: State Committse far Statistics




Latvia: Average Monthly Salary of Workers
(Rubles per Month)

1983

1984

Agriculture
Industry
Construction
Education
Health

Average Salary in
State Enterprises

Average Salary in:
Agricultural Cooperatives 151.9
Other Cooperatives NA NA NA

185.7
198.2
228.2
145.5
138.5

183.6

NA

203.6
205.6
235.8
148.5
139.5

180.3

NA

NA

NA

NA

Source: State Committee for Statistics.




Productivity Comparison, 1989

Democratic Republic
Commodity Finland Latvia USSR of Germany

Grain (quintals/ha) 29.3 23.5 19.0 440
Potatoes (quintals/ha) 219.0 155.0 20.0 233.6
Sugar Beet (quintals/ha) 3203 294.0 249.0 302.3
Milk (kg/cow) 5,246.0 3,636.0 2,600.0 3,821.0
Eggs (units/hen) N.A. 219.0 N.A. 220.0
Feed conversion (pigs) 3.2 9.8 N.A. N.A.
Inputs
Labor/100 hectares 7.9 114 N.A. 8.2
100.0 91.5 N.A. 141.3

30.0 71.4 N.A. 56.4
56.0 123.8 N.A. 94.4

N.A. = not available
Note: N = nitrogen; P = phosphorus; K = potassium

Source: Latvia: Transition to a Market Economy, The World Bank, 1993




PERCENTAGES OF MILK PURCHASES
BY "KOMBINAT" DAIRY COOPERATIVES
{(in metric tons)

% Change
Name of Enterprise 1992-1991

Tons
1991

%
Total

Tons
1992

%
Total

Riga -31.84%
Valmiera -30.21%
Liepaja -15.68%
Rezekne -36.04%
Daugavpils -40.53%
Jelgava -23.43%
Tukums -21.72%
Jekabpils -37.42%
Bauskas -28.09%
Ventspils -32.46%
Agrofirma "Koknese" -36.36%
Kraslava -34.63%
Aizpute -35.76%
Preili -30.26%
Saldus -20.94%

122,599
289,334
140,399
264,892
67,948
146,615
65,983
60,437
79,058
28,703
50,152
60,051
36,380
50,580
55,363

TOTAL -30.03% 1,518,494

8.07%
19.05%
9.25%
17.44%
4.47%
9.66%
4.35%
3.98%
5.21%
1.89%
. 3.30%
3.95%
2.40%
3.33%
3.65%

83,563
201,927
118,388
169,427

40,407
112,266

51,654

37,821

56,852

19,387

31,918

39,255

23,369

35,277

41,001

100.00% 1,062,512

7.86%
19.00%
11.14%
15.95%

3.80%
10.57%

4.86%

3.56%

5.35%

1.82%

3.00%

3.69%

2.20%

3.32%

3.86%

100.00%

Source: The Ministry of Agriculture of the Republic of Latvia
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Environmental Assessment of Tukums Dairy

Latvian Agribusiness Privatization Project
June 12, 1993




1.0 SUMMARY OF ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION IN THE REPUBLIC OF LATVIA

This chapter summarizes the current environmental protection
laws and practices in the Republic of Latvia based on reading of
Latvia: A Transition to a Market Economy, A World Bank country
Study, The International Bank for Reconstruction and Development,
1993 and discussions with personnel from seven dairies in the
country, three Environmental Protection Committee (EPC) personnel
in Headquarters, three Regional EPC personnel, and two local
municipal treatment plant personnel.

The majority of the comments made in this entire report are
based on translations (from both Latvian and Russian) of either
written or oral comments. Because of the potential disparity in
interpretation of questions and answers through the translation
process, the discussion that follows should be read with that in
mind.

1.1 Environmental Institutions

The Environmental Protection Committee (EPC) was created by
the Latvian Supreme Council on June 2, 1990 (after the self-
declaration of independence). The Supreme Council both appoints
the Chairman of and elects members of the EPC. At present, the
Chairman is Indulis Emsis. The EPC was placed outside of the
Council of Ministers structure (but at the same 1level); the
rationale being that the importance of the environment should not
be lost amid economic priorities. The EPC will be incorporated
into the parliament shortly after the June 1993 elections,
including the selection of a minister to head the ministry. As
such, the future of the EPC is difficult to predict. It is
expected that few if any of the top officials in the EPC will
remain in their existing positions. It is likely, however, that
staff level employees, especially in regional offices, will
maintain similar responsibilities. Nonetheless, the discussion
which follows describes the environmental laws, EPC policy, and
general environmental protection attitudes. The reader is warned
that significant changes may occur upon entrance of the EPC into
parliament.

The EPC is divided into technical and enforcement
subdivisions. The technical section is headed by the first vice
chairman and sets policy and standards while the enforceument
section is headed by the chief inspector and implements the legal
mandates in the field, including levying penalties and taxes. Nine
regional committees and other state institutions assist with the
implementation of these requirements.

Environmental organizations who assist the EPC to develop,
implement, and enforce the regulations include; the Research
Center, the Analytic and Information Center, the Forest and Hunting
Inspection Committee, the Water Resource Use and Inspectorate, the




Water Reservoirs and Mineral Resources Inspectorate, and several
nature reserves. The Hydrogeological and Meteorological Institute,
a Soviet designed group with the best monitoring capabiliities in
Latvia, performs independent monitoring and maintains a database.
The EPC coordinates many activities with this group, but has no
administrative control over it.

The nine regional EPCs are responsible for issuing permits for
projects, enforcing regulations, and providing public information
services. Latvia has 26 local government administrative units, so
each regional committee has about 3 local government units. Each
regional committee has 5 subdivisions: (1) an inspectorate (the
largest group); (2) a sampling and testing 1laboratory; (3) an
expert group for performing environmental impact assessments
prepatory to the issuance of permits for new or expanded
facilities; (4) a cadastre that catalogs statistics on emissions,
natural resource use, volumes, etc., and (5) support services.

The regional EPCs are primarily geared towards determining the
pollution charge level, to inspect for compliance, to impose
penalties for exceeding limitations, and to negotiate a compliance
schedule to achieve the necessary reductions in emissions. The
ultimate sanction, closing down an enterprise, has not yet been
exercised.

1.2 Environmental Laws

Since 1990, the Supreme Council of the Republic of Latvia has

enacted several laws governing environmental protection:

° The Law on the Environmental Protection Committee (June
1990) establishes the Environmental Protection Committee
(EPC) as the executive and oversight authority for all
environmental protection and natural resource use in
Latvia and is accountable of and subordinate to the
Supreme Council. The EPC thereby formulates, implements,
and oversees unified policy for environmental protection
and natural resource use. This law also grants the EPC
authority to monitor without hinderance to assess
compliance with environmental laws. Finally, this law
sets out the requirement that the EPC must prepare an
account of its activities at least annually and submit
this report to the Supreme Council.

The Law on State Environmental Impact Assessments
(October 1990) establishes and regulates the
environmental impact process in Latvia. Env‘ronmental
Impact Assessments are a prerequisite for the financing
of any state industrial project. If the assessment
determines that the project directly or indirectly
impacts, or in the future, may impact the surrounding
environment, public health, or living conditions, state




institutions of authority and administration will ¢
determine the fate of the facility.

L The Environmental Protection Committee Inspectorate
Regulation (October 1990) vests authority in EPC
inspectors to verify, without impediment, the observation
of the environmental protection law, for both
environmental protection and natural resource use, and
provides enforcement powers in these inspectors to halt
activities that violate the law and to punish violators.

L The Law on Natural Resource and Pollution Charges
(December 1990) establishes charges for the use of
natural resources and the reclease of effluent within
standards and enforces sanctions against those who exceed
permitted limitations or whose releases exceed the
standards. Funds collected from these taxes and fines,
of which 25 percent goes to the Republic of Latvia
national budget and /5 percent goes to the 1local
municipal government budget, must be used for activities
related to environmental protection.

L The Law of Environmental Protection (August 1991)
delegates primary responsibility to the EPC regarding
environmental protection, natural resource use,

environmental impact assessment procedures, standards,
permits, and public information and sets out goals for
the protection of the environment and the rational use of
natural resources.

At this time, these regulations identify overall goals rather
than specific operative limitations and requirements. The EPC and
the Supreme Council are considering new laws to improve
implementability of the requirements and to make the laws more
technically defensible. For example, a new hazardous waste law was
recently enacted, setting out specific requirements for wastes
exhibiting corrosive, reactive, ignitable, or toxic properties.

Latvia has also instituted specific regulations for water use,
water use permits, wastewater discharge permits, and wastewater
discharge standards which were confirmed with the Latvia EPC
Council on November 29, 1991 (Resolution Number 3). These
regulations, which were implemented starting in 1992, limit the use
of water and set maximum allowable discharge standards to Latvian
waters (i.e., water quality standards).

Regarciless of the quality of the existing regulations, changes
to all environmental 1laws will occur, if nothing else than to
revise the administrative procedures of the law (i.e., now being ;
within the parliament).

Unfortunately, at this time, privatization efforts have paid
little or no attention to environmental issues that may be of
concern at these enterprises. Similarly, the EPC, aware of the




economic hardship, has been willing to forego strict enforcement of
environmental standards. The EPC waives fines at enterprises on a
regular basis as 1long as the enterprise is aware of ‘he
environmental problems at its plant and is willing to do "whatever
it takes" to improve its situation with the exception of making a
capital investment. Enterprises that do not appear to care about
the future of the environment typically are required to pay fines,
hopefully to instill a sense of urgency in the protection of the
environment.

1.3 Environmental Standards

Latvia uses the water standards of the former Soviet Union and
has added a limited number of its own national standards. The
Scviet standards are more stringent than European Community or
United States standards; however, enforcement of these standards
was minimal in the Soviet Union. The setting of unrealistic
limitations led to general disregard for environmental laws and
regulations. Over 2,000 water quality indicators were applied in
the old Soviet system. Individual industrial effluent limitatioas
are to be based on manual calculations taking into account the
characteristics of the receiving stream. Discussions with dairy
personnel indicate that in most cases, rather than set:ing site-
specific limitations, the EPC uses a National set of effluent
limitations, per the EPC Couacil Resolution Number 3 (November 29,
1991). These effluent limitations for pollutants associated with
dairies, along with National water quality criteria applicable in
the receiving waters, are provided in Table 1.1. These limits were
developed by the EPC using both the old Soviet standards and more
recent European Community (EC) standards as a basis.

Table 1.1. Pollutant Limitations and Water Quality
Criteria Applicable to Dairies
WATER QUALITY EFFLUENT
CRITERIA LIMITATION

NO. | PARAMETER (mg/1) (mg/l)

1 Suspended Solids - 15

2 Chlorides 300 300

3 Sulfates 100 500

4 Biochemical Oxygen Demand 3 12

5 Chemical Oxygen Demand 15 90

6 Nitrate Nitrogen 9.1 25

7 Nitrite Nitrogen 0.02 0.15

8 | Ammonia Nitrogen




9 Phosphates 0.25 2.5
10 | Anionic Surfactants 0.1 0.5
11 | Nonionic Surfactants 0.1

12 | Fats - 5
13 | 0il Products 0.05 0.5

Similarly, air standards were adopted from old Soviet
regulations and apply to over 500 pollutants. For dairies,
emission monitoring is not routinely performe:, but dairies are
required to pay taxes for air pollution from bec.ilers, furnaces, and
ammonia refrigeraticr systems based on the quentity of chemicals
used or oils burned. Limitations on the quantity of pollutants
that can be emitted are contained in air permits. These quantities
are based on the chemicals used or burned rather than on actual
emission monitoring results.

1.4 Enforcement

As identified in Section 1.1, permits are issued by regional
EPCs. The permits stipulate effluent limits for major pollutants
and are subject to revision every year. When a facility does not
have control equipment to meet emission standards, temporary limits
are established through negotiations on the basis of the best
possible utilization of the technology currently in place at the
plant.

Natural resource and pollution taxes and fines were introduced
in the Law on Natural Resource and Pollution Charges. The taxes
are based on the use of natural resources (e.g., surface water and
groundwater) and the pollution of air and water according to the
gquantity used or discharged. As of June 1993, the specific tax
rates for natural resource use are provided in Table 1.1. Tax
rates for pollution are provided in Table 1.2. Note that rates for
natural resource use and pollution emission are subject to change.
For example, the rates provided in Tables 1.1 and 1.2 denote a ten-
fold increase effective January 1, 1993.

Fines have to paid by enterprises if permit limits are
exceeded and amount to three times the fees and are paid to the
State Environmental Protection Fund from after tax profit. Seventy
percent of the fines go to the regional EPC and thirty percent go
to the National EPC. In 1991, about 6 million Russian Rubles
accrued to ths fund.

At present, there is no National requirement for industries in
Latvia to perform indevendent sampling and analysis of emissions.
Ti:is work 1is performed by the EPC, and its subordinate
organizations, aind the Hydrogzological and Meteorological Agency.

1t /,/




There are, however, some Regional EPCs that have required
industrial facilities to monitor wastewater discharges and report
results to the Regional EPC. Latvia does not have National
sampling and analysis protocols that must be followed. Rather, the
EPC will occasionally compare its laboratory results with
enterprise analytical results and if large discrepancies are noted,
the EPC will try to determine the cause of these problems. Quite
oftan, the problem is traced to the analytical procedures, however,
again it should be noted, that with the poor state of the economy,
laboratory reagents are difficult to purchase, making laboratory
work less reliable.

Dairies that discharge wastewater to a municipal (e.g., City)
treatment plant are subject to the requirements of the treatment
plant personnel rather than the EPC personnel. In these cases, the
City staff issues a permit to the dairy that identifies the volume
of wastewater permitted to be discharged and the allowable nature
and concentration of the wastewater. Sampling may be conducted by
the EPC and/or the City and may also require self-monitoring on the
part of the dairy. Specific requirements for industries
discharging to municipal treatment plants are not set out in the
environmental regulations, rather, City ©p:rsonnel develop
limitations based on the amount of water and pcllutants that its
treatment plant can accept and still meet its wastewater permit
limitations.

Table 1.1. Tax Rates for Natural Resource Use

TAX RATES FOR WATER USE I

TYPE OF WATER USE TAX RATE (LVR/M?

Ground water 1.0

Surface water 0.2

Medicinal mineral water 5.0

Table mineral water 20.0

TAX RATES FOR NATURAL RESOURCE ACQUISITION

NO RESOURCE TYPE TAX RATE (LVR/M®

Ground soil

Sand

Sand and gravel mixture

Gravel

Clay




Dolomite 8.0

Limestone 15.0

Sypsum 20.0
Peat 3.0

Sapropel 2.5

Medicinal mud 36.0

Table 1.2. Tax Rates for Pollution

TAX RATE FOR POLLUTION WITHIN NORMATIVES, WASTE DISPOSAL

WASTE CLASSIFICATION TAX RATE (LVR/M

Non-toxic wastes 30

Toxic wastes 100

Extremely toxic wastes 3,000

TAX RATES FOR AIR POLLUTION
————_—__*__————_———'——
POLLUTION CLASSIFICATION" TAX RATE (LVR/TON)

Non-toxic emissions 200

Medium hazard emissions 300

Hazardous emissions 650

Very hazardous emissions 650,000

TAX RATES FOR WATER POLLUTICMN

POLLUTION CLASSIFICATION" TAX RATE (LVR/TON)

- T

Non-toxic substances 200

Medium hazard substances 2,000

Hazardous substances 500,000

Very hazardous substances 3,000,000

The separation of polluting substances according to hazard
level is done according to classifications set by the Republic
of Latvia Environmental Protection Committee.

POLLUTION CLASSIFICATION ACCORDING TO HAZARD LEVEL
(Air and Water Pollution)




Non-toxic Dust, suspended materials, sulfate,
alkaline metal chloride.

Medium hazard Carbon dioxide, phosphorus, nitrate,
nitrite, iron compounds, biodegradable
organic compounds, fats, surface active
substances.

Hazardous Sulfur and nitrogen oxides, o0il products,
phenol, alcohol.

Very Hazardous Aromatic hydrocarbons, cyanide and its
derivatives, heavy metals, and
pesticides.

1.5 Environmental Audits

Industrial environmental audits can be valuable in guiding
programs for remedial development and prioritization of activities.
Oone of the most important benefits of plant-wide environmental
audits is to identify processes and operational practices that are
large pollution generation sources. This can assist plants in
making changes that reduce pollution rather than focusing on
control, which can be costly and, often, ineffective. Process
changes can provide other benefits as well, such as reducing
operating costs, and maximizing plant efficiency. It is also
important to instill environmental auditing as an in-house plant
management activity that keeps up with the dynamic workings of all
types of manufacturing operations, due to process and product
changes, technology changes, utility pricing, and market changes.
The highest priority for dairies should be given to the protection
of surface waters. Problems are emerging, both at the industrial
and municipal level, with the operation of wastewater treatment
units because of the shortage of replacement units and spare parts
from the old Soviet Union and the higher costs of this equipment
from westernized countries.

1.6 Conclusions

Technical solutions are available for most of the
environmental problems caused by industry. Key measures for
control should include the expanded use of modern =quipment for
industrial pollution control, waste utilization, and environmental
monitoring. Substantial investments may be necessary to meet
environmental goals, but care must be taken to invest in pollution
controls for industries that will remain economically viable for a
period of time and are not likely to close down soon. Investments
should be cost effective and should provide the only alternative to
achieve the pollution reduction goals.




2.0 TUKUMS DAIRY

The Tukums Piens (Tukums Dairy) enterprise consists of three
plants; one located in the City of Tukums, one in the Village of
Jaunpils, and one in the Village of Kandava. The primary focus of
the report is on the Tukums plant, but an overview of environmental
issues at Jaunpils and Kandava are also discussed.

2.1 Introduction

The Tukums dairy receives approximately 75 t (all references
are to metric tons) of raw milk and about 10 t of cream daily. The
plant is operating at about 50 percent capacity. The Tukums dairy
manufactures fluid milk products, butter, kefir, cottage cheese,
and cream. The largest consumption of raw milk is the production
of 3-5 t of cottage cheese and 5 t of butter daily. The plant is
experimenting with casein production as a way to get rid of its
skim milk.

The dairy in Tukums discharges wastewater both to the City and
the receiving stream. Dairy processing wastewaters are discharged
to the Ccity. Non-contact cooling water is discharged to the river
adjacent to the dairy.

Whey is returned to farmers for use as hog feed. Often, the
dairy can not sell all this whey and has to discharge the excess
whey to the sewer.

2.2 Water Use

The plant uses approximately 450 m® of water a day,
approximately half of which goes to the City treatment plant.
Water use is high at the plant. Significant sources of water
include; bottle washing operations for fluid milk and cream
packaging, cottage cheese washing operations, and general equipment
and floor cleaning.

2.3 Wastewater Treatment

Tukums does not have wastewater treatment for its process
wastewater. The facility does have a sand filter to trap large
particles prior to discharge, this being to prevent clogging of the
collection system. The dairy claims it does not have the money to
build treatment, but the Regional EPC inspector feels that the
fines imposed on the dairy for violations should be enough of an
incentive to initiate construction of a treatment plant.

The dairy is located in an area where there is 1little land
available to build a treatment plant (i.e., landlocked); however,
land is available a short distance away which is available for the




dairy to build its treatment. It appears as though the dairy has
negotiated with the City for the use of this land. The dairy is
working on plans to construct a treatment system, but the Regional
EPC feels that progress is too slow.

The dairy’s planned design for its treatment system include
anaerobic and aerobic treatment in two 350 m’ tanks, followed by a
100 m® biofilter, and stabilization in a biological pond. Under
this treatment scenario, the dairy expects to achieve about 96-97
percent removal of BOD. The dairy does expect a large amount of
energy to be consumed to keep the anaerobic treatment tank at its
operating temperature of about 30 degrees Celsius. According to
the dairy, this treatment system should cost about 5-6 million
Rubles to build.

The City operates a design capacity 3,400 m® a day secondary
treatment plant, employing activated sludge biological treatment
with an average daily flow of 6,000 m® a day. The City began an
expansion to increase plant capacity in 1989, but funding is
inadequate to complete the construction. The City estimates that
it will take about 25 million Rubles to complete the plant, but
only have funding of 5 million Rubles. As such, the existing plant
is operating at almost twice the capacity and is unable to meet its
discharge limitations. The Tukums dairy is one of the two largest
contributors of wastewater and BOD to the treatment plant.

2.4 Groundwater Quality

The dairy stated that it has not problems with the gquantity or
quality of groundwater that is uses at the plant.

2.5 Compliance with Exist:ing Regulations

The dairy hacs had effluent limitations since 1989 for its
discharge to the City. The City fined the dairy 597,000 Rubles in
the first quarter of 1993 for violations of discharge limitations
(primarily BOD). These limitations are in Tukums’ wastewater
discharge permit, which was developed by the City and the Ventspils
Regional EPC, based on the enterprise’s calculations of loadings
contributed to the City. These limitations were updated less than
one month ago. The City does not fine the dairy for all discharge
violations because of the economic hardship that would be imposed.
As such, fines are imposed on an irregular basis, more to try to
stimulate attempts to reduce pollutant concentrations than to
severely penalize the plant.

The dairy’s range of wastewater discharge concentrations and
corresponding discharge limitations for pollutants of concern are
as follows: Total Suspended Solids (TSS), 500-1,500 mg/l average
discharge (limit of 450 mg/l); Biochemical Oxygen Demand (BOD),
800-2,200 mg/l average discharge (limit of 450 mg/l); Chemical




Oxygen Demand (COD), 1,100-3,600 mg/l average discharge (limit of
700 mg/l); and fats, 50-200 mg/l (50 mg/l limit). The plant’s
permit also includes limits for synthetic surfactants, ammonia,
nitrate, nitrite, phosphate, and total nitrogen.

Tukums Regional EPC oversees the City of Tukums wastewater
treatment plant. Wastewater is sampled as a joint venture between
the City, the Jurmala EPC laboratory, and the dairy. These samples
are collected each month and are apparently collected both as grab
samples and composite samples (taking into account flows at various
times of the day).

Additionally, the amount of groundwater extracted from
groundwater wells (550 m’), the amount of cooling water discharged
directly to the river (230 m’), and the amount of process water
discharged to the City (220 m’) is also limited in the dairy’s water
use permit. The plant has flow meters to measure these flows.

2.6 Summary

Tukums lack of treatment has put a lot of pressure on the City
to comply with its wastewater discharge limitations. As Tukums is
one of the 1largest contributors to the City in terms of both
hydraulic and organic loadings, the City appears to fine the dairy
only to cover the cost of their own fines. Based on the effluent
data provided for Tukums’ discharge, it does not appear as though
in-house management practices would have a significant impact on
the City’s ability to meet its discharge permit limitations. Until
Tukums installs treatment, Tukums will continue to be one of the
largest contributors of organics to the City.

3.0 JAUNPILS DAIRY

The Jaunpils Dairy receives approximately 30-40 t of raw milk
daily and is operating at about 50 percent of its capacity. The
plant manufactures about 1 t of cottage cheese, 1.5-2 t of sour
cream, and about 0.35 t of caraway seed cheese daily. The dairy
also has equipment to make butter, but, anymore, this is rarely
used. Approximately 3-4 t of cream is sent to Tukums daily.
Jaunpils is reconstructing its cheese production area, scheduled to
be completed in 1995. This will increase cheese production
capacity to 2 t per shift.

Skim milk, generated in the separation of raw milk, is
returned to the farmers as is a portion of the whey generated from
cheese manufacturing. The remaining whey is discharged to the
sewer. The production manager did not know what percentage of whey
went to each of these two practices as whey disposal is changing
almost daily.

The plant uses about 50-75 m’ of process wastewater daily, all




of which is discharged to the City treatment plant. The plant also
uses about 100 m® of water for cooling that is discharged directly
to the river. The plant is permitted to discharge 80 m® a day of
process wastewater and 102 m’ a day of non-contact cooling water.
The majority of the process water is from once-through equipment
cleaning and washing of whey. Steam and caustic soda are used to
sanitize the equipment.

Jaunpils does not have wastewater treatment, other than three
large (approximately 8-10 m® each) underground tanks used for solids
settling prior to discharge to the City.

The dairy discharges its process wastewater to the City
treatment plant, which consists of equalization, mechanical
screening, aeration, sedimentation, and stabilization. The plant
has a design capacity of 700 m’ of wastewater a day and is operating
around capacity. At the time of the visit, the aeration system was
unable to provide adequate oxygen, causing the activated sludge to
turn black in one of the two aeration basins. While the plant is
manned 24 hours a day, at the time of our visit, the operator was
not present.

The majority of the storm water from the dairy discharges to
the City treatment plant. There are areas around the facility that
seem to be sloped to allow storm water to flow off plant property,
although it did not appear likely that this storm water would be of
concern (i.e., no process wastes).

The dairy uses both groundwater and surface water at its
plant. The EPC set limits on the consumption of both types of

water use. The plant is permitted to use 110 m* of groundwater
(drinking water quality) and 82 m’ of surface water a day.

It did not appear as though the Jaunpils dairy had effluent
limitations for its discharge to the City’s treatment plant, and if
it did, these limitations were not being enforced.

4.0 KANDAVA DAIRY

The Kandava Dairy receives approximately 30-40 t of raw milk
a day at this plant. The plant manufactures whole milk products,
cream, cottage cheese, and cheese and is operating at about 50
percent of its capacity. Approximately 3-4 t of cream is sent to
Tukums daily. The plant generates approximately 8-10 t of skim
milk a day.

The facility is permitted to use 238 m’ a day for process and
drinking water and 9 m’® a day for cooling water.

Kandava does not have wastewater treatment. All wastewater is
discharged to the Village treatment plant. The Village’s existing
treatment plant is a 650 m® a day primary treatment plant with




mechanical screening and sedimentation. The system is in total
disrepair, appearing as though operation and maintenance is no
longer performed. At the time of our visit, the water flowing
through the City treatment plant was very milky in color,
indicating that large amounts of milk waste from Kandava was being
lost down the drain.

The Village built a new secondary treatment plant that has a
capacity of 700 m’ a day, with an existing flow of 300 m’. The
dairy is unable to discharge to the new plant because it is on the
other side of town and construction of the necessary pipeline and
pumping station would cost 40 million Rubles or more (of which this
money is not available in the village).

The plant does not have to pay a surcharge or a fine for
wastewater discharges, only a water use fee is charged. All storm
water from the site flows directly into the river, although little
processing activity takes place outdoors, thus little cause for
concern. Wastewater from the milk receiving area flows to the City
treatment plant rather than to the river.

5.0 SUMMARY OF TUKUMS PIENS

Only the dairy at Kandava appears to be using a lot more water
than is necessary. The Tukums plant currently uses about 2-3
liters of water per pound of milk processed, Jaunpils uses about 2
liters of water per pound of milk processed, while Kandava uses
about 6-7 liters of water per pound of milk processed (about 2-3
liters of water per pound of milk is reasonable and about 1 liter
of water per pound of milk would be considered very good). The
amount of water used does depend on the type of products being
manufactured and is only presented as a guide. However, in almost
all cases, dairies that use more than 3 liters of water per pound
of milk processed can reduce water usage through in-house
management practices or inexpensive capital investments. Even
Tukums and Jaunpils, who are not using overly excessive amounts of
water, may find simple solutions to reduce water usage.

Additionally, all three dairies should look for ways to reduce
the amount of milk and milk by-products that are being discharged
into the treatment system or to the City. The best approach to
this proklem is to plan and conduct an environmental audit of the
processing facility, paying special attention to water usage and
milk losses. Areas that are typically of concern include;

Housekeeping practices (e.g., spill cleanup practices and
response to leaks)

Water control (e.g., only running water from the hose
when cleaning, adding spray nozzles to the hoses to
provide on-demand supply of high pressure low volume
water, or paying close attertion to tank filling to




prevent overflows)

- Building dikes or berms around storage tanks and other
vessels where leaks to the sewer are unwanted

- Controlling breakage in milk packaging equipment (e.g.,
paying close attention to the filling of the packaging
and stopping the system if a high percentage of breakages
are occurring)

- Whey handlirg practices (e.g., preventing the initial
whey drainage and first rinse from entering the sewer
system and only discharging second and third rinses)

- Spilled material handling (e.g., cleaning up spilled
solids with a broom for use as animal feed, rather than
hosing this material)

- Worker understanding of the problem (preventing willful
wasting of material as a time or effort saving step).

Similarly, processing practices and small capital investments
may also effectively reduce the volume of water and pollutants
being discharged. These include activities such as:

- Draining milk cans or milk trucks for a longer period of
time to reduce the residual milk that must be washed out

- Covering all drains with wire mesh to collect milk and
milk by-product solids that may end up on the floor

- Clearly marking on and off positions on water valves to
minimize worker negligence

- Use post cleaning rinses as make-up water for sanitizing
or cleaning of other equipment

- Provide drip shields on filling equipment for product
recovery.

While the above practices may not all be appropriate, or may
already be instituted, it is likely that the incorporation of these
types of ideas into the worker mentality can improve the quality of
and reduce the quantity of wastewater discharged. It is also
important that the environmental audit be supported by the plant
management.

As discussed during the visit, the disposal of whey and skim
milk will continue to be problems for all dairies in Latvia. If
the plant has to discharge whey, initial drainage and the first
wash of the whey should be stored for disposal or sales to farmers,
rather than discharging to the treatment plant or City. The second
and third washes should be the waste that is discharged. If whey
has to be discharged, the plant should have storage so that the




whey can be bled into the system a little bit at a time.

In conclusion, Tukums will have to install treatment if the
Nation begins to implement sound environmental legislation and take
enforcement action against violators. Tukums does appear to be
headed in the right direction with its design of a treatment
system. Plans and estimated costs for that system appear
reasonable. It is doubtful that with this system the dairy will be
able to discharge directly to the river as the concentrations of
BOD and TSS will still be well over the National standards of 12
mg/l and 15 mg/l, respectively. This treatment will, however, have
a significant impact on the City’s treatment plant as it is
estimated that pretreatment by the dairy will reduce the organic
loading from over 1,130 of BOD to about 50 pounds of BOD.

In Jaunpils, the Village’s treatment system appears to be more
of a problem than the dairy. The Jaunpils dairy is a small plant
located in a remote Village in Latvia. Under those conditions, the
dairy appeared to be making a conscientious effort to reduce the
discharge of milk waste to the Village. During our visit to
Jaunpils, wastewater in the settling tanks was only slightly
discolored, indicating t.at little milk and milk waste was being
lost. Considering that the dairy is making cheese and cottage
cheese, the plant seems to be performing well. Of course, a
permanent sclution to its whey disposal would be helpful.

Kandava appears to discharge excessive water to the Village,
as well as excessive milk waste. Looking at the Village’s
treatment plant, there is cause for concern that depletion of
oxygen in the receiving stream is likely to be occurring. The
immediate solution is for the Village to complete construction of
the collection system so that the dairy is connected to the
seconlury treatment system, rather than to the run-down primary
system. Apparently, there is capacity in the Village’s new
treatment plant to accept all the wastewater currently being
discharged to the primary plant. Even if this construction is
completed, Kandava should focus its efforts on reducing water usage
and milk losses in production.




Privatization of the
Tukums Milk Processing Plant
A legal analysis

L. Summary of the facts

The Tukums Milk Processing Plant ("Tukums") has systematically followed the course charted
by the Latvian Ministry of Agriculture ("MOA") to private ownership. The first step was a
change to Kombinate status on June 16, 1991. This allowed for additional local control over
what still remained a state enterprise. Following the April 15, 1992 Supreme Council
Resolution allowed milk producer associations to claim milk processing plants located within
their territory, Tukums formed and registered the Tukums Milk Producers’ Association
("Association") on June 3, 1992. The plant was then transferred to the Association by MOA
decree on November 5, 1992 but not before the Association agreed to amend its Charter to allow
for Subsequently-formed pagast cooperatives to claim objects within its territory.

At the time of a visit to the plant on February 18, 1993 we were informed by Directors and
Officers of the Association that they were having a difficult time organizing cooperatives at the
pagast level. There are 21 pagasti and two smaller plants (Kandava and Jaunpils) in Tukums’
operational area. According to the people we spoke with, the producers in the various pagasti
do not see the need to form such organizations since all of their current needs are taken care

of by Tukums (ie milk transportation). Therefore, the Directors at Tukums were considering
proceeding with the final privatization of the plant through the Association, without pagast-level
cooperatives.

Subsequent to that visit, the legal analysis as outlined below was presented to the officers of the
Association. The Association also made greater efforts to make local farmer aware of the
provisions of the Privatization Law. As the consequences of the law became better understood,
less resistance was found to establishing pagast-level cooperative associations. Considerable
progress has be made more recently in establishing such associations.

11 Legal Analysis

The law on Privatization of Milk Processing Enterprises came into effect on February 1, 1993.
This law lays out the final steps of the dairy privatization program both for those objects that
still must be privatized and those, like Tukums, which have already been transferred to and
association and only require that their assets be personified. As applied to Tukums, this law
proceeds as follows:

1) Definitions:

Tukums squarely falls under the category of "personified objects". These are state milk
collecting and processing enterprises which were transferred to milk producer




cooperatives associations in accordance with the Supreme Council resolution of April 15,
1992.

Section I "General Regulations";

Article 1 "The Law’s Function and Objectives";
Paragraph 3:

This paragraph states that personified objects are subject to the provisions of Article V
of this law.

Section V  “Personification of capital in milk producer cooperatives associations and
stability guarantees for the privatization process”,

Article 23 "Distribution of assets regained by milk producer cooperative associations
without compensation":

If the object returned as a result of the April 15 legislation incorporates several pagasti
in its operational area, then distribution of capital among the various cooperative
associations follows the guidelines of Article 18 of this law.

Section IV "Valuation and purchase of the unit to be privatized";
Article 18 "Distribution of basic capital among milk producers and milk and milk
product suppliers"”:

Capital shares in the object are to be divided among milk producer cooperative
associations proportional to the amount of milk supplied by pagast milk producers within
the operational area of each association during both 1991 and 1992.

Section V
Article 24 "Personification of capital in milk producer cooperative association without
compensation":

The above-described personification is to be accomplished in two stages - half of the
enterprise value is personified oa January 1, 1994 and the other half on January 1, 1995.
This is done by adding half of the value of the enterprise assets to the basic capital of the
company by correspondingly increasing the number of shares or their nominal value.

This article concludes by stating that property of the state transferred to the association
without compensation cannot be expropriated until all assets are personified.

Substantially this is the entire law as it applies to Tukums. As far as application of the law is
concerned, Tukums is following a course dictated by local circumstances and preferences. Since
it has not been listed by the MOA as one of the central milk processing plants subject to full-
scale privatization, the Association has a great deal of freedom in creating their own
privatization plan.




Tukums’ practical approach of initially organizing a cooperative association around the
processing plant and then allowing pagast cooperatives to claim assets later, as they are formed,
is a deviation from the language of the privatization law. The law would require Tukums to
form cooperatives in each pagast immediately in order to personify assets that have been given
to the Association without conrpensation.

In order to follow the letter of the law, Tukums should exert every effort to organize pagast-
level cooperative associations. This would not be especially complicated since the Association
already has a list of members from the various pagasti. Only five founding members need to
be identified and a cooperative can be formed. Despite the burdens pointed out by the Directors
of the Association (no perceived need for local cooperatives, lack of money to pay founding
capital) this would put them in compliance with the privatization law. At least, sincere activity
in attempting to form pagast coeperatives could convince the MOA that Tukums has exerted its
best efforts to comply with law.

Even if all the pagasti do not form cooperative associations, the MOA will still personify the
assets in the Association in accordance with the timetable set out in the privatization law. The
MOA has already acquiesced te the Tukums personification plan. In approving the transfer of
the Tukums Kombinate to the Association, the MOA recommended that the Association add a
provision to their charter allowing for personification of assets to any regional cooperatives that
may be formed later. (Notice from the Milk Receiving & Processing Enterprise Privatization
Working Group; Meeting of October 21, 1992). The MOA seems to have recognized the need
for this adjustment based on local circumstances at Tukums.

In his written comments, the author of the privatization law, Mr A Migalvs, has allowed for
solution based on very similar local considerations. (See Section 6.3, Privatization of Dairy
Processing Plants). There he foresees the possibility of uniting several pagasts under one
cooperative association should eircumstances warrant, Such language does not appear in the
law.

Ultimately, the MOA will decide whether to approve the Tukums approach. Since the law does
not specifically disallow deviations based on local circumstances, the MOA has the discretionary
authority to allow Tukums to proceed. MOA officials have privately expressed confidence that
Tukums will proceed smoothly through the privatization process.
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THE GRAIN SECTOR

OVERVIEW OF ACTIVITIES

Work on the grain sector began in December 1992 when the government decided to disestablish
Latvijus Labiba. Latvijus Labiba was the organization that controlled all aspects of the grain
industry from the purchase of grain from farmers, its storage and milling, through to the sale
of flour, bread and animal feed both locally and on export markets. As well as owning and
managing the commercial enterprises within the grain sector, Latvijus Labiba was also
responsible for the regulation of the industry including fixing prices for all grain and grain
products. Given the importance of creating an appropriate commercial and regulatory
environment in which to carry out the privatization of the industry, at the government’s request
the project team prepared draft legislation for the government’s consideration. A copy of the
draft legislation is included in section 3.3.1. The principal provision of the legislation provided
for the separation of the ownership and control of commercial operations from the regulation of
the industry. The principle of separating the ownership and regulatory functions was accepted
by the government and embodied in subsequent legislation.

In January 1993, a grain sector expert, Si Matthies, joined the project team to assist in the
preparation of a preliminary report on the grain sector. Following an initial survey of the
industry, a discussion paper was prepared addressing the steps needed to transform and
ultimately privatize the grain sector. This paper was discussed with the government while the
grain expert was still in Latvia. The government’s views and response were taken into account
in completing the preliminary report on the sector. This report (section 3.2.1) described the
salient features of the grain sector and proposed a strategy for its privatization.

As a consequence of the decision to disestablish Latvijus Labiba, a range of new legislation was
required. This included legislation covering the establishment of a competitive grain market, the
regulation of the industry, the establishment of a new regulatory body, and policies regarding
the government’s grain purchasing program. This body of legislation was intended to provide
a framework for privatized entities in the grain sector to operate.

The project team provided input and comments on drafts of the various pieces of legislation as
they were prepared. This was done at both a formal and informal level. Copies of written
comments on the grain market law, the charter of the regulatory body - Latvijus Birojs, and the
government’s proposed grain production program are included in section 3.3.

The grain expert returned to Latvia in April 1993 to continue work on preparing a final report
on the grain sector (section 3.2.2). The final report included additional information on the
characteristics and prospects of the industry as well as a more detailed strategy for the
restructuring and privatization of the sector. The report recommended that, despite the
considerable over capacity in most segments of the industry, privatization should proceed
immediately. It also recommended that the government should not attempt any major
restructuring of any of the commercial enterprises within the sector before privatizing them.




Given the abrupt disestablishment of Latvijus Labiba and the lack of new institutions to take over
some of its functions, particularly grain purchasing, there were concerns that the 1993 harvest
would prove disastrous for the farmers. A discussion paper on a farm program to assist the
transition to a competitive market was prepared and discussed with the government while the
grain expert was in Latvia. A copy of the report is included in section 3.2.5.

By the end of April it was apparent that, although legislation covering the grain market might
be passed before parliament was dissolved in May, it was unlikely that any major progress
would be made on privatizing grain elevators, feed mills or flour mills before the elections in
June. However, the government did undertake to pass specific legislation prior to the election
covering the privatization of the bakeries that had been part of Latvijus Labiba. These bakeries
were already operating in a relatively unregulated market and were having to face competition
from both newly established small private sector bakeries, and from larger established bakeries
owned by collective farms. As early privatization was likely to occur with the state bakeries,
and as they were operating in an appropriate competitive environment, it was decided that the
remaining work in the grain sector under delivery order nine should focus on bakeries.

In discussions with the officials responsible for drafting agricultural privatization laws, it was
established that the bakeries law would follow the same format as the draft law on the
privatization of meat processing plants. The draft meat processing law allowed for a majority
of the shares to be sold to third parties, with minority stakes for management, employees, and
relevant agricultural interests. The sale to third parties would be by way of a competitive
tender. Preliminary discussions with the bakeries indicated that there was likely to be interest
from foreigners in the sale.

As foreigners were likely to be involved, it was decided that assistance could best be provided
through the preparation of information on the bakeries that would be in a form that would be
useful to both local and foreign investors. Further, as only ten bakeries were involved, it was
decided that the work could cover all ten. However, in practice only eight bakeries were
covered. One bakery, Daugavpils, was in the process of having its management replaced and
the Ministry of Agriculture recommended that the team not approach that enterprise. Two other
bakeries, Vidzeme and Strategic, already had arrangements with the Ministry of Agriculture
whereby the plants were leased to the management. A visit was made to Vidzeme but, because
of the management’s direct financial interest in the operation, they declined to supply financial
information on the enterprise. Limited information was obtained directly from the Ministry,
however, some crucial financial information could not be collected. Similar problems were
predicted for Strategic so, given its limited production, no visits were made to it.

The information collected covered the financial, operational and legal aspects of each of the
bakeries. An early assessment that bakeries were unlikely to be responsible for any major
environmental problems was confirmed when the environmental engineer covering the dairies
visited two of the bakeries. The work was undertaken by the resident project team assisted by
a bakery expert and two accountants.

With regard to the financial aspects of the bakeries, a major effort went into transforming their
accounts from the Soviet format into 2 Western format. Building on the work undertaken with




the dairies the previous year, a program was developed for transforming the accounts. This was
done with the assistance of accountants from the Ministry of Agriculture and from the bakeries
and dairies. Although all state enterprises used a standard format for their accounts, it became
apparent that the way individual lines were treated varied from enterprises to enterprise. This
necessitated careful discussion with the accountants from each enterprise to ensure consistency
of the reformatted accounts. A general note on the accounts was prepared as well as specific
notes on each bakery.

The operational information collected on each bakery consisted of production levels, a
description of the major items of plant for each production site, and a brief description of the
production process. The legal work consisted of determining the current legal status of each
bakery and if the were any major impediments to its privatization.

In addition to the specific information on each bakery, background information and statistics on
the Latvian economy and the bakery industry were prepared. This information was aimed
principally at the foreign investor. For each bakery a complete information pack for a potential
investor consists of:

- the general background note on the economy and the bakery industry;

- a set of financial statements for the bakery, both in its original form and restated in a
Western format;

- a general note on the accounts and a set of enterprise specific notes;

- a set of technical notes on the bakery including legal comments.

A complete set of documents for Druva bakery is assembled in section 3.4.2 For the other
bakeries only the financial statements, the enterprise specific notes to those statements, and the
technical notes have been included.

The bakery privatization law was finally passed at the end of May during the last few sitting
days of parliament. Although the law was passed, the privatization commission for bakeries had
not been established before work on the deliver order finished at the end of June. For that
reason, no further progress could be made on the privatization of the bakeries. A privatization
plan was therefore prepared for the government and is included in section 3.4.1. The
government indicated that they wished to have a member of the privatization team represented
on the privatization commission when it was established.
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SECTION 1
EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

A. Study Purpose and Objectives

The objectives of Phase 1 of the privatization project are to define the salient
characteristics of the grain industry and to prepare a specific strategy and work plan
for the Ministry of Agriculture to facilitate private ownership in the sector.

. B. Initial Obscrvations

In addressing the project objectives, it became clear that Phase 1 required
redefinition in light of the decision by the Council of Ministers to dissolve the state
enterprise management concern Latvijas Labiba by January 1, 1993. As a result of
the initial cursory review, it was determined that an expanded workplan would be
necessary in order to guide the privatization of the grain sector. Section 11 of this
report discusses the findings of this review. Section 1II provides an initial
restructuring and privatization strategy which is currently being discussed with the
governinent of Latvia. The actual privatization strategy and work plan will be
developed during the next review.

C. Initial Findings

The industry is made up of twenty four enterprises consisting of varied
configurations of flour mills, feed mills, grain elevators, seed plants and bakeries. In
addition, there are four other enterprise support units including research, construction,
security, elc. Prior to January 1, 1993, these enterprises were under the tight
supervision and control ¢f Latvijas Labiba, a concem formed in 1990 to replace the
Ministry of Bread Products which previously reported to Moscow. Contact was made
with a representalive number of the enterprises during the sector teview. A consistent
pattern emerged that applies to most of the enterprises:

L. the enterprises are deeply in debt (inventory and receivables);

2. there is no new credit available to the enterprises;

3. the industry has large amount of excess capacity (projected capacity
utilization for 1993 is 15% for mixed feed milis and 66% for flour
mills);

4, the managers of the enterprises are well-trained technically, but have a

limited knowledge of market driven economics.




D. Initial Conclusions and Recommendations

1. Split the previous activities of Latvijas Labiba into two distinct and
separate functional areas by establishing the following:

a) an agency which provides governimental services and
regulation;

b) a joint stock holding company for the express purpose
of overseeing the commercial enterprises and managing
the privatization process (limited life corporation).

Mandate the establishient of a market pricing system consistent with
market driven economic systems.

Prior to the harvest of 1993 develop and implement producer progratns
consistent with a market driven economy. This would have the express
purpose of funding industry capital requirements and producer income.

The following sections of this report address the points of this suminary in additional
detail.




SECTION 1l
INDUSTRY ANALYSES

A. Structure of the Industry

The individual operating units consist of six wheat, rye and oat processing
plants. There are a total of eleven feed mixing plants, four of which are associated
with a flour milling plant. Grain elevator facilities are adjacent to all processing
plants. In addition, there are two stand-alone grain elevator facilities. There are nine
bakeries: - Appendix A provides a list of enterprises and their production capacities.

The functions of the Latvijas Labiba structure also included grain inspection,
- grain quality supervision, economic analyses, management control over the individual
enterprises, and price setting at all levels of the industry.

3. Management/Labor Force

[t appears that most units have highly-trained management in place with the
technical skills necessary to operate their assigned processing plants. The majority of
the managers have been trained at technical institutes located in the former Soviet
Union, or at the Latvian National Academy of Agricuiture., The managers interviewed
were experienced. However, they lacked a sound understanding of the functioning of
a market oriented business. There appeared to be an excess number of employees
relative to production requirements. Additionally, service units operating in support
of production appeared to be overstaffed.

Based on a recent order of the Council of Ministers, Latvijas Labiba is in the
process of being reorganized. A new organization, Labibas Birojs, was established on
February 1, 1993. 1t is anticipated that Labibas Birojs will manage the service,
regulatory and policy management functions previously handled by Latvijas Labiba.
There is discussion regarding the establishment of Latvijas Dzirnavas, an organization
which may be expected to oversee the restructuring of commercial activities.
However, the division of responsibilities among these two organizations is still
unclear.

Caution is necessary in transforming the various activities and units of the
former Latvijas Labiba into newly formed structures since they will have to operate in
a privatized, market driven envircnment,

C. Technological Characteristics

The majority of the plants were constructed within the last 25 years. Milling
equipment inspected was largely manufactured in the U.S.S.R. under license to
Buhler-Miag, a respected western milling equipment company. At some future date
there may be a desire or need to have a milling technology specialist inspect the
equipment in conjunction with the privatization of the individual enterprises.




D. Owneirship Arrangements

All enterprises are owned by the Latvian government and, until very recently,
have been under the direct control of Latvijas Labiba. This was an association
responsible for managing the industry. The organization was headed by a Board of
Directors and Managing Director who were appointed primarily by state owned grain
enterprise managers. The Board of Directors was made up of the managers of each
individual state enterprise. Prior to the formation of Latvijas Labiba in 1990, these
enterprises were under the control of the USSR Ministry of Bread Products. At that
time it was headed by an individual with the rank of First Deputy Minister who
reported directly to the Minister located in Moscow.

o O Spatial Distribution of Enterprises

The six flour milling locations are widely dispersed across the country and are
in close proximity to population centets. However, some individual plant capacities
appear to be disproportionally large compared to area populations. This distortion is
due to previous processing requirements involving the export of flour to the former
Soviet republics and the production of bread in excess o